

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU

CIP2A IS A CRITICAL DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE PROTEIN THAT DRIVES BASAL-LIKE BREAST CANCER

Srikar Nagelli

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA – ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS SARJA – SER. D OSA – TOM. 1699 | MEDICA – ODONTOLOGICA | TURKU 2023





CIP2A IS A CRITICAL DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE PROTEIN THAT DRIVES BASAL-LIKE BREAST CANCER

Srikar Nagelli

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA – ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS SARJA – SER. D OSA – TOM. 1699 | MEDICA – ODONTOLOGICA | TURKU 2023

University of Turku

Faculty of Medicine Institute of Biomedicine Pathology Drug Research Doctoral Programme (DRDP) Turku Bioscience Centre

Supervised by

Professor Jukka Westermarck, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Biomedicine, University of Turku Research Director, Turku Bioscience Centre, University of Turku & Åbo Akademi University, Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Peeter Karihtala, M.D., Ph.D. Research Director, HUS Comprehensive Cancer Centre & Department of Oncology, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland Associate Professor Liisa Kauppi, Ph.D. Department of Biochemistry & Developmental Biology, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Dipanjan Chowdhury, Ph.D. Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Department of Radiation Oncology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA

The originality of this publication has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

Cover Image: Srikar Nagelli using MidJourney AI tool.

ISBN 978-951-29-9211-9 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-9212-6 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (Print) ISSN 2343-3213 (Online) Painosalama, Turku, Finland 2023

To my family

UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Faculty of Medicine Institute of Biomedicine Pathology SRIKAR NAGELLI: CIP2A is a critical DNA damage response protein that drives basal-like breast cancer Doctoral Dissertation, 195 pp. Drug Research Doctoral Programme March 2023

ABSTRACT

Basal-like breast cancer (BLBC) is an aggressive and therapeutically most challenging breast cancer subtype, due to a lack of druggable breast specific surface receptors (ER, PR, HER2) or driver mechanisms. BLBC patients are treated mainly with standard chemotherapies but due to poor patient stratification strategies, a vast majority of patients receive aggressive chemotherapy even though some of them could be spared from its unnecessary side effects. Protein Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) is an important serine-threonine tumor suppressor phosphatase and its inactivation is an important requirement for malignant transformation in humans. In this dissertation, we demonstrate the role of PP2A inhibitor protein CIP2A (Cancerous Inhibitor of PP2A) in BLBC.

We identified a novel PP2A-independent role for CIP2A as a non-genetic driver protein and a biomarker of poor prognosis in BLBC. We discovered that CIP2A interacts with DNA damage response protein TopBP1, prevents its recruitment at the site of DNA damage and allows the progression of damaged cells into mitosis. We further established that CIP2A drives BLBC by coordinating the BLBC hallmarks. CIP2A controls the high proliferation activity of MYC and E2F1 by preventing their dephosphorylation by PP2A but also promotes high genomic instability by deregulating the G2/M checkpoint (PP2A-independent role). We also identified that CIP2A is a synthetic lethal target in BRCA mutant BLBCs and established that CIP2A is selectively more important in predicting prognosis of basal-like TNBC patients compared to non basal-like TNBC subtype.

To develop these findings towards clinical utility, we further developed a robust CIP2A transcriptional signature and highlighted several applications of this tool for BLBC patients. The CIP2A signature can predict the aggressivity of breast cancer and it was used to identify drugs and drug combinations that show clinical benefit for the different stratified BLBC subgroups.

Collectively, this dissertation reports the yet uncharacterized role of CIP2A in DNA Damage response (DDR), BLBC tumorigenesis, and its potential use as a personalized medicine strategy for effective clinical management of BLBC.

KEYWORDS: Basal-like breast cancer (BLBC), CIP2A, PP2A, DNA damage response (DDR), transcriptional signature, personalized medicine

TURUN YLIOPISTO Lääketieteellinen tiedekunta Biolääketieteen laitos Patologia SRIKAR NAGELLI: CIP2A on kriittinen DNA-vauriovaste proteiini, joka toimii basaalisen rintasyövän ajurina. Väitöskirja, 195 s. Lääketutkimuksen tohtoriohjelma Maaliskuu 2023

TIIVISTELMÄ

Basaalinen rintasyöpä (BLBC) on hoidollisesti kaikkein haastavin rintasyövän alatyyppi sillä yleensä sitä ei voida hoitaa täsmälääkkeillä. Tämä johtuu solun pintareseptorien tai targetoitavien ajurimekanismien puutteesta. BLBC-potilaita hoidetaan pääasiassa tavanomaisella kemoterapialla mutta koska keinoja potilaskohtaiseen hoidonvalintaan ei ole olemassa, hyvin suuri osa potilaista saa aggressiivista kemoterapiaa, vaikka osa heistä voitaisiin säästää sen sivuvaikutuksilta. Proteiinifosfataasi 2A (PP2A) on tärkeä seriini-treoniini kasvunestäjäfosfataasi ja sen inaktivaatio on edellytys syövän synnylle ihmisellä. Tässä väitöskirjassa olen tutkinut PP2A:ta inhiboivan CIP2A-proteiinin (Cancerous Inhibitor of PP2A) roolia BLBC-syövissä.

Väitöskirjatutkimuksessa osoitin CIP2A:n toimivan sekä ei-geneettisenä ajuriproteiinina että biomarkkerina huonoennusteisessa BLBC:ssä. Erityisen tärkeä oli havainto, että CIP2A on selektiivisesti tärkeämpi määrittämään basaalisen kaltaisten kolmoisnegatiivisten (TNBC) potilaiden ennustetta. Mekanistisesti löysimme CIP2A:n vuorovaikutuksen DNA-vauriovasteproteiini TopBP1:n kanssa. Tämä mekanismi estää TopBP1:sen ohjautumisen DNA:n vauriokohtaan edistäen vaurioituneiden solujen siirtymistä mitoosivaiheeseen. Havaitsimme myös, että CIP2A kykenee koordinoimaan useita BLBC:lle tunnusomaisia mekanismeja. CIP2A kontrolloi onkogeenisten MYC- ja E2F1-transkriptiotekijöiden aktiivisuutta estämällä niiden PP2A-välitteisen defosforylaation, mutta myös edistää genomista instabiliteettia estämällä solusyklin G2/M tarkastuskohtaa (PP2A:sta riippumaton rooli). Havaitsimme myöskin, että CIP2A on synteettisesti letaali terapiakohde BRCA-mutanteissa BLBC:eissä. Työssä kehitin myös CIP2A:n säätelemään geeniekspressioprofiiliin perustuvan signature-työkalun ja osoitin että se ennustaa rintasyövän aggressiivisuutta, ja että sitä voi käyttää niiden lääkkeiden ja lääkeaineyhdistelmien tunnistamiseen, jotka erityisesti toimivat BLBC-alatyypin soluja kohtaan.

Yhteenvetona tässä väitöskirjassa kuvataan aiemmin julkaisematon CIP2A:n rooli DNA-vaurion korjausmekanismissa (DDR), BLBC:n tuumorigeneesissä, ja potentiaalinen käyttö yksilöllistetyn lääketieteen strategiassa, joka tähtää BLBC potilaiden entistä tehokkaampaan kliiniseen hoitoon.

AVAINSANAT: Basaalinen rintasyöpä, CIP2A, PP2A, DNA-vaurion korjausmekanismi, geeniekspressio, yksilöllistetty lääketiede

Table of Contents

Abbi	reviat	tions .		9
List	of Or	iginal	Publications	12
1	Intro	ductio	on	13
2	Revi 2.1	ew of Cance 2.1.1 Protei	the Literature F Hallmarks of cancer 2.1.1.1 Genomic instability as a key hallmark of cancer.	15 15 16 19 22
	2.3 2.4	2.2.1 CIP2A Breast 2.4.1 2.4.2 2.4.3	Role of PP2A in cancer t cancer Intrinsic and molecular subtyping of breast cancer Treatment of breast cancer Basal-like breast cancer (BLBC) 2.4.3.1 Hallmarks of BLBC	24 26 31 32 34 36 36
	2.5	DNA [2.5.1 2.5.2	 2.4.3.2 Clinical challenges of BLBC Jamage Response (DDR) signaling in cancer Sources of DNA damage Mechanisms of DNA repair 2.5.2.1 Double strand break repair 2.5.2.2 Other DNA repair pathways and their role in DDR 	37 38 38 39 40 44
		2.5.3 2.5.4 2.5.5	TopBP1 and ATR signaling in DDR.2.5.3.1 ATR and Chk1 signaling mediated by TopBP12.5.3.2 Role of TopBP1 in DSB repairTargeting the DDR in cancerRole of PP2A and CIP2A in HR and DDR	47 48 49 50 51
3	Aims	S		53
4	Mate 4.1	erials a Cell cu 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	and Methods ulture and transfections (I, II) Cell lines used (I, II) siRNAs and Plasmid DNAs used (I, II) Isolation of cells from mouse (I)	54 54 56 57

	4.1.4	Cloning and generation of stable cell lines (I)	. 57
	4.1.0	Calary growth accord (LU)	. 30
4.0	4.1.0		. 58
4.2	DINA,		. 58
	4.2.1	Antibodies (I,II)	. 58
	4.2.2	Co-Immunoprecipitation experiments (I)	. 61
	4.2.3	Western blotting (I, II)	. 62
	4.2.4	RNA isolation, Primer sequences and qPCR (I,II)	. 62
	4.2.5	RNA Sequencing	. 63
4.3	Imagir	ng and Flow cytometry (I)	. 64
	4.3.1	Ionizing radiation induced foci (IRIF) experiments (I)	. 64
	4.3.2	Mitotic index experiments (I)	. 64
	4.3.3	Microscopy (I)	. 64
	4.3.4	Flow cytometry	. 65
4.4	Drug s	screening experiments	. 65
	4.4.1	Drugs used in the study (I, II)	. 65
	4.4.2	High throughput drug screening (I)	. 66
	4.4.3	Cell Viability experiments (I, II)	. 66
	4.4.4	Analysis of drug screening experiments (I, II)	. 66
4.5	Mouse	e experiments (I, II)	. 66
	4.5.1	DMBA induced carcinogenesis (I)	. 66
	4.5.2	Xenografts (I. II)	. 67
4.6	Bioinfo	ormatics analvsis (I. II)	. 67
-	4.6.1	Generation of CIP2A transcriptional signature (II)	. 67
			60
	4.6.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I. II)	. 00
	4.6.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC	. 00
	4.6.2 4.6.3	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II)	. 68
	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II)	. 68 . 69
	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II)	. 68 . 69
Resu	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II)	. 68 . 69 . 70
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 J Its CIP2A	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I).	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70
Resւ 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I).	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) A drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71
Resı 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71
ResI 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71 . 71
Resu 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71 . 71 . 71
Resu 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71 . 71 . 71
Res ı 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II)	.68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .72 .72
Res ı 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II)	. 68 . 69 . 70 . 70 . 70 . 71 . 71 . 72 . 72
Resu 5.1	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ration of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II)	.68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72
Resi 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II)	.68 .68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73
Res 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 Ilts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A proore	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M	.68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .73
Res 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JITS CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M ession of DNA damaged cells (I, II)	.68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .73
Resi 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree 5.3.1 5.2.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) A novel role for CIP2A in DDR (I, II) CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and	.68 .68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .73 .74
Resu 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree 5.3.1 5.3.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M ession of DNA damaged cells (I, II) A novel role for CIP2A in DDR (I, II) CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and BAD51 at the site of DNA damage (I)	.68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .74 .74 .74
Resu 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree 5.3.1 5.3.2	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M ession of DNA damaged cells (I, II) CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and RAD51 at the site of DNA damage (I) CIP2A allows the mitotic progression of DNA	.68 .68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .73 .74 .74 .75
Resi 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M ession of DNA damaged cells (I, II) CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and RAD51 at the site of DNA damage (I) CIP2A allows the mitotic progression of DNA- damaged cells (I)	.68 .68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .73 .74 .74 .75 .76
Resi 5.1 5.2	4.6.2 4.6.3 4.6.4 JIts CIP2A 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 Gener signat 5.2.1 5.2.2 CIP2A progree 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3	Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II) Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) Data mining from public datasets (I, II) CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I) DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I) CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I) ation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional ure (II) New approach to developing transcriptional signature (II) CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II) interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M ession of DNA damaged cells (I, II) CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and RAD51 at the site of DNA damage (I) CIP2A allows the mitotic progression of DNA- damaged cells (I)	.68 .68 .69 .70 .70 .71 .71 .71 .71 .72 .72 .73 .74 .74 .75 .76

Orig	inal F	ublica	ations	121
Refe	rence	es		96
Ackr	nowle	dgem	ents	93
7	Cond	clusio	ns	92
	6.4 6.5	Clinica CIP2A treatm	Il relevance of CIP2A in BL-TNBCs transcriptional signature helps in personalized ent of BLBC	89 89
6	Disc 6.1 6.2 6.3	USSIOI CIP2A CIP2A Thera BLBC	n drives BLBC by coordinating the key hallmarks is a critical DDR protein in BLBC peutic targeting of CIP2A-regulated DDR signaling	82 82 85 ∣in86
-				
		5.5.2 5.5.3	SMAPs downregulate CIP2A transcription and ha the potential to be used in BLBC (I,II) Thiostrepton can be repurposed as a CIP2A transcriptional inhibitor drug for BLBC (II)	ive 79 80
	5.5	Target 5.5.1	ing CIP2A-dependent DDR in BLBC (I, II) CIP2A downregulation sensitizes BLBC cells to different DDR drugs (I, II)	78 78
		5.4.1 5.4.2	CIP2A is a prognostic biomarker for BL-TNBCs (I CIP2A is a novel synthetic lethal target in BRCA mutant BLBCs (I)) 76 77

Abbreviations

2G-TKIs	2nd generation Tyrosine kinase inhibitors
5FU	5-fluorouracil
9-1-1	RAD9-RAD1-HUS1 complex
AAD	ATR activating domain
alt-EJ	Alternative-End Joining
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
AP site	Apurinic or apyrimidinic site
ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related
ATRIP	ATR interacting protein
BER	Base excision repair
BLBC	Basal-like breast cancer
BLM	Bloom syndrome protein
BRCT	BRCA1 C terminal domain
CAP	College of American Pathologists
CIN	Chromosomal instability
CIP2A	Cancerous inhibitor of PP2A
CK	Cytokeratin
CK2	Casein kinase 2
CKBD	Chk1 binding domain
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CMA	Chaperone mediated autophagy
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
CPD	Cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers
CtBP	C-terminal Binding protein
CtIP	CtBP interacting protein
DAPk	Death associated protein kinase
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DDR	DNA damage response
DFS	Disease free survival
DMBA	7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene
DSB	Double strand break

dsDNA	double stranded DNA		
DSP	Dual specificity phosphatase		
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor		
EMT	Epithelial mesenchymal transition		
ER	Estrogen receptor		
ERCC	Excision repair cross complementing		
EXO1	Exonuclease 1		
FA	Fanconi Anemia		
FEN1	Flap endonuclease 1		
FFPE	Formalin fixed paraffin embedded		
FOXM1	Forkhead box protein M1		
GEF	Guanine exchange factor		
GG-NER	Global genome nucleotide excision repair		
GSEA	Gene set enrichment analysis		
HEAT	Huntington/Elongation/A-subunit/TOR		
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2		
HRD	Homologous recombination deficiency		
HRR	Homologous recombination repair		
hTERT	human telomerase reverse transcriptase		
ICL	Interstrand cross links		
IDC	Invasive ductal carcinoma		
IHC	Immunohistochemistry		
ILC	Invasive lobular carcinoma		
IR	Ionizing radiation		
LCIS	Lobular carcinoma in situ		
LP-BER	Long patch base excision repair		
LT	SV40 Large T antigen		
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts		
MMEJ	Microhomology mediated end joining		
MRN	MRE-11-RAD50-NBS1 complex		
NER	Nucleotide excision repair		
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining		
NOCIVA	Novel CIP2A variant		
OGG1	8-oxoguanine glycosylase		
OS	Overall survival		
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation		
PALB2	Promoter and localizer of BRCA2		
PAM50	Prediction Analysis Microarray 50		
PARP	poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase		
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen		
PI3KK	PI3K kinase related kinases		
PLA	Proximity ligation assay		

Polo-like kinase1
Protein phosphatase 2A
Progesterone receptor
protein serine/threonine kinase
protein serine/threonine phosphatase
protein tyrosine kinase
post translational modification
protein tyrosine phosphatase
Retinoblastoma
Replication factor C
Reactive nitrogen species
Reactive oxygen species
Reproducibility optimized test statistic
Replication protein A
Senescence associated secretory phenotype
Short linear motifs
Smooth muscle actin
Small molecule activators of PP2A
Small patch base excision repair
Single strand annealing
Single strand break
single stranded DNA
SV40 small T antigen
Striatin interacting phosphatase and kinase complex
Striatin
Transcription coupled- nucleotide excision repair
Terminal ductal lobular unit
Tyrosine kinase inhibitors
Tumor mutational burden
Tumor microenvironment
Theta mediated end joining
Triple negative breast cancer
Topoisomerase IIβ Binding protein 1
Ultraviolet
World Health Organization
Xeroderma pigmentosum
Xray repair cross complementation
Yeast two-hybrid

List of Original Publications

This dissertation by Srikar Goud Nagelli is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Laine, A.*, <u>Nagelli, S.G.</u>*, Farrington, C., Butt, U., Cvrljevic, A.N., Vainonen, J.P., Feringa, F.M., Grönroos, T.J., Gautam, P., Khan, S., Sihto, H., Qiao, X., Pavic, K., Connolly, D.C., Kronqvist, P., Elo, L.L., Maurer, J., Wennerberg, K., Medema, R.H., Joensuu, H., Peuhu, E., de Visser, K., Narla, G., Westermarck, J. CIP2A Interacts with TopBP1 and Drives Basal-Like Breast Cancer Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Research*, 2021 Aug 15; 81(16):4319-4331.
- II <u>Nagelli, S.G.</u>, Suomi, T., Elzeneini, E., Huhtaniemi, R., Li, L., Courtney, M., Elo, L.L., Westermarck, J. CIP2A drives DNA damage response (DDR) transcriptional signature in Basal-like Breast Cancer. *Manuscript*.

* These authors contributed equally to the publication I

The original publications have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

1 Introduction

Breast cancer has recently overtaken lung cancer as the most common cancer type globally (Sung et al., 2021). Basal-like breast cancer (BLBC), which constitutes 15% of all breast cancer cases, is a highly aggressive subtype that is relatively common in premenopausal women (Alluri & Newman, 2014; Marra et al., 2020; Toft & Cryns, 2011). The key traits of BLBC are high proliferation activity (owing to elevated MYC, E2F1, Cyclin E, and EGFR activities) and a high degree of genomic instability (due to mutations in TP53, RB, CDKN2A, BRCA1, and deregulated checkpoints) (E. A. Rakha et al., 2008; Badve et al., 2011; Milioli et al., 2017). Majority of the BLBCs belong to the triple-negative subtype and do not express breast specific surface receptors Estrogen Receptor (ER), Progesterone Receptor (PR), and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) which can be therapeutically targeted. In the clinic, BLBC and triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) are used interchangeably, as EGFR positivity and basal cytokeratins that help in distinguishing BLBC from TNBC are not assessed routinely (Alluri & Newman, 2014; Burstein et al., 2021). While there are recently approved drugs such as sacituzumab govitecan and immune checkpoint PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors which can be used in TNBC patients, such targeted therapies are not suitable for all BLBC patients. Breast cancer is one of the most widely sequenced cancer types, and still, the sequencing efforts have not been able to discover druggable driver mechanisms for BLBC (Koboldt et al., 2012; Yin et al., 2020). Since there are no targeted therapies, chemotherapy remains the mainstays of the treatment for this subtype (Denkert et al., 2017; Yin et al., 2020). BLBC is a very heterogeneous disease and two patients presenting with similar histopathological features might have very distinct clinical outcomes. Majority of the metastatic BLBC patients are treated with aggressive chemotherapy comprising multiple drugs used in combination, even though some of them may not require such an aggressive treatment and could be spared from unwanted side effects. Also it has been reported that some of these patients don't really respond well to these chemotherapy drugs (Perou et al., 2000; E. A. Rakha et al., 2008; Badve et al., 2011; Milioli et al., 2017). Gene expression signatures such as OncotypeDX, MammaPrint have been adopted to clinical practice to determine the risk of recurrence and to identify which patients to treat with chemotherapy. But such prognostic and predictive biomarker signatures are so far restricted to ER+ breast cancer (luminal subtype) and not applicable for aggressive breast cancer (Alluri & Newman, 2014; Gagan et al., 2020). Therefore, there is a significant unmet clinical need to identify the molecular mechanisms that drive BLBC and to develop improved patient stratification tools for effective clinical management of BLBC.

Protein phosphorylation is the most common post translational modification in the cells (Bilbrough et al., 2022). Though both kinases and phosphatases have an equally important role in regulating the phosphorylation mediated cell signaling and homeostasis (Barber & Rinehart, 2018), there is a huge knowledge gap in our understanding of the role of phosphatases in cancer. Protein Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) is a major tumor suppressor serine/threonine protein phosphatase, whose inhibition is a critical requirement for malignant transformation of human cells (Hahn & Weinberg, 2002; Rangarajan et al., 2004; Sangodkar et al., 2016; Westermarck & Hahn, 2008). Unlike other tumor suppressors, PP2A is rarely mutated in human malignancies, and it is more commonly inactivated by endogenously overexpressed inhibitor of PP2A which is overexpressed in several human cancers and its expression has been associated with poor clinical outcomes in almost all the cancer subtypes where it has been studied (Junttila et al., 2007; Khanna & Pimanda, 2016).

In this thesis, I demonstrate that CIP2A plays a critical role in the DNA damage response (DDR) as a novel non-genetic driver of BLBC (publication I). Furthermore, I have also evaluated the potential of CIP2A's transcriptional signature in stratifying BLBC patients for personalized medicine regimens (publication II). These findings provide several indications on how to better manage the challenging BLBC subtype in the clinic. Notably, the newly identified role of CIP2A in DDR opens several research possibilities and points the field in a new direction.

2 Review of the Literature

2.1 Cancer

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized by the uncontrolled division of cells, due to accumulated genetic mutations, that eventually invade normal tissue barriers and spread to other organs (Jeggo et al., 2016; Martínez-Jiménez et al., 2020; Stratton et al., 2009). Cancer is one of the major contributors to decreased life expectancy and is associated with a significant burden on the healthcare ecosystem across the globe (Siegel et al., 2022; Sung et al., 2021). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates, cancer is the first or second common cause of death in individuals below the age of 70 in 113 out of 183 countries studied (Sung et al., 2021).

Cancer clonal evolution is a multi-step process which involves accumulation of a series of mutations that eventually confer selective growth advantage to a single cell clone to proliferate more than its neighbors. Over time, these clones attain more advantageous mutations that lead to development of malignant tumors with diverse genetic characteristics (Greaves & Maley, 2012; Martínez-Jiménez et al., 2020; Stratton et al., 2009; Vogelstein & Kinzler, 1993). Some cancer types such as melanoma and lung cancer display more mutations than average and the larger number of mutations indicate the involvement of external sources such as UV light and cigarette smoke which caused more mutational burden in the premalignant lesions of these tumors (Garraway & Lander, 2013; Vogelstein et al., 2013). Tumor mutational burden (TMB) is defined as the total number of genetic alterations (mutations) in a cancer cell. TMB is measured as number of mutations in a section of a DNA, typically denoted as mutations per mega base of DNA (mut/Mb). High TMB cancers (greater than 10 mut/Mb) are expected to respond better to immune checkpoint inhibitors (Fusco et al., 2021). The number of mutations in a cancer can vary from anywhere between 10-20 to more commonly hundreds or thousands (Greaves & Maley, 2012). A vast majority of these mutations are neutral and do not offer any clonal growth advantage termed as "passenger mutations" but few functionally relevant ones that improve the survival fitness of the dividing cells and are implicated in tumorigenesis are termed "driver mutations" (Greaves & Maley, 2012; Stratton et al., 2009).

The cancer driver genes can be classified into oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes based on their role in cancer progression. Oncogenes promote cell division, while tumor suppressors prevent abnormal cell divisions by activating cell cycle arrest or apoptosis when the damaged DNA cannot be repaired. Gain-of-function mutations in the oncogenes and loss-of-function mutations in the tumor suppressor genes together lead to hyperproliferation and evasion of organismal barriers, needed for the development and progression of cancer (Vogelstein & Kinzler, 2004; E.Y. Lee & Muller, 2010; Lyu et al., 2020). When analyzing cancer incidences across different tissues, it is apparent that there is a significant variation in frequency of cancer across tissues, and intriguingly, some tissues with high mutagen exposure exhibit lower cancer rates report less frequency of cancer (Tomasetti & Vogelstein, 2015). Though hereditary and environmental factors can explain this variability to a very small extent, the main reason for this variation can be attributed to the "bad *luck*" random mutations arising from replication errors during normal cell division, and the lifetime risk of cancer in a tissue correlates with the lifetime number of divisions within the stem cells of that organ (Tomasetti et al., 2017; Tomasetti & Vogelstein, 2015). However, this finding was contradicted by Yusuf Hannun and colleagues who reported that the contribution of random mutations and intrinsic factors to the cancer development is less than 30% (Wu et al., 2016).

In summary, to effectively prevent or treat cancer, it is necessary to understand the exact roles of different extrinsic and intrinsic factors in cancer incidence (Goldstein & Patel, 2019). However, the key takeaway from these studies is that some cancer types are driven primarily by mutations caused by environmental factors (such as lung cancer, melanoma, and cervical cancer), and can be prevented by avoiding these environmental exposures. But, for other cancer types where the driving mechanisms are unclear or occur irrespective of the environmental or hereditary predispositions, early diagnosis and intervention are critical lifesaving options (Goldstein & Patel, 2019; Song et al., 2018; Tomasetti et al., 2017).

2.1.1 Hallmarks of cancer

Cancer is a diverse disease encompassing more than 100 distinct tumor types that share common traits at a molecular level. Hanahan and Weinberg defined these common features as "*Hallmarks of cancer*" that malignant cells acquire during the process of tumorigenesis to escape the organismal control and normal cellular restrictions (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). The order in which these hallmark traits are acquired may vary a lot from one tumor to another. Also, sometimes a single genetic mutation can lead to the accumulation of multiple traits whereas in other cases multiple genetic events collaborate to acquire one trait. Initially, six hallmarks were proposed that include "sustained proliferative signaling," "deregulation of antigrowth signals," "avoiding programmed cell death", "inducing angiogenesis", "allowing cells to replicate with unlimited potential", and "activation of invasion and metastases". As the understanding of different cancer mechanisms improved with significant progress in the field, these hallmarks were also refined and updated accordingly (**Figure 1**), once every decade, first in 2011 and then most recently in 2022 (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Hanahan, 2022).



Figure 1: "Hallmarks of Cancer" including the initial hallmarks and updates made in 2011 and 2022, adapted from (Hanahan & Weinberg 2000; Hanahan & Weinberg 2011; Hanahan 2022) made in *Biorender.com*.

In 2011, the hallmarks were revised to include "evasion of immune destruction" and "reprogramming of energy metabolism" as two emerging hallmarks, which were considered characteristic of some tumors if not all. The authors also emphasized the role of "genomic instability" and "tumor-promoting inflammation" as two enabling features that allow and speed up the process of acquiring these traits during tumorigenesis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Since this dissertation focuses on the importance of DNA damage response (DDR) signaling, and the role of genomic instability in the initiation of tumorigenesis, it is covered in detail in the subsequent chapters. The update in 2011 also highlighted the importance of the stromal cells and the role of tumor microenvironment (TME) in tumorigenesis and therapeutic resistance (Trédan et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2017). It is now evident that cancer is quite a complex disease and in order to effectively treat and better understand the

course of its progression, a good understanding of not just the biology of individual cancer cells but also the stromal cells and the TME is important. In 2022, Hanahan revised these hallmarks to include "Senescent cells" and "unlocking phenotypic plasticity" as the emerging hallmarks and gave emphasis to the role of "epigenetic changes" and "polymorphic microbiome" as enabling features that aid in the development of other hallmarks (Hanahan, 2022). Some of these new hallmarks are described in detail in the upcoming paragraphs.

Senescence or irreversible cell cycle arrest is an important barrier that cells need to overcome in order to progress into cancer (Gabai et al., 2023). There is growing evidence that senescent cells induce a senescence associated secretory phenotype (SASP) that causes vascular remodeling and immune cell infiltration, that eventually lead to tumor suppression (Muñoz-Espín & Serrano, 2014; Ruscetti et al., 2020; L. Wang et al., 2022). On the other hand, SASP can also induce paracrine signaling to activate angiogenesis and promote growth in adjacent tumor cells, and the elimination of senescent cells has shown to be promising in delaying cancer incidence (Baker et al., 2016; Chaib et al., 2022; L. Wang et al., 2022). Therefore, there is now lot of focus towards developing senolytics (drugs that target and eliminate senescent cells) (Chaib et al., 2022; L. Wang et al., 2022). Since senescence is known to have both pro-tumor and anti-tumor effects, Wang and colleagues propose a one-two-punch strategy of targeting senescence sequentially, first by senescence inducing drugs, followed by senolytic drugs (L. Wang et al., 2017, 2022).

Plasticity is an innate property of stem cells that allows tissues to differentiate during normal development and self-renew during wound healing or tissue regeneration (S. Yuan et al., 2019; Torborg et al., 2022). Cancer cells exploit these features to create a selective advantage, to adjust to an unfavorable environment such as drug treatments and tumor suppression. This plasticity also helps in generating the tumor heterogeneity (Gupta et al., 2019), senescence exit (De Blander et al., 2021) and therapeutic resistance (Torborg et al., 2022). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a very well-known phenomenon of plasticity which the cancer cells use to switch from an epithelial state to a mesenchymal state, an important requirement for metastasis. The mesenchymal state is associated with upregulation of efflux drug transporters and hence they are resistant to many drugs, but it has been reported that phenotypic plasticity also creates a vulnerability. For example, mesenchymal cells in pancreatic cancer are very resistant to EGFR inhibitors but are sensitive to genotoxic drug gemcitabine, and treatment with gemcitabine can create a selective pressure for a switch to drug sensitive epithelial state, where EGFR inhibitors can be effective again (Collisson et al., 2011; S. Yuan et al., 2019).

For a long time, cancer was thought to be a disease of the genome and predominantly resulting from mutations in driver genes. However, the advances in sequencing capabilities have not been able to succeed in identifying the drivers of metastasis, drug resistance or progression for many tumor subtypes, indicating that there is a role for nongenetic contributors of tumorigenesis such as epigenetic reprogramming (Koboldt et al., 2012; A. Chatterjee et al., 2018; Nam et al., 2021). Epigenetic reprogramming, due to internal and external stimuli (signals coming from TME), play a role in modifying the chromatin organization and the accessibility of the genome for transcription, driving the progression of cancer (Lau et al., 2017; Gagliano & Brancolini, 2021). The role of epigenetics in tumorigenesis has become more apparent in recent years. There is also growing evidence that the cancer cells can regulate the epigenetic changes in the stromal cells, inducing the production of a pro-tumor TME (Mishra et al., 2018; H. Fan et al., 2020), and overall TME heterogeneity. However, the current challenge is to pinpoint which cancer types are purely driven by non-mutational processes such as epigenetics and which are driven by mutations (Hanahan, 2022).

The microbiome varies a lot between individuals, and it has been reported recently by a study evaluating 1526 human tumors that bacteria resided both within the cancer cells and within the immune cells of the TME. Interestingly, the composition of the microbiome also varied a lot with the tumor type, with breast cancer having the most diverse microbiome (Nejman et al., 2020). It has also been reported that the intra-tumoral microbiome correlates with the disease subtype and can predict the overall prognosis (Sepich-Poore et al., 2021; Park et al., 2022). There is also emerging evidence that the gut microbiota can influence the immune responses, therapeutic responses, and may play a role in tumor promotion or suppression depending on the context. This field of research is still nascent, but it is very important to better understand the multifaceted role of the microbiome to effectively treat cancer (Hanahan, 2022; Park et al., 2022).

To summarize, the process of tumor progression is very complex and heterogeneous and involves the interplay of several components within the tumor but also external to the tumor such as TME and microbiome. The advances in cancer research is expected to unravel more such hallmarks and their role in cancer development in the future years (Hanahan, 2022).

2.1.1.1 Genomic instability as a key hallmark of cancer

Genomic instability occurs when mechanisms that protect the genome from aberrations are compromised, leading to an increased tendency of the genome to acquire mutations (J.-K. Lee et al., 2016; Jeggo et al., 2016). Genomic instability encompasses a wide range of genomic alterations, from small-scale nucleotide changes to large-scale chromosome level structural and numerical defects (known as "*chromosomal instability*" (CIN)) (Abbas et al., 2013; Eischen, 2016). Two distinct hypotheses explain the molecular basis for genomic instability-induced tumorigenesis. The mutator phenotype model suggests that genomic instability is

already present in the precancerous lesions due to the mutations in the gatekeeper genes (such as TP53) driving cancer development (Loeb, 2001; Loeb et al., 2008). This model can explain the molecular basis of hereditary cancers, where germline mutations in genome maintenance genes are present in the individual, and the subsequent loss of the remaining wildtype allele leads to genomic instability and drives tumor development (Negrini et al., 2010). However, since gatekeeper gene mutations are mostly recessive, for mutator phenotype to be valid for sporadic cancers, two alleles of the gene need to be mutated for genomic instability to occur, which by random chance is rare. Also, across several studies, it was observed that genomic instability in 69-97% of sporadic cancer cases was not due to the gatekeeper gene mutations, indicating other mechanisms (Wood et al., 2007; Parsons et al., 2008; Negrini et al., 2010). The oncogene induced DNA replication stress model hypothesizes that oncogene activation induced hyperproliferation causes excessive replication origin firing, leading to replication stress triggered by the stalling and collapse of replication forks, followed by the formation of DNA double strand breaks (DSBs). The constant generation of DSBs produces the genomic instability required to create a selection pressure for additional mutations, which allow the cells to evade apoptosis or senescence and eventually drive tumorigenesis (Bartkova et al., 2005; Gorgoulis et al., 2005; Halazonetis et al., 2008; Kotsantis et al., 2018).

Chromosomal instability (CIN) can result from structural or numerical changes in the chromosomes. Structural changes include chromosomal breaks, translocations, fusions, deletions, or inversions while numerical changes involve loss or gain of one or more chromosomes known as "aneuploidy" or gain of whole or part of a genome known as "tetraploidy" and "polyploidy" (Yao & Dai, 2014; Eischen, 2016; J.-K. Lee et al., 2016). Different types of CIN are shown in Figure 2. CIN mostly occurs due to errors in chromosomal segregation during mitosis. It is now evident that almost all cancers have some amount of chromosomal aberrations structural, numerical or a combination of both (Negrini et al., 2010; Bakhoum & Cantley, 2018; Drews et al., 2022). Telomere dysfunction is another source of CIN. Telomeres are protein complexes that are located at the end of chromosomes and prevent them from being recognized as DSBs, thus blocking fusions or recombination. However, when a break occurs at the chromosome ends, the telomere part of the chromosome can be lost, resulting in incomplete chromosomes that can fuse with other unrepaired DNA fragments (Bolzán, 2020; Maciejowski & de Lange, 2017). Tumor cells can also evolve by failing cytokinesis, leading to polyploidy and creating double the number of centrosomes, which causes chromosomal defects in the subsequent daughter cells (Fujiwara et al., 2005; Lens & Medema, 2019). Cancer evolution for a long period of time was believed to happen gradually by accumulation of mutations, or CIN over a period of time, and for most of the cancer types this is true. However, in 2011, Peter Campbell's group reported a new crisis

event called "*chromothripsis*" in which a single chromosome or a small group of chromosomes is shattered and merged together by error prone non-homologous end joining, causing several concurrent mutations (Stephens et al., 2011; Meyerson & Pellman, 2011). This phenomenon was first identified in a chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patient sample but analysis of other cancer types estimated that this event occurs in 2-3% of all cancer, and particularly more frequent in osteosarcoma (Stephens et al., 2011). Also, missegregation of chromosomes can lead to small fragments of chromosome to be encapsulated in the nuclear membrane known as "*micronuclei*." Recently, it was reported that the cytosolic double stranded DNA (dsDNA) released from ruptured micronuclei activates the cGAS-STING and the canonical NF-κB inflammatory pathways, causing immune evasion and distant metastasis (Bakhoum et al., 2018; Bakhoum & Cantley, 2018). It was also found that periods of CIN can accelerate the development of therapeutic resistance and high degrees of CIN correlates with poor response to therapies (Lukow et al., 2021).



Figure 2: Different types of Chromosomal instability (CIN) created on Biorender.com.

2.2 Protein Phosphatase 2A

Post translational modifications (PTMs) are a way of modifying the properties of the protein, either by cleavage or by addition of a modifying group to single or multiple amino acids. PTMs occur in virtually all proteins in the eukaryotes and can transform its activity, localization, turnover or its interactions with other proteins (Mann & Jensen, 2003; Barber & Rinehart, 2018). Protein phosphorylation is the most abundant PTM in the cells (Bilbrough et al., 2022), in which a phosphate group is added in a reversible manner to the protein (Mann & Jensen, 2003). Most commonly the hydroxyl group containing amino acids (serine, threonine, and tyrosine) are phosphorylated but cysteine, lysine, histidine, arginine, aspartic and glutamic acid have also been reported to be phosphorylated at low frequency. The addition of phosphate groups is catalyzed by the enzymes called protein phosphatases. (Hunter, 2012). For cellular homeostasis, a balanced and coordinated activity of protein kinases and protein phosphatases is required, and any switch in the balance leads to human diseases such as cancer (Hunter, 1995; Janssens et al., 2005).

The kinases and phosphatases are classified based on the amino acid that they act on. The three broad categories of phosphatases are protein serine/threonine phosphatases (PSPs) that regulate serine and threonine phosphorylations, protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) that regulate tyrosine phosphorylations and dual specificity phosphatases (DSPs) that can regulate both serine/threonine as well as tyrosine phosphorylations (M. J. Chen et al., 2017; Shi, 2009). There are 518 protein kinases and out of these there are 90 protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) and 428 protein serine/threonine kinases (PSKs) (Fleuren et al., 2016). One would expect that there would be similar number of phosphatases to maintain substrate specificity as the phosphorylation is a reversible reaction. While the number of PTPs (107) roughly match the PTKs, it might seem that the PSPs (~30) are outnumbered by the PSKs, leading to a misconception that they lack substrate specificity (Alonso et al., 2004; Shi, 2009; Sents et al., 2013; M. J. Chen et al., 2017). However, the assembly of PSP holoenzymes is quite complex, and they can form multiple substrate specific PSPs by combining different regulatory subunits with a single catalytic subunit. Hence the number of PSPs is definitely higher than the PSKs in the cell.

Protein Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) accounts for vast majority of the serine/threonine phosphatase activity in eukaryotes. PP2A comprises 1% of the total proteins within the cells but PP2A and PP1 (protein phosphatase 1) are responsible for more than 90% of the serine/threonine phosphatase activity of the cells (Eichhorn et al., 2009). PP2A is a heterotrimeric complex comprising of three subunits – a scaffolding A subunit (also called PR65), regulatory B subunit, and a catalytic C subunit. All the subunits of PP2A exist in multiple isoforms and maybe expressed depending on tissue and cell contexts. The A and C subunits both have two isoforms

represented by α and β , and A α and C α isoforms constitute the majority in most of the cells (**Figure 3**) (Eichhorn et al., 2009; Sangodkar et al., 2016). One third of the PP2A enzymes in the cells exist in a dimer form (PP2A_D), called the core enzyme comprising of an A subunit and a C subunit and the remaining exists in the trimeric form (PP2A_T) (Janssens & Goris, 2001). The scaffolding A subunit consists of 15 tandemly repeated HEAT (Huntington/Elongation/A-subunit/TOR) domains that extend to form a curved horseshoe structure. B subunits bind to the N-terminal 2-8 HEAT domains and the catalytic subunit binds with the C-terminal 11-15 HEAT domains (Groves et al., 1999; Cho & Xu, 2007; Westermarck & Hahn, 2008). The C subunit has two manganese ions which are important for its catalytic activity and interaction with the substrates (Cho & Xu, 2007; Goldberg et al., 1995). Though the C α and C β subunits have 97% similarity in their genetic sequence, it was reported that C α knockout mice were embryonic lethal indicating that the C β subunits do not compensate for the C α subunit in the cells (Götz et al., 1998).



Figure 3: Subunits and gene nomenclatures of the PP2A heterotrimeric complex, adapted from (Westermarck & Neel, 2020).

The substrate specificity, subcellular localizations and finetuned phosphatase activity of PP2A comes from the regulatory subunits it can assemble. PP2A has 4 family of regulatory B subunits (B55, B56, PR72/PR130 or STRN family) and each of the B subunit family also has multiple isoforms encoded by different genes, as represented in the schematic **Figure 3** (Janssens & Goris, 2001; Eichhorn et al., 2009; Seshacharyulu et al., 2013). The B subunit families do not share much sequence similarity between each other except the amino acids at the interaction interface with the A subunit which are conserved (X. Li & Virshup, 2002). All together there are 15 genes which form almost 26 different B subunits when all isoforms and known splice variants are accounted for, and hence PP2A can exist in

atleast 100 different holoenzyme compositions (Janssens & Goris, 2001; Eichhorn et al., 2009; Seshacharyulu et al., 2013). Since there is a possibility of multiple PP2A subunits to be formed within the cell at the same time, the entire holoenzyme assembly process is strictly regulated. It is reported that monomers of C subunits are unstable and get degraded to prevent unnecessary activity (Sents et al., 2013). Also, the C subunits are synthesized in an inactive form, without the metal ions, bound to α 4, (another non-canonical subunit of PP2A) which is activated just before the holoenzyme assembly by PTPA (PP2A phosphotyrosyl phosphatase activator) (Fellner et al., 2003; Sents et al., 2013). It has been reported that PTPA deficiency promotes cancer due to the inactive PP2A (Sents et al., 2017). Another form of regulation comes from PTMs (phosphorylation and methylation) of the C subunit. The C subunit C-terminal tail is conserved especially the 304-309 amino acids (TPDYFL). The L309 can undergo methylation which is a reversible reaction regulated by two enzymes LCMT-1 (leucine carboxy methyl transferase-1) which adds the methyl group and PME-1 (PP2A methyl esterase-1) which removes the methyl group. L309 methylation is required for assembly of B55 and B56 family subunits which are also the most widely characterized tumor suppressive PP2A B subunits. The phosphorylation on T304 and Y307 has been reported to inactivate PP2A. While T304 phosphorylation inhibits the B55 family B subunits, the Y307 phosphorylation inhibits both B55 and B56 family B subunits (Janssens et al., 2008; Sents et al., 2013; Sangodkar et al., 2016; Kauko & Westermarck, 2018; Westermarck & Neel, 2020).

Jakob Nilsson's group reported a mechanism of substrate specificity for PP2A-B56 family phosphatases. The B56 family recognizes and binds a short linear motif (SLiM) LxxIxE on its substrates, through which it can dephosphorylate phosphosites in the vicinity of the motif (Hertz et al., 2016). Later, this motif was further expanded to LpSPIxE and it was identified that a serine phosphorylation in the recognition motif is necessary for the PP2A-B56 binding (X. Wang et al., 2016). More recently, it was further elucidated that the substrates also have a basic patch region (positive charge region) which interacts with the acidic patch (negatively charge region) on the B56, and because of this electrostatic force the interaction between the PP2A-B56 and its substrates is strengthened (X. Wang et al., 2020).

2.2.1 Role of PP2A in cancer

The evidence for PP2A's role as a tumor suppressor comes from two historical independent findings 1) Studies with okadaic acid, a carcinogenic compound found in black sponge was found to inhibit PP2A to promote tumor growth (Suganuma et al., 1988; Fujiki & Suganuma, 1999) 2) Reports that several tumor promoting DNA viruses such as E4orf4, polyoma small and middle T antigens and simian virus 40

(SV40) small T antigens could replace B subunits of PP2A and inhibit PP2A function (Pallas et al., 1990; Kleinberger & Shenk, 1993; Shtrichman et al., 1999). This was further validated by pioneering work by Robert Weinberg, William Hahn and colleagues who established the rules and differences in malignant transformation of humans and rodents. They found that truly normal (primary) rodent cells can be fully transformed into cancer by just two genetic alterations - activating mutations in RAS and MYC oncogenes while the same does not apply to humans (Hahn & Weinberg, 2002; Land et al., 1983). In human kidney and fibroblast cells, constitutive activation of human telomerase (hTERT) along with the expression of Simian virus 40 (SV40) early region which express the Large T (LT) and the small T (ST) antigens could immortalize the cells, but these cells were fully transformed only after the subsequent introduction of RAS oncogene (Hahn et al., 1999; Hahn & Weinberg, 2002). It was later identified that LT inactivates p53 and retinoblastoma (RB) tumor suppressors (Ali & DeCaprio, 2001) and ST inactivates PP2A by binding to its A subunit or AC dimer but not when ABC trimer is present, indicating that ST has similar properties as B subunits of PP2A (Westermarck & Hahn, 2008; Yang et al., 1991). In summary, the five minimum steps needed for human transformation were identified as - RB, TP53 inactivation and hTERT activation (for immortalization), and further inactivation of PP2A and activation of RAS for transformation of the cells. Later it was identified that there are tissue specific differences in the Ras downstream factors needed for transformation. (Rangarajan et al., 2004; Westermarck & Hahn, 2008). Further it was reported that out of the 11 B subunits tested, only B56a, B56y and PR72/PR130 were involved in the ST induced cellular transformation (Sablina et al., 2010).

Several years later, now there is plenty of evidence for PP2A as a tumor suppressor phosphatase which comes from inactivation of several cancer promoting proteins such as MYC, E2F1, AKT, DAPk (Kauko & Westermarck, 2018; Fowle et al., 2019). However, unlike other tumor suppressors like p53, Rb and PTEN, PP2A is rarely mutated in human malignancies. PP2A function is inactivated through other non-genetic mechanisms either by PTMs in the C-terminal tail of the C subunit (as discussed before) or more commonly by expression of endogenous inhibitors (Kauko & Westermarck, 2018). Some of the important endogenous inhibitors of PP2A, and their modes of inhibition are listed in the **Table 1**. There are atleast 15 inhibitors of PP2A reported and have distinct modes of PP2A inhibition. The endogenous inhibitors add another layer of substrate and context specific regulation of PP2A activity in the cells, as some of these inhibit specific regulatory subunits and also in specific cell cycle phases, for example ENSA and ARPP19 inhibits PP2A B55 α and δ in mitosis (Kauko & Westermarck, 2018).

Name of the inhibitor	Mode of PP2A inhibition	References
CIP2A	Inhibits the B56 α and γ subunits	(Junttila et al., 2007; J. Wang et al., 2017)
SET	Inhibits C subunit, but recently found to associate with B56 in Gastric cancer	(M. Li et al., 1995; Enjoji et al., 2018)
PME1	Dual effect: promotes demethylation of C- terminal tail L309; Also removes Mn+2 ions form the C subunit to inactivate the PP2A catalytic activity	(Ogris et al., 1999; Xing et al., 2008)
ARPP19	Inhibits the B55α and δ subunits; Isoform ARPP16 inhibits B56α	(Hached et al., 2019; Mochida et al., 2010)
ENSA	Inhibits the B55 α and δ subunits	
TIPRL	Binds and inhibits C subunit and mutations in Aα enhance this interaction	(Haesen et al., 2016; Scorsato et al., 2016)

 Table 1:
 List of well characterized PP2A endogenous inhibitors and their mode of PP2A inhibition

CIP2A- Cancerous inhibitor of PP2A; SET-SET nuclear protein; PME1-PP2A methyl esterase; ARPP19 – cAMP regulated phosphoprotein 19; ENSA- α Endosulfine; TIPRL-TOR signaling pathway regulator like.

PP2A is majorly a tumor suppressive phosphatase but there are some regulatory subunits such as Striatin (STRN) which have an oncogenic role. STRN containing PP2A complexes recruit several proteins and kinases forming a larger complex called Striatin interacting phosphatase and kinase (STRIPAK). It was recently reported that STRIPAK complexes can initiate Hippo signaling and activate YAP by MST1/2 dephosphorylation (R. Chen et al., 2019; Tang et al., 2020; Kurppa & Westermarck, 2020).

2.3 CIP2A

Cancerous inhibitor of Protein Phosphatase 2A (CIP2A), also known as p90 is a 90 KDa protein previously encoded by gene KIAA1524. p90 was first detected in hepatocellular and gastric cancer patient samples, but the function was unknown (Hoo et al., 2002). The true functional relevance of CIP2A in human malignancies was discovered by the Westermarck group in 2007 when it was discovered as an interacting partner of PP2A in tandem affinity purifications with PP2A-A subunit (PR65) (Junttila et al., 2007). Since then, CIP2A has been reported to be overexpressed in several human cancer types, and its expression was associated with poor prognosis in almost all the cancer types in which it was studied, (Vaarala et al., 2010; Côme et al., 2009; Khanna et al., 2009; Böckelman et al., 2011; Lucas et al., 2011; Niemelä et al., 2012; Khanna & Pimanda, 2016).

In breast cancer, CIP2A expression is correlated with aggressive subtypes and higher tumor grade. In a breast cancer cohort consisting of 159 samples, CIP2A expression in tumor grade 2 and 3 samples was much higher than the grade 1 samples (Côme et al., 2009). CIP2A expression was analyzed in the 1028 breast cancer samples from the Finnish registry (Joensuu et al., 2003) by IHC and CIP2A expression was found to be significantly higher in HER2+ and basal-like breast cancer subtypes which are the more aggressive breast cancer subtypes (Niemelä et al., 2012). The same trend was also observed in TCGA breast cancer cohort (n=1028 patients) in which CIP2A expression was higher in basal-like breast cancer followed by HER2+, luminal B, luminal A, and normal like subtypes (publication I, Figure 5C).

CIP2A expression is very low in normal cells except for the testis, but is manyfold higher in cancer cells as seen by IHC staining as well as mRNA expression levels from qPCR (Junttila et al., 2007; Côme et al., 2009). CIP2A knockout mice (CIP2A^{HOZ}) generated using genetrap cassette are fully viable and have a normal life span indicating that CIP2A is dispensable in normal tissues. The only exception is that male CIP2A^{HOZ} mice showed defects in spermatogenesis, due to the decreased level of self-renewal protein PLZF (promyelocytic leukemia zinc-finger) in the spermatogonial progenitor cells (SPCs) of the testis (Ventelä et al., 2012).

While CIP2A alone was unable to transform the immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), it was able to increase the transformation ability of the Rasoverexpressing cells (Junttila et al., 2007). In immortalized human HEK-TERV cells, which require further PP2A inhibition for complete transformation, CIP2A demonstrated the ability to replace the role of SV40 small T-antigen (ST) in cellular transformation (Junttila et al., 2007). By stabilizing c-Myc, CIP2A overexpression can restore the transformation ability of JNK2 (c-Jun N-terminal Kinase 2) knockout MEFs, which are otherwise defective in Ras-induced transformation. CIP2A was found to be downstream of JNK2 signaling, and its expression was regulated transcriptionally by ATF2 (Activating Transcription factor 2) (Mathiasen et al., 2012).

Previous research has established that PP2A dephosphorylation of serine 62 on MYC marks it for proteasomal degradation (H. K. Arnold & Sears, 2006). When it was initially discovered, the main function of CIP2A as an oncogene was attributed to its PP2A inhibition mediated MYC S62 phosphorylation, thereby increasing its stability (Junttila et al., 2007). However, a recent report published by Welcker et al. has contradicted the previous model that S62 phosphorylation promotes MYC stability. The authors found that S62 phosphorylation actually enhances the binding of FBW7, a MYC ubiquitin ligase, indicating that S62 phosphorylated MYC does not escape the proteasomal degradation as previously thought (Welcker et al., 2022). With this finding coming to light, the exact mechanism of how PP2A inactivation by

CIP2A enhances MYC stability is yet to be elucidated. In gastric cancer cells, MYC regulates the expression of CIP2A mRNA and protein, indicating a positive feedback loop between MYC and CIP2A (Khanna et al., 2009). A microarray based CIP2A transcriptional signature revealed that CIP2A regulates several novel MYC target genes and the gene expression profiles generated by CIP2A silencing could be reversed by depletion of PP2A B55 α and B56 β subunits. This study also identified a novel MYC independent role of CIP2A in JNK2 signaling. MYC downregulation had no effect on the transwell migration whereas CIP2A silencing decreased JNK2 expression and transwell migration (Niemelä et al., 2012).

CIP2A is amplified and mutated at an extremely low level (from Oncoprint analysis using TCGA pan cancer data in cBioportal https://www.cbioportal.org/). Khanna et al. identified by bisulfite sequencing that though there are many CpG islands close to the CIP2A promoter they are not methylated in normal or cancer cells indicating that CIP2A is not regulated by promoter methylation (Khanna et al., 2011). Both these findings would hint that CIP2A is regulated at a transcriptional level, and this has been confirmed by several following studies. In gastric cancer cells, EGFR and MEK1/2 inhibitors decreased the CIP2A mRNA whereas ERK activator TPA increased the CIP2A mRNA, indicating that the EGFR-MEK pathway might be involved in the transcriptional regulation of CIP2A (Khanna et al., 2011). Further, on mutagenesis of the transcription factor binding sites on the CIP2A promoter, it was identified that EGFR-MEK1/2 regulates CIP2A through the transcription factor ETS1 (Khanna et al., 2011). However, in urogenital cancers, ETS1 and ELK1 were both needed together for CIP2A transcriptional regulation (Pallai et al., 2012). MYC regulates CIP2A transcription but the exact MYC binding site on the CIP2A promoter is not known (Khanna et al., 2009; Khanna & Pimanda, 2016). In gastric cancer, CIP2A was found to be regulated by CHK1 S345 phosphorylation activity which is activated by an upstream DNA damage kinase DNA-PK (Khanna, Kauko, et al., 2013). Recently, it was revealed that CHK1 regulates pSTAT3 which transcriptionally regulates CIP2A (Khanna et al., 2020).

CIP2A is also involved in a positive feedback loop with E2F1 which promotes evasion of senescence. In breast cancer cells, p53 inactivation was found to correlate with CIP2A expression, but the ChIP-Seq analysis revealed that p53 doesn't bind to the CIP2A promoter. Further downstream analysis revealed that p53 and associated p21 downregulate E2F1, which downregulates CIP2A. ChIP-Seq also confirmed that E2F1 indeed binds on the CIP2A promoter and regulates its transcription. Also, it was previously established that PP2A-B55α dephosphorylates E2F1 on serine 364, which is known to be important for its proteasomal degradation. Thus, E2F1 expression transcriptionally, which inhibits increases CIP2A PP2A's dephosphorylation activity on E2F1 S364, further increasing E2F1 stability. In p53 mutant breast cancer cells, depletion of CIP2A was able to rescue the p53 activation mimicking SA- β Gal senescence phenotype, indicating that high activity of E2F1-CIP2A positive feedback loop allows cancer cells to evade senescence (Laine et al., 2013). In TNBCs, CIP2A overexpression was found to mediate AKT S473 dependent phosphorylation of tumor suppressor p27Kip1, which translocates it to the cytoplasm. Also, Myc activation by CIP2A mediates transcriptional repression of p27Kip1 and this combined effect facilitates the progression of TNBCs (H. Liu et al., 2017).

CIP2A is involved in several forms of cancer cell survival or death evasion mechanisms. CIP2A suppresses apoptosis by preventing the dephosphorylation of AKT S473 by PP2A-B55y in hepatocellular carcinomas (K.-F. Chen et al., 2010). CIP2A prevents the PP2A mediated dephosphorylation of Death Associated Protein kinase (DAPk) at serine 308, which suppresses UNC5H2/Netrin-1 mediated apoptosis (Guenebeaud et al., 2010). CIP2A enhances mTORC1 pathway activity by preventing PP2A mediated dephosphorylation of mTORC1 downstream components RPS6KB1 and EIF4EBP1 which are known to inhibit autophagy. On the contrary mTOR inhibitors such as Rapamycin also promote CIP2A degradation by autophagy (Puustinen et al., 2014; Puustinen & Jäättelä, 2014). It was reported that CIP2A gets degraded by chaperone mediated autophagy (CMA) a type of lysosomal degradation that gets activated in conditions of cellular stress. Depletion of LAMP2A or pharmacological inhibition of CMA by lysosomal inhibitors ammonium chloride and Leupeptine caused upregulation of CIP2A. It has been reported that CMA is defective in several cancer cells, and this is a means to increase levels of CIP2A which promotes MYC stability and tumorigenesis (Gomes et al., 2017).

CIP2A interacts with Polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1) and promotes the progression of cells into mitosis. Also, CIP2A translocates to the nucleus before mitotic entry and is enriched at the spindle poles (J.-S. Kim et al., 2013). In prostate cancer cells, CIP2A causes the proteasomal degradation of a chromosome maintenance protein shugoshin 1 (Sgol1) which destabilizes the cohesion complex, causing premature chromosome segregation and aneuploidy (Pallai et al., 2015). During meiotic maturation in mouse oocytes, CIP2A acts as a scaffold for CEP192 (a centrosomal protein), and recruits Aurora A and PLK1 at the spindle poles. PLK1 phosphorylates CIP2A at S904 and this phosphorylation facilitates the proper organization of microtubule organizing centers (MTOCs) (H. Wang et al., 2017).

CIP2A is also a critical oncoprotein in hematological cancers. In chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), CIP2A promotes MYC and BCR-ABL1 tyrosine kinase activity and is a critical marker that determines progression to blast crisis (Lucas et al., 2011). CML patients with high CIP2A levels treated with second generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (2G TKIs) showed decreased E2F1 levels and thereby had low risk of progression indicating 2G TKIs maybe a preferential treatment option for high

CIP2A CML patients (Lucas et al., 2015). The first ever splice variant of CIP2A called Novel CIP2A Variant (NOCIVA) was discovered recently. It comprises CIP2A exons 1-13 and a 13 amino acid peptide tail but still retains the ability to bind to PP2A B56a. In both acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and CML, high NOCIVA expression correlates with poor progression. In CML, high NOCIVA expression is linked with resistance to imatinib but not to 2G TKIs nilotinib or dasatinib (Mäkelä et al., 2021).

CIP2A is an attractive cancer drug target because it is overexpressed in several cancer types but dispensable for normal tissues (except testis). Out of the 905 amino acids, a 1-560 amino acid fragment of the CIP2A protein was crystalized recently. The crystal structure revealed that CIP2A exists as a homodimer and interacts with PP2A B56α and B56γ subunits. The dimerization interface was identified as a region between 388-559 amino acids. Interestingly, disrupting the dimerization by single point mutations (such as R522D and L533E) in the dimerization interface led to decreased CIP2A stability and binding. CIP2A stability was also lost when the expression of B56a and B56y subunits was inhibited by siRNAs. This information is very critical for future drug development efforts (J. Wang et al., 2017). CIP2A has been implicated in drug resistance to several common cancer therapies. CIP2A promotes resistance to doxorubicin by inducing the phosphorylation of AKT which suppresses apoptosis (K.-F. Chen et al., 2010; Y. A. Choi et al., 2011). In HER2 negative breast cancer patients, CIP2A overexpression correlated with poor overall survival specifically in the patient group that received vinorelbine compared to the group that received docetaxel. CIP2A silenced MCF7 cells were more sensitive to E2F1 downregulation on treatment with vinorelbine compared to the non-silenced cells, indicating that CIP2A low cancer is more sensitive to senescence inducing chemotherapy (Laine et al., 2013). CIP2A was reported to be an OCT4 target gene and double positivity in OCT4 and CIP2A was correlated with resistance to radiotherapy in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) (Ventelä et al., 2015). In mouse intestines, CIP2A was essential for regeneration of intestinal crypt cells from radiation or cisplatin induced DNA damage, indicating that DNA damaging therapies in combination with CIP2A inhibition might have a negative impact in normal cell regeneration and must be used with caution (Myant et al., 2015). In ovarian cancer, ROS (reactive oxygen species) inducing drug APR-246 sensitized the low CIP2A expressing cells, but high CIP2A expressing cells were resistant to this drug due to activation of NF-kB survival signaling. The sensitivity was restored by combining APR-246 with NF-kB inhibitors (Cvrljevic et al., 2022). Recently an endogenous inhibitor of CIP2A was encoded by the long noncoding RNA (IncRNA) LINC00665 was reported. This peptide was named CIP2A-BP (CIP2A binding protein) as it showed ability to bind CIP2A and activate PP2A's B56γ and was downregulated by TGFβ and SMAD signaling in TNBCs (Guo et al.,

2020). Another recent study reported that CIP2A S904 phosphorylation creates a binding site for 14-3-3 regulatory protein, which can be targeted by Fusicoccin-A (Brink et al., 2022).

There have been many compounds reported in the literature, that have been indicated to downregulate CIP2A, but none of these are direct inhibitors but downregulate CIP2A mRNA by inhibiting its transcription factor activity (such as EGFR or DNA-PK or CHK1 inhibitors) or drugs that cause proteasomal degradation of CIP2A (such as celastrol, gambogenic acid) (Soofiyani et al., 2017). Most of these drugs lack mechanistic details and proper testing controls to determine adverse effects. Metformin, a well-known oxidative phosphorylation drug was shown to be downregulating CIP2A, but the exact mechanism is not known (Elgendy et al., 2019). In my dissertation, I identified the role of small molecule activators of PP2A (SMAPs) as CIP2A transcriptional inhibitors and has been presented in publication I (Laine et al., 2021).

2.4 Breast cancer

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer incidence across the globe accounting for 2.3 million new cases (11.7% of all cancer cases). Among women, breast cancer is responsible for 1 in 4 new cancer cases, and 1 in 6 cancer deaths (M. Arnold et al., 2022; Sung et al., 2021). If the current trends continue, it is estimated that by 2040, the global mortality rates due to breast cancer will increase to 1 million deaths per year (M. Arnold et al., 2022). As per the WHO's GLOBOCAN database, the incidence of breast cancer is much higher in highly developed countries compared to less developed countries, and this could be attributed to lifestyle factors such as obesity, physical inactivity, or hormonal risk factors such as less breastfeeding, oral contraceptives, later age at first pregnancy or advances in early diagnosis or screening mammography technologies (Sung et al., 2021).

The human mammary gland comprises around six to ten intertwined duct systems, each originating at the nipple and ending at the terminal ductal lobular unit (TDLU). This forms a complex branched network of ducts and lobules (Geddes, 2007; Yoder et al., 2007). The lobules produce the milk which is secreted into the ducts. The epithelium lining the ductal-lobular system have two distinct cell types – the inner luminal epithelial cells which has secretory functions and the surrounding basal or myoepithelial cells which have contractile properties for ejecting the milk (Cristea & Polyak, 2018; Yoder et al., 2007). 95% of breast cancers are carcinomas that form in the epithelial cells lining the ductolobular system. They are termed ductal carcinomas if they originate in the ducts and lobuler carcinomas if they originate in the lobules (Lopez-Garcia et al., 2010; Yoder et al., 2007). These carcinomas originate as precancerous lesions which are

confined to the ducts or lobules called Ductal Carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) or Lobular carcinoma *in situ* (LCIS), respectively. DCIS and LCIS progress into invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) or Invasive Lobular carcinoma (ILC) when the cancer cells invade the outer myoepithelial cells and enter into the surrounding stroma (Yoder et al., 2007). The DCIS cases were not that easily detected before the implementation of population screening. The challenge with DCIS is that it is difficult to determine which of these lesions would progress to invasive carcinoma and hence, currently all the DCIS patients are treated with breast conserving surgery and radiotherapy or alternatively with mastectomy. However, DCIS remains quiescent, and this overtreatment affects the well-being of the patients (van Seijen et al., 2019). The most common form of invasive breast carcinoma is IDC comprising around 50-80% cases whereas ILC accounts for 10-15% cases. The rest belong to mixed ductal/lobular or other rare histologies (Waks & Winer, 2019).

2.4.1 Intrinsic and molecular subtyping of breast cancer

Breast cancer is a very heterogeneous disease and presents with distinct biological and clinical features (Polyak, 2007; Weigelt & Reis-Filho, 2009; Zardavas et al., 2015). Historically, breast cancer has been classified based the status of the three receptors Estrogen receptor (ER), Progesterone receptor (PR) and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) that are found typically on the surface of the breast cancer cells. Based on the receptor expression status they were classified as luminal (ER+/PR+), HER2 amplified (ER- and HER2+), or triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) (ER-, PR- and HER2-) (Norum et al., 2014; Szymiczek et al., 2021). With the advent of next generation sequencing technologies, a lot of research groups tried to classify this heterogeneous disease into distinct subtypes based on their clinical prognosis. There were majorly five distinct subtypes identified - Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2 amplified, Basal-like breast cancer and normal-like breast cancer (Perou et al., 2000; Sørlie et al., 2001, 2003; Sotiriou et al., 2003). The classification was based on "intrinsic" gene sets that did not vary on repeated testing of the same tumor but can still detect the differences between tumors from other subtypes (Chung et al., 2002; Hu et al., 2006). Hu et al. analyzed all the existing gene signatures at that time and concluded that while there might be differences in gene lists across the signatures, the molecular portraits created by the interplay of these individual genes is preserved (C. Fan et al., 2006; Hu et al., 2006).

On analysis of molecular portraits, basal-like breast cancer (BLBC) group was mainly enriched for keratins 5 and 17, whereas the HER2+ subgroup was highly enriched for genes in the ERBB2 (HER2) amplicon. Normal-like group showed high expression of adipose tissue and other non-epithelial cell markers while also

expressing the basal markers (Sørlie et al., 2001). Since most of these signatures were developed using microarray technology, the samples had to be analyzed from fresh frozen tissue which was a challenge (Toft & Cryns, 2011; Viale, 2012). This, combined with the added time, resources, and expense for undertaking gene expression analysis, has been a major barrier for adopting these signatures (Alluri & Newman, 2014). So immunohistochemical surrogates were developed which can classify the breast cancer to similar intrinsic subtypes. While ER, PR and HER2 markers could identify the patients with luminal and HER2 amplified cases, who can be treated with hormonal or HER2 directed therapies respectively, the major challenge has been identifying BLBCs and distinguishing between luminal A and B subtypes. Though both luminal A and B subtypes comprised of ER associated genes, luminal B had poorer survival. On closer evaluation, luminal B subtype was enriched for proliferation genes such as CCNB1, MKI67 (Ki67) and MYBL2 (Sørlie et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2006). Hence there was a recommendation to use proliferation marker Ki67 in IHC to subclassify the luminal breast cancer into luminal A and B subtypes (Cheang et al., 2009). Cheang et al. proposed the use of ER, PR, HER2, EGFR and cytokeratin 5/6 antibodies in IHC to classify BLBCs (Cheang et al., 2008; Nielsen et al., 2004). Further, statistically defined gene set of 50 genes called PAM50 (Prediction Analysis of Microarray 50) was developed using correlations from microarray and qPCR data, so that it can be used in an easy qPCR format and suitable also for formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) samples. Interestingly, the PAM50 identified that almost one-third of HER2 amplified intrinsic subtype by PAM50 were not clinically HER2 positive and not detected by IHC and also 6% of clinically HER2 positive tumors were classified as basal-like by PAM50 (Parker et al., 2009). PAM50 is currently approved by US FDA and being administered in a Nanostring format (Wallden et al., 2015). Though the discordance between IHC profiling and gene expression profiles have been acknowledged by the physician experts, it was surprising to see even in the latest breast cancer treatment guideline updates that immunohistochemistry is still considered a superior standard than these signatures for breast cancer classification (Allison et al., 2020). Recently, the 17th St. Gallen international breast cancer conference experts updated the clinicopathologic surrogate definitions for intrinsic breast cancer subtypes. They classified breast cancer into Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2 positive and Triple Negative subtypes as depicted in the Figure 4. The group also recommended use of gene-expression signatures for classifying the luminal subtype into luminal A or B depending on the risk of recurrence. Surprisingly, the group also found that staining for basal keratins for classifying TNBCs further into BLBCs was not reproducible for general use and since there was an estimated 80% overlap in the TNBC and BLBCs

they decided to stick to previous triple-negative classification and use it interchangeably for BLBCs (Burstein et al., 2021).



Figure 4: Breast cancer intrinsic classification based on the immunohistology surrogates, as per the 17th St. Gallen International Breast cancer conference, as adapted from (Burstein et al. 2021) created using Biorender.com.

2.4.2 Treatment of breast cancer

The choice of breast cancer treatment is determined based on several factors such as molecular subtype, patient's risk of relapse, tumor size, lymph node involvement, age, menopausal status, and preferences of the patient. In early breast cancer the aim of the treatment is to eliminate tumor from the breast and lymph nodes to prevent metastases whereas in metastatic breast cancer, the goal is to prolong life and overall well-being of the patients (Cardoso et al., 2019; Waks & Winer, 2019; Loibl et al., 2021). In early breast cancer the preferred choice of treatment is breast conserving surgery. If the tumor margins are difficult to determine or if breast conservation is not possible then mastectomy is performed. If the tumors are large, systemic chemotherapy maybe started before the surgery (neoadjuvant chemotherapy) to
shrink the tumor and improve the surgical outcomes. In luminal A subtype, neoadjuvant chemotherapy is given only if the risk of recurrence is high based on the gene-expression signatures. It has been reported that 40% of tumors requiring mastectomy could be converted to breast conserving surgery on treatment with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (Golshan et al., 2016). Patients undergoing breast conserving surgery are treated with post-operative radiotherapy and endocrine therapies (in ER+ breast cancer); or adjuvant chemotherapy (all subtypes); or chemotherapy in combination with anti-HER2 therapies trastuzumab/pertuzumab (for HER2+ breast cancer) (Cardoso et al., 2019).

In metastatic ER+ breast cancer, CDK4/6 inhibitors (palbociclib, ribociclib and abemaciclib) are used in combination with endocrine therapy drugs, and if the disease progresses, they may be treated with mTOR inhibtors in combination with endocrine therapy. If the patients are positive for PIK3CA amplification, they may be treated with PIK3CA inhibitor alpelisib in combination with endocrine therapies, although alpelisib does not currently have reimbursement in Finland. If all the tried lines of targeted treatments fail, or if the patient has risk of organ failure they are started off on chemotherapy (Gennari et al., 2021). In metastatic HER2+ breast cancer, taxane chemotherapy in combination with anti-HER2 therapies such as trastuzumab and pertuzumab is the recommended first line therapy irrespective of the ER status. Approximately after six to eight cycles of chemotherapy, trastuzumabpertuzumab are given as a maintenance therapy. If the disease is ER+, then endocrine therapies can also be added to the maintenance therapy. The second line treatments in metastatic HER2+ breast cancer are antibody drug conjugates such as trastuzumab-deruxtecan or trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1) (Gennari et al., 2021; Loibl et al., 2021). Recently a combination with tucatinib, capecitabine and trastuzumab was approved for brain metastases from HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer patients (Murthy et al., 2020).

For metastatic TNBC patients, the first line of treatment is determined based on PD-L1 or BRCA status. In PD-L1+ cases, atezolizumab (PD-L1) inhibitors in combination with albumin bound paclitaxel (nab-paclitaxel) or pembrolizumab (PD-1 inhibitor) in combination with taxane chemotherapy are recommended. In case of BRCA1/2 mutant patients, platinum-based chemotherapy (instead of taxanes), or PARP inhibitors are recommended. In all the other cases, the patients are treated with anthracycline & taxane combination chemotherapy (Loibl et al., 2021). If the disease still progresses, they are treated with sacituzumab govitecan (SG) an antibody drug conjugate that contains an antibody that targets trophoblast cell surface antigen -2 (Trop-2) linked to SN38 a metabolite of irinotecan. In ASCENT study, SG prolonged the overall survival compared to standard chemotherapy (10.9 months vs 4.9 months) (O'Shaughnessy et al., 2021; Carey et al., 2022) and if the

disease further progresses, they are treated with eribulin, vinorelbine or capecitabine chemotherapy (Gennari et al., 2021).

2.4.3 Basal-like breast cancer (BLBC)

2.4.3.1 Hallmarks of BLBC

Basal like breast cancer (BLBC) accounts for 15-20% of breast cancer cases. Contrary to luminal breast cancer, BLBC is more common in premenopausal women and is more prevalent in women with increased parity, an earlier age at menarche, and an earlier age at first pregnancy (Toft & Cryns, 2011). Using IHC, BLBC can be defined by a) No expression of ER, PR and HER2 receptors; b) expression of basal cytokeratins such as CK5/6, CK14 and CK17; c) EGFR positivity or amplification; and d) High Ki67, but there is no standard and internationally accepted consensus definition of BLBC (Banerjee et al., 2006; E. A. Rakha et al., 2008; Badve et al., 2011). Other markers that are sometimes used are positivity for smooth muscle actin (SMA), Vimentin or p63 (Livasy et al., 2006). In the last two decades, advances in next generation sequencing has made enormous strides in our understanding of the molecular portraits of different breast cancer subtypes, especially BLBC (Perou et al., 2000; Sørlie et al., 2001; Sotiriou et al., 2003). BLBCs are characterized by high degree of genome instability due to mutation in one or more of p53, PTEN, pRB, BRCA, p16 leading to high number of DNA losses and gains compared with other breast cancer subtypes (E. A. Rakha et al., 2008; Badve et al., 2011; Prat et al., 2015). There is emerging evidence that in many sporadic BLBCs, BRCA1 might be expressed normally but epigenetic or other genetic alterations maybe present in genes associated with BRCA such as RAD50, BLM, ATM or genes of FA pathway which would phenocopy BRCA1/2 mutations, a concept known as "BRCAness" (Turner et al., 2004; De Summa et al., 2013; Toft & Cryns, 2011). The other common trait of BLBCs is high proliferative activity associated with increased Myc, E2F activity, Cyclin E1 overexpression (Sotiriou et al., 2003; Alles et al., 2009; Milioli et al., 2017) and EGFR expression (or amplification in minority of cases) (Badve et al., 2011; E. Rakha & Reis-Filho, 2009).

TNBC is used as a surrogate for BLBCs in the clinic, and while they may have a lot of similarities and are used interchangeably, they are not the same biologically (Alluri & Newman, 2014). Triple-negative tumors with basal features (BL-TNBCs) have higher mitotic indices and more aggressive progression compared to the triplenegative tumors with non-basal features (10-year survival 56% vs 75.5%) (Rakha et al., 2009). It was reported that BLBCs have better response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy compared to the ER+ breast cancer subtype which could be explained by high mitotic indices (Colleoni et al., 2004). Another study reported that BL- TNBCs are less responsive to anthracycline chemotherapy compared to non BL-TNBCs (Conforti et al., 2007). Lehmann et al. classified the TNBC tumors based on gene expression profiles into 6 distinct subtypes. The Basal like 1 subgroup were enriched for Cell cycle and DDR genes while the Basal like 2 subgroup was enriched for Growth factor signaling components such as EGF, MET, Wnt/ β Catenin (Lehmann et al., 2011).

2.4.3.2 Clinical challenges of BLBC

Breast cancer is genomically one of the most widely characterized cancer subtypes. Despite massive sequencing efforts, there has not been much success in identifying genomic drivers for BLBC (Banerji et al., 2012; Koboldt et al., 2012; Pereira et al., 2016). The search for somatic driver mutations in BLBC thus far only identified TP53 and BRCA1/2 mutations (Koboldt et al., 2012). Although only a tiny percentage of BLBC patients have BRCA mutations, which can be treated with PARP inhibitors, p53 activation therapies have not had much success. Additionally, because p53 is a transcription factor, drugging it has its own set of difficulties (Wallis et al., 2023). In the clinic, triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) is used as a surrogate for BLBC as the EGFR and basal cytokeratin expression required to distinguish BLBC from TNBC are not assessed routinely (Alluri & Newman, 2014; Burstein et al., 2021). Also, since majority of the BLBC tumors are of triple-negative origin, they lack the expression of breast specific surface receptors ER, PR and HER2 which can be targeted (Toft & Cryns, 2011). While immune checkpoint inhibitors and antibody drug conjugates such as sacituzimab govitecan have been approved for use in metastatic TNBC settings, they are not applicable to all BLBCs. Hence one of the major challenges of BLBC has been poor understanding of molecular mechanisms that drive this cancer so that better therapies to target all BLBCs can be developed.

As there are no drivers which can be therapeutically targeted, chemotherapy is the sole choice for many BLBC patients (Yin et al., 2020; Marra et al., 2020). Because BLBC progresses aggressively, even the early diagnosed patients are started off on rigorous polychemotherapy. This is primarily to prevent the risk of distant metastases in these patients. While polychemotherapy decreases the risk of metastases by one-third, it also causes overtreatment. It has been estimated that among the early breast cancer patients that get adjuvant chemotherapy, only 20-30% of the patients receive the benefit, and the others are subjected to unwanted side effects (Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), 2019; Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) et al., 2012). Though BLBC is highly heterogenous and encompasses multiple diseases, they are all treated uniformly with the same chemotherapy regimen (Marra et al., 2020). Within BLBC, some patients have significant recurrence rates during the first 3-5 years, whilst others live for more than 10 years, with some patients in the latter category having a better prognosis than luminal breast cancer (Milioli et al., 2017). Existing gene expression profiling techniques such as MammaPrint, PAM50, Oncotype DX etc. have been developed as prognostic and predictive tools and can indicate which patients have high risk of recurrence and thereby advisable to treat with chemotherapy (Alluri & Newman, 2014; Vieira & Schmitt, 2018; Allison et al., 2020). But the challenge is that these diagnostic tools mainly work for ER+ breast cancer patients and not really implemented for aggressive breast cancer (Gagan et al., 2020). To summarize, all the above-mentioned factors indicate that there is a great clinical unmet need for developing better treatment stratification and personalized medicine approaches for BLBC.

2.5 DNA Damage Response (DDR) signaling in cancer

The human genome is subjected to extensive assault each day from a range of endogenous and exogenous sources which cause distinct types of changes in the DNA structure. The eukaryotic cells have evolved a complex integrated and interconnected signaling cascade collectively known as DNA damage response (DDR) which not only detects this damage but also ensures that it is repaired faithfully. The DDR also activates cell cycle checkpoints that arrest cells and provide the necessary time needed to repair the damage before progressing further in the cell cycle. In case the damage is beyond repair, DDR pushes the cells towards senescence or apoptosis. Failure to repair the damage or to repair them incorrectly leads to the formation of mutations. If the mutations occur in genes that are involved in genome maintenance and cell cycle, and thereby compromises the checkpoints, this leads to the accumulation of further mutations causing genomic instability or chromosomal aberrations that eventually lead to cancer (Ciccia & Elledge, 2010; Jackson & Bartek, 2009; Pilié et al., 2019).

2.5.1 Sources of DNA damage

The endogenous DNA damage mainly arises from cellular processes such as replication, metabolism, and inflammatory response. The chemical makeup of the DNA makes it susceptible to spontaneous hydrolysis in an aqueous environment (N. Chatterjee & Walker, 2017). The modifications can occur in DNA by base loss due to depurination or interconversion of bases due to deamination. DNA can also be chemically modified by alkylation or damaged by free radicals such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) generated during cellular metabolism and inflammatory response (Ciccia & Elledge, 2010;

Hoeijmakers, 2009; Kawanishi et al., 2006). During replication, the most common damage that occurs is the incorporation of wrong nucleotides. The external sources of DNA damage include environmental factors like ultraviolet (UV) rays, ionizing radiation (IR, such as X-rays and cosmic rays), and chemical agents like chemotherapeutics and cigarette smoke (Ciccia & Elledge, 2010; Jackson & Bartek, 2009; Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). UV rays cause pyrimidine dimers and other photo products whereas cigarette smoke and platinum-based chemotherapy drugs cause the formation of bulky adducts. IR and other chemotherapeutics cause DNA crosslinks or single strand breaks (SSBs). The SSBs if unrepaired, get converted to double strand breaks (DSBs) which are highly cytotoxic to the cell, and hence require immediate attention (Ciccia & Elledge, 2010; Hoeijmakers, 2009; Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). The DSBs are also considered to be mutagenic as they can form basis for chromosomal translocations (Bunting & Nussenzweig, 2013).

The chemical agents both human-generated and coming from the environment, which cause cancer are termed carcinogens. A carcinogen can be classified as a "genotoxic carcinogen", if it can cause cancer by directly binding or damaging the DNA or a "non-genotoxic carcinogen" if it causes cancer by indirect mechanisms not related to direct DNA binding or damage (Hayashi, 1992; van Delft et al., 2004). A recent study by Serena Nik-Zainal and colleagues evaluated the mutational signatures by whole genome sequencing of 324 induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) exposed to 79 carcinogens. Intriguingly, each mutagen produced its unique characteristic signature some of which matched the signatures found in human malignancies. The study also revealed mutagens which showed a mixture of signatures. This resource and approach can be used in the future to identify and associate the exact causative carcinogen for a particular cancer type (Kucab et al., 2019).

2.5.2 Mechanisms of DNA repair

Depending on the type of damage, eukaryotes have evolved distinct repair mechanisms and pathways that are non-redundant to a greater extent but at the same time can be compensated by other pathways in case of absence or defects in the optimal pathway (Jackson & Bartek, 2009). Every repair pathway typically comprises four major components – sensors, signal transducers, mediators, and effectors. Sensors are proteins that initiate the DDR by recognizing the aberrant DNA structures. Transducers are master kinases (ATM, ATR, and DNA-PK) that phosphorylate downstream factors and amplify the signal. Effectors are substrates of the kinases and are involved in the downstream cell cycle, DNA replication, repair, and apoptosis process. Mediators are proteins that are involved in the overall DDR

signaling cascade between the sensors and effectors (Harper & Elledge, 2007; Maréchal & Zou, 2013; Lozano et al., 2021). It is estimated that the DDR signaling comprises 450 different proteins and defects in at least 100 of these genes predispose individuals to cancer or other diseases (O'Connor, 2015; Pearl et al., 2015). This dissertation focuses on components of the base-excision repair and double strand break repair pathways, especially homologous recombination repair and hence they are covered in more detail while the rest of the pathways are briefly summarized in the subsequent chapters. The most important DNA damage sources and their repair mechanisms are summarized in the schematic **Figure 5**.



Figure 5: Sources of DNA damage and their repair pathways, created with Biorender.com.

2.5.2.1 Double strand break repair

The double strand breaks (DSBs) are repaired by two major pathways Non-Homologous End Joining (NHEJ) and Homologous Recombination Repair (HRR). There are alternatives to these pathways – alternative End Joining (alt-EJ) and Single Strand Annealing (SSA) that become active in case of defects or unavailability of important factors in these predominant pathways. The NHEJ is pathway is also called canonical/classical NHEJ (c-NHEJ) to distinguish it from the alt-EJ pathways. c-NHEJ is active throughout the cell cycle but predominant in G0/G1. The NHEJ pathway repairs the damage by blunt end ligation and is therefore slightly error prone/mutagenic because it may cause small deletions of ~1-4 nucleotides. HRR pathway on the other hand requires extra copy of undamaged DNA which can be used as a homology template for accurate repair. It is therefore active only in S/G2 phases of cell cycle (Ceccaldi et al., 2016; Scully et al., 2019). The first step of the DSB repair process is the activation of PI3K-like kinases (PI3KK) ATM (Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated), ATR (Ataxia Telangiectasia and Rad3 related) and DNA-PKcs (DNA dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit). The breaks generated by ionizing radiation are detected by DNA-PK and ATM kinases, whereas the breaks arising from replication stress or replication fork collapse forming single stranded DNA (ssDNA) are detected by ATR kinase (Shiloh, 2003). On detection of the damage, these kinases get activated by auto-phosphorylation. But in order to prevent promiscuous activation the process is tightly regulated, and each of these kinases need a co-factor protein to be recruited to the site of the damage. Ku80, part of the Ku heterodimer recruits DNA-PK; NBS1 belonging to the MRN (MRE11, RAD50, NBS1) complex recruits ATM; and ATRIP (ATR interacting protein) recruits ATR (Blackford & Jackson, 2017).

c-NHEJ begins by the binding of Ku70-Ku80 heterodimer to the DSBs, which recruits the DNA-PKcs and subsequently activates and recruits other c-NHEJ components to the site of damage such as DNA Ligase IV (LIG4) and its associated scaffolding protein XRCC4 (X-ray repair cross complementing 4) or XRCC4 like factor (XLF) or paralog of XRCC4 and XLF (PAXX). If the DSB creates blunt ends, the Ku70-Ku80 dimer can directly bind to the DSB and ligate the ends with the help of XRCC4-LIG4. If short single strand DNA overhangs are generated, a nuclease Artemis cleaves off the overhangs and Ku dimer binding can get re-established at the damaged site. If the small overhangs are incompatible for end processing or end joining by Artemis or XRCC4-LIG4, then DNA Polymerase μ or λ (POLM, POLLPOI μ/λ) maybe involved in an iterative end resection and nucleotide synthesis to generate short sequence of base pairing followed by end ligation (Chang et al., 2017; Scully et al., 2019).

HRR is initiated with recognition of DSB by MRN complex and ATM activation. ATM phosphorylates histone tail H2AX in the vicinity of the DSB (phospho-serine 139 of H2AX known as γ -H2AX). γ -H2AX is a critical requirement for signal amplification and recruitment of downstream DSB repair factors (Bonner et al., 2008; J. Yuan et al., 2010). Mediator of DNA damage Checkpoint protein 1 (MDC1) is first recruited to the damage site via tandem BRCT (BRCA1 C Terminal) domains which recognize the phosphorylation of γ -H2AX. Tandem BRCT domains found on several DDR proteins are evolutionarily conserved and have a phosphopeptide binding capacity. MDC1 also further recruits MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 complex (MRN) and ATM which creates a positive feedback loop that propagates the γ -H2AX to more distal chromatin regions (Stucki & Jackson, 2006). MDC1 recruits RING E3 ubiquitin ligases RNF8 and RNF168 which work together to extend the ubiquitin chains on the H2A type histones. The H2A ubiquitination cascade creates a binding platform for RAP80 and its associated proteins such as Abraxas. The RAP80 complex is necessary for the recruitment of BRCA1 to the DSBs (Al-Hakim et al., 2010; Bartocci & Denchi, 2013). BRCA1 along with its interacting partner BARD1 ubiquitylate and recruit CtIP (C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) interacting protein) which along with MRE11 regulate short range end resection. CtIP further increases the end resection by regulating BLM (Bloom Syndrome) Helicase, DNA2 Endonuclease, and Exonuclease 1 (EXO1) which leads to the binding of RPA on the ssDNA. PALB2 (Promoter and localizer of BRCA2) and BRCA2 promote the replacement of RPA with RAD51. RAD51 loaded ssDNA can invade the sister chromatid with homologous sequence followed by formation of displacement loops (D-loops), RAD51 disassembly and accurate synthesis of the new strand. (Ceccaldi et al., 2016; Ohta et al., 2011; Scully et al., 2019).

DSBs can also be repaired by SSA, and alt-EJ also known as microhomology mediated end joining (MMEJ). These pathways were initially thought to be a backup to the major NHEJ and HRR pathways without much relevance to the normal physiological situations, but recent literature indicates that these pathways are also active in normal cells (McVey & Lee, 2008). The pathway of choice is determined by the extent of end resection, types of DDR factors available and cell cycle phase (All scenarios and choices depicted in schematic Figure 6). c-NHEJ is the pathway of choice in G0/G1 despite its mutagenicity because of its fast kinetics. NHEJ is favored in non-resected DSB ends or if the resected ends are less than 20 nucleotides long (Ceccaldi et al., 2016; Chang et al., 2017). Another form of regulation comes from 53BP1 (p53 binding protein 1), a positive regulator of c-NHEJ whose recruitment to the chromatin inhibits BRCA1 recruitment. Also, 53BP1 along with its interacting partners RIF1 and Shieldin complex protect the DSB ends from end resecting nucleases (Noordermeer et al., 2018). In BRCA mutant cancer DYNLL1 prevents end resection by inhibiting MRE-11 and it was identified that DYNLL1 loss restores HR in BRCA mutant cancer, which has been implicated as a mechanism of resistance for platinum compounds and PARP inhibitors (He et al., 2018). When c-NHEJ is compromised or defective, alt-EJ or MMEJ is preferred which needs short range resection to detect small homologies (microhomologies) that are annealed together. The MMEJ pathway requires a unique polymerase with helicase activity DNA polymerase theta (Pol0, POLQ) along with CtIP and MRN (for short range resection) and regulated by PARP1. Because of involvement of POLQ, this pathway is also termed as TMEJ (Theta mediated End Joining). This pathway has gained a lot of attention in recent years based on the observation that POLQ is upregulated in a lot of human cancers and associated with poor survival and genetic instability in these cancers (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Chang et al., 2017; Lemée et al., 2010).



Figure 6: DNA double strand break repair scenarios and pathway choices. Adapted from (Ceccaldi et al. 2016; Chang et al. 2017), made using Biorender.com.

In late S or G2 phases, when there is an extra sister chromatid this favors extensive end resection promoting RAD51 dependent strand invasion and HRR pathway. When RAD51 is defective or other components of the HRR are not available, SSA is preferred. SSA is a RAD-51 independent mechanism which searches for long homology regions and promotes annealing with large deletions. This strand annealing is performed by RAD52 and before ligation, the unannealed non-homologous ssDNA pairs are processed and removed by XPF-ERCC1 (part of the NER pathway) and MSH2-MSH3 (part of the MMR pathway) (Bhargava et al., 2016; Ceccaldi et al., 2016).

2.5.2.2 Other DNA repair pathways and their role in DDR

Base excision repair

Single base damage that is non-helix distorting are repaired by the Base Excision Repair (BER) pathway in which the damaged base is detected and excised by a distinct glycosylase specific to the type of modification (**Figure 7**), which creates an apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) site (Thompson & Cortez, 2020). The AP sites are very unstable and during the BER, they can sometimes get converted to single strand breaks (SSBs) which recruit the SSB sensor poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP1/2) proteins at the site of the damage. Due to this, there is a lot of overlap and crosstalk between the SSB repair and BER pathways (Caldecott, 2008). When DNA replication and transcription machinery encounter an AP site, they get stalled and can lead to formation of DSBs and hence these AP sites are considered mutagenic (Thompson & Cortez, 2020). The AP sites are cleaved off by AP endonucleases (APE1/2) and repaired by gap filling DNA synthesis. There are two types of gap filling synthesis in BER- Short Patch Base Excision Repair (LP-BER) in which only 1 nucleotide is repaired or Long Patch Base Excision Repair (LP-BER) in which 2-12 nucleotides can be repaired (**Figure 7**) (Krokan & Bjoras, 2013).

In SP-BER, DNA polymerase β (POLB, Pol β) is recruited to fill the gaps and DNA Ligase 3 (LIG3) seals the nicks. X-ray repair cross-complementing 1 (XRCC1) serves as the scaffolding protein for bringing different repair enzymes to the damage site in SP-BER. LP-BER mainly uses replication proteins for the repair, and it is therefore mainly active in proliferating cells. The gaps are filled by DNA strand displacing activity of DNA polymerase δ or ε (POLD/E, Pol δ/ε) which removes up to 12 nucleotides, generating a flap which is later removed by flap endonuclease1 (FEN1) and sealed by DNA Ligase I (LIG1). The Replication factor C (RFC)-Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA) complex serve as accessory proteins which recruit POLD/E and LIG1. Also, XRCC1 interacts with PCNA and is necessary for accumulation of RFC-PCNA at SSB sites. SP-BER is the predominant pathway, but the preferred pathway of choice is determined by the cell type, cell cycle phase, type of damage, initial glycosylase and the ATP concentration in the cells (Beard et al., 2019; Krokan & Bjoras, 2013; Petermann, 2003; Thompson & Cortez, 2020).



Figure 7: Schematic of the BER along with SP-BER, LP-BER and the functions of the glycosylases involved, adapted from (Krokan & Bjoras, 2013) made with Biorender.com.

Nucleotide excision repair

Helix distorting bulky lesions such as chemical adducts, UV induced pyrimidine dimers or photoproducts, and intra-strand crosslinks are repaired by the Nucleotide Excision Repair (NER). There are two main pathways of NER - Global Genome NER (GG-NER) in which damage is detected throughout the genome and Transcription coupled NER (TC-NER) for large lesions that hinder the transcription machinery during RNA synthesis (D'Souza et al., 2022; Marteijn et al., 2014).

The key proteins involved in the detection and processing of GG-NER (XPA to XPG) are named after *Xeroderma Pigmentosum* (XP), a disorder characterized by extreme sensitivity to sunlight caused by defective NER. Depending on the type of lesion there are two different recognition sensor proteins implicated in GG-NER. The cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) are recognized by UV-DNA Damage binding (UV-DDB) complex- comprising of DDB1 and XPE subunits whereas the photoproducts are recognized by XPC heterotrimer comprising of XPC-RAD23-Centrin2 (CETN2) proteins that continuously probe for helix distorting lesions across the genome. Detection of the bulky lesion triggers the dissociation of RAD23

from the trimer and recruitment of transcription factor IIH (TFIIH) along with XPA at the damage site. XPA verifies the damage whereas the TFIIH comprising of two helicase subunits XPB and XPD unwind the helix. The strand opposite to the damaged strand is coated with Replication Protein A (RPA) to prevent reannealing of the strands. Two incisions are made by ERCC1 (Excision repair cross complementing protein 1)-XPF complex and XPG endonucleases followed by gap-filling DNA synthesis by DNA polymerase and nick sealing by DNA Ligase (D'Souza et al., 2022; Hoeijmakers, 2009; Kusakabe et al., 2019).

Defects in TC-NER leads to *Cockayne's Syndrome* (CS) which causes neuronal dysfunction, growth, and developmental defects and the proteins involved in TC-NER are named after CS, as CSA and CSB. RNA Polymerase II (RNAPII) gets stalled at the bulky lesions. CSB recognizes the stalled RNAPII site and recruits CSA and subsequently TFIIH. The rest of repair process overlaps with GG-NER. The lesion is excised and gap filling DNA synthesis ensues (van den Heuvel et al., 2021).

Mismatch repair

DNA replication is highly faithful, and it is estimated that cells accumulate less than one mutation per genome per cell division (Drake et al., 1998). The most common error that occurs during replication is the incorporation of wrongly paired nucleotides (mismatch) or insertion-deletion loops (IDLs) that arise from slippage of strands at tandemly repeated nucleotide sites (termed microsatellites) (Baretti & Le, 2018). IDLs cause insertions or deletions in the daughter cells if unrepaired. The errors during replication are corrected almost instantaneously by the intrinsic proofreading activity of the DNA polymerases δ or ε . Some errors that escape the proofreading activity are repaired post replication by mismatch repair (MMR). This damage is transient because there is no way to detect the change once the new replication begins and therefore, the most important criterion for efficient MMR is to correct the mismatch or IDLs before the next round of replication. The combined proofreading and MMR activities ensure that the DNA is copied with high fidelity. This is needed to prevent the formation of mutations and degenerative or genetic diseases such as cancer. (Albertson & Preston, 2006; Jiricny, 2013; Kunkel, 2004; Preston et al., 2010). Mismatches and IDLs of up to 2 nucleotides are recognized by MutS α heterodimer (MSH2/MSH6). Larger IDLs are recognized by MutSß heterodimer (MSH2/MSH3). Subsequently the MutLa heterodimer (MLH1/PMS2) gets recruited and traps MutS dimers at the damage site and introduces irregular strand breaks on the mismatched strand. Exonuclease1 (EXO1) gets directed to these strand breaks, creates an excision and the single strand is coated with RPA. PCNA/RFC, POLD, and LIG1 mediate the gap filling DNA synthesis (N. Chatterjee & Walker, 2017; Jiricny, 2013; Pluciennik et al., 2010). Defects or mutations in the MMR pathway

leads to microsatellite instability (MSI) and Lynch syndrome also known as hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer (HNPCC) predisposes individuals to ovarian, colorectal and endometrial cancers (Baretti & Le, 2018; Jiricny, 2013).

Fanconi Anemia pathway

Interstrand cross links (ICLs) are lethal to proliferating cells as they cause replication fork stalling, and this is the rationale for using ICL inducing agents such as cisplatin in cancer chemotherapy. The ICLs are repaired by the Fanconi Anaemia (FA) pathway, which is named after the FA syndrome, a rare genetic disorder caused by defects in atleast one of the 14 key proteins of the FA pathway (The genes involved are named starting with FANC). FA causes ICL sensitivity, congenital abnormalities, and elevated risk of hematological and squamous cell cancers. FA pathway has a lot of overlap between HRR and NER. Hence, cancer cells deficient in HRR are also sensitive to ICL agents. ICLs are detected by FANCM which activate the FA core complex which recruit nucleases and polymerases such as XPF-ERCC1 for NER or BRCA1, PALB2 (also known as FANCN), and BRCA2 (also known as FANCD1) required for the HRR (Deans & West, 2011; Jasin & Rothstein, 2013; Nakanishi et al., 2011).

2.5.3 TopBP1 and ATR signaling in DDR

DNA Topoisomerase II β binding protein 1 (TopBP1) as the name indicates, was discovered as an interacting partner of DNA topoisomerase IIB in a Y2H screen (Yamane et al., 1997). TopBP1 knockout mice in which exons 5 and 6 were conditionally deleted are embryonic lethal indicating that it is essential in embryonic development. Also in mice 3T3 cells, depletion of TopBP1 arrested the cells in G1/S and G2/M checkpoint phases (Jeon et al., 2011). Human TopBP1 has 9 BRCT (BRCA1 C terminus) domains designated as BRCT0 to BRCT8, which is a common motif found in several DDR proteins. They are arranged in pairs of tandem BRCTs, each having atleast one phospho binding motif. For example, BRCT1+2, BRCT4+5 and BRCT7+8 each have one or two phospho binding motifs through which interacts with the components of the DDR. BRCT7+8 is called the canonical BRCT pair as they are similar to the BRCT domains on MDC1 or BRCA1, where BRCT7 has the phospho binding ability and BRCT8 creates an extra binding groove which can be important for substrate specific binding. BRCT 3 and BRCT 6 do not have a phospho binding ability while in BRCT1+2, both have a phospho binding capacity indicating that they can both bind to a phosphopeptide ligand independently. There is an ATR activation domain (AAD) between BRCT 6 and 7, and it is necessary for ATR activation (Day et al., 2021; Wardlaw et al., 2014). The main function of TopBP1

has been associated with its role as an interaction hub or scaffold that can bring several required components of the DDR together. It has been linked to functions such as DNA repair, replication, checkpoint activation, ATR signaling, regulation of transcription, and most recently in chromosome segregation through an interaction with CIP2A (Wardlaw et al., 2014; Bagge et al., 2021; Day et al., 2021; Adam et al., 2021; De Marco Zompit et al., 2022). I will be mainly focusing on roles of TopBP1 in ATR signaling, DNA repair and checkpoint activation as these are the main themes of my dissertation. The role of TopBP1-CIP2A complex in chromosome segregation is discussed in section 2.5.5

2.5.3.1 ATR and Chk1 signaling mediated by TopBP1

Research in the last decade has established TopBP1's role mainly as an activator of ATR (Awasthi et al., 2016; Kumagai et al., 2006). ATR is activated in response to the single stranded DNA (ssDNA) which can arise due to replication stress or resection of DNA during different forms of DNA damage (Blackford & Jackson, 2017; Cimprich & Cortez, 2008). Long stretches of ssDNA are immediately coated by Replication protein A (RPA), and this triggers the initiation of ATR signaling and activation of Chk1 (Zou & Elledge, 2003). The ssDNA that are unbound by RPA are very susceptible to DNA breaks. Toledo et al. reported that in the absence of ATR, stalled replication induces genome wide replication origin firing, creating more ssDNA that quickly depletes the levels of the RPA in the cell, creating a catastrophe, where DNA breaks occur at every replication fork. So, the main role of ATR is to guard the genome from the destabilizing replication stress, and to buy enough time for the replenishment of cellular RPA levels (L. Toledo et al., 2017; L. I. Toledo et al., 2013). ATR activation is a multi-step process and involves many accompanying factors (Awasthi et al., 2016). ATR gets recruited to ssDNA loaded RPA along with its interacting partner ATRIP (ATR interacting protein) (Cortez et al., 2001). Simultaneously, RAD17-RFC 2-5 clamp loader complex loads the RAD9-RAD1-HUS1(9-1-1) clamp adjacent to the ssDNA-bound RPA sites. The C-terminal tail of RAD9 is phosphorylated at serine 387 of RAD9 and this phosphorylation interacts with BRCT1+2 domain of TopBP1, and recruits it to the ssDNA site (Delacroix et al., 2007; J. Lee et al., 2007; J. Lee & Dunphy, 2010). However, later it was identified that it is the MRN complex that is actually important for TopBP1 recruitment to the ATR-ssDNA site, but 9-1-1 is essential for its activity. The MRN complex along with 9-1-1 brings ATR closer to the ATR activation domain (AAD) within TopBP1 which stimulates ATR's kinase activity. This fully activates the ATR (Kumagai et al., 2006; J.-H. Choi et al., 2010; Duursma et al., 2013). TopBP1 can also mediate the ATR dependent Chk1 signaling by interacting with 9-1-1 via RHNO1 (Cotta-Ramusino et al., 2011).

ATR also phosphorylates serine 1131 on TopBP1 activating it and further enhancing the ATR kinase activity (Wardlaw et al., 2014). Activated ATR phosphorylates Claspin on its Chk1 binding domain (CKBD), which recruits inactive Chk1 and brings it to the close proximity of ATR, for ATR to phosphorylate Chk1 and activate downstream checkpoint (Smits et al., 2019). Recently, another ATR activator named ETAA1 (Ewing's tumor associated antigen 1) was discovered which gets recruited to the ssDNA-RPA by direct binding. ETAA1 also has an AAD. Though there is not much sequence similarity with the AAD of TopBP1, it is believed to be activating ATR in the same way as TopBP1 (Bass et al., 2016; Blackford & Jackson, 2017; Thada & Cortez, 2021).

2.5.3.2 Role of TopBP1 in DSB repair

ATM requires TopBP1 for the activation of ATR and downstream Chk1 activation. In the presence of DSBs, ATM phosphorylates TopBP1 S1131 to activate TopBP1 which further stimulates ATR and downstream Chk1 activation, indicating a more critical role of TopBP1 during DSB repair than replication stress (Yoo et al., 2007). The first non ATR activation role of TopBP1 was identified when TopBP1 nuclear foci were colocalized with NBS1 on ionizing radiation, indicating that NBS1 might be regulating the recruitment of TopBP1 at the site of DSBs (Morishima et al., 2007). TopBP1 serves as a scaffold and coordinates both BRCA1 mediated pro-end resection and 53BP1 mediated anti-end resection activities during HR. Stabilization of the 53BP1-TopBP1 interaction, decreased the HR mediated repair (Y. Liu et al., 2017). Jiri Bartek group identified that TopBP1 silencing sensitizes tumor cells to PARP inhibitors. TopBP1 silencing also decreased the number of RAD51 foci at the site of DSBs implicating its role in homologous recombination repair. They also found that TopBP1 was not involved in resection of DNA or binding of ssDNA indicating that TopBP1 is involved in processes downstream of RPA loading which replaces the RPA with RAD51 to enable strand invasion and recombination. They discovered that TopBP1 recruits PLK1 to promote S14 phosphorylation of RAD51, which further allows casein kinase 2 (CK2) to bind and phosphorylate T13 of RAD51, and this double phosphorylation is necessary for RAD51 loading and replacement of RPA on the ssDNA (Moudry et al., 2016). Just recently Zhao et al. resolved yet another complex mechanism of RAD51 replacement of RPA mediated by TopBP1. They identified that HIV Tat-specific factor 1 (HTATSF1) recognizes PARylation on RPA by an RNA recognition motif (RRM) on the N terminus, which facilitates its recruitment to the DSBs. HTATSF1 is phosphorylated on S748 by CK2 and this phosphorylation forms a docking site for TopBP1 through BRCT2, which facilitates the BRCA2/PALB2 mediated replacement of RAD51 on RPA. Notably, the HTATSF1 recruitment on DSBs could be dampened by the PARP inhibitors,

indicating that RPA-RAD51 exchange involves a complex PARylation-Phosphorylation signaling cascade (Roychoudhury & Chowdhury, 2022; Zhao et al., 2022).

2.5.4 Targeting the DDR in cancer

One common trait for most cancers compared to the normal cells is that they have defects in one or more of their DDR pathways leading to a greater dependency on the remaining pathways (O'Connor, 2015; Lord & Ashworth, 2017). This creates a vulnerability that can be potentially targeted by using an approach which has been described as synthetic lethality. Synthetic lethality occurs when defects in either of the two genes has no effect due to the compensation by the other gene but the combination of the defects in both the genes leads to death (O'Neil et al., 2017). The most appreciated successful example of synthetic lethality has been that of PARP inhibitors in BRCA1/2 mutant cancers. BRCA mutant cancers have a defective homologous recombination repair pathway (HRR) making them highly reliant on non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) or Base excision repair (BER) pathways which require the activity of PARP1/2 (poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase) enzymes. Pharmaceutical targeting of PARP1 in these cancers using PARP inhibitors causes synthetic lethality in cancer cells but not in normal cells, which do not have a BRCA mutation (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005; O'Connor, 2015; Pilié et al., 2019).

The PARP inhibitors have a dual effect. First, the PARP inhibitors compete with NAD+ (which is needed for the catalytic activity of the PARP enzyme) trapping the enzyme on the DNA, preventing the repair of SSBs. Secondly, the "PARP trapping" hinders the progression of the replication machinery converting the unrepaired SSBs to DSBs, which are more fatal for the BRCA mutant cells. While most of the PARP inhibitors currently used in the clinic have similar inhibitory effect on the catalytic activity, the difference in clinical activity comes from their PARP trapping efficiencies (Helleday, 2011; Murai et al., 2012). Similar to PARP trapping, BRCA mutant cancers are generally sensitive to compounds that stall the replication forks, creating DSBs. For example, drugs such as topoisomerase inhibitors and platinum salts trap different DNA repair proteins and stall the replication forks, causing DSBs and hence would cause similar effects as PARP inhibitors (Lord & Ashworth, 2016). There was a recent study which indicated that HR defective tumors switch to oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to enhance their cellular supply of NAD+, hence they are more sensitive to OXPHOS inhibitors such as Metformin. It was also reported that switching to glycolytic metabolism in these HR defective tumors would also affect the PARP inhibitor sensitivity (Lahiguera et al., 2020). Since the frequency of BRCA1/2 mutations is quite low (1-5%), Davies et al. developed a

signature called HRDetect which can be used to predict the inactivation of genes (both by mutations and promoter methylations) that phenocopy BRCA1/2 mutation or homologous recombination defect – collectively called "BRCAness" and the idea is that these BRCAness cancers (accounting for a larger frequency) would also sensitize to PARP inhibitors (Davies et al., 2017)

2.5.5 Role of PP2A and CIP2A in HR and DDR

PP2A is involved in the phospho regulation of all the PIKK family kinases ATM, ATR and DNA-PK and also the downstream Chk1 and Chk2 kinases (D.-H. Lee & Chowdhury, 2011; Zheng et al., 2015). ATM interacts with the A and C subunit of PP2A and okadaic acid treatment causes the induction of ATM autophosphorylation. Also DNA damage by IR caused dissociation of PP2A from ATM in a phosphorylation dependent manner, indicating that PP2A regulates the ATM phosphorylation (Goodarzi et al., 2004). It was later identified that this phosphorylation is regulated by PP2A-B55a, and loss of B55a, increases ATM phosphorylation and Chk2 activation, causing a G1/S arrest which leads to downregulation of RAD51 and BRCA1, causing a susceptibility to PARP inhibitors (Kalev et al., 2012). Two independent recent studies have further validated these findings. A pooled shRNA screen identified that loss of PP2A-B55a induced sensitization of lung cancer cells to ATR and Chk1 inhibitors (Qiu et al., 2020). Also, activation of PP2A-B55a by loss of FAM122A, causes dephosphorylation and stabilization of WEE1 which induces the resistance to ATR and Chk1 inhibitors (F. Li et al., 2020). PP2A dephosphorylates members of the DNA-PK complex including DNA-PKcs, Ku80 and Ku70 proteins (Douglas et al., 2001). Similarly, PP2A was found to regulate the phosphorylation of ATR in the presence of human immunodeficiency virus Vpr but not in presence of UV or hydroxyurea (G. Li et al., 2007).

PP2A mediates removal of γ H2AX from the site of DSB by dephosphorylation, and loss of PP2A leads to inefficient repair and sustained γ H2AX foci, which also sensitize the cells to DNA damage (Chowdhury et al., 2005). It was later identified that B56¢ containing PP2A complexes are responsible for the dephosphorylation of γ H2AX (X. Li et al., 2015). PP2A is also responsible for the attenuation of RPA32 phosphorylation and efficient DNA repair, which allows the cells to progress further in the cell cycle. Loss of PP2A causes hyperphosphorylation of RPA32 and sensitivity to hydroxy urea (HU) (Feng et al., 2009). When DNA is damaged, ATM and ATR kinases phosphorylate BRCA2 at S1106, S1123 and T1128. These phosphorylations promote the binding of PP2A-B56 to BRCA2 via the LxxIxE recognition site. BRCA2-PP2A-B56 complex binding is necessary for the PALB2 dependent replacement of RPA with RAD51 on the end resected DNA during homologous recombination repair (Ambjørn et al., 2021). PP2A enhances the stability of TopBP1 at the site of DNA damage, by regulating dephosphorylation mediated nuclear localization of deubiquitinase OTUD6A, which prevents TopBP1 interaction with its ubiquitin E3 ligase UBR5 (Zhao et al., 2022).

CIP2A loss sensitizes cells to ATR inhibition and other genotoxins such as camptothecin (Hustedt et al., 2019; Olivieri et al., 2020). Also, CIP2A was among the top 10 genes which were commonly essential for cellular fitness in both BRCA1 KO and BRCA2 KO screens. Also, CIP2A showed synthetic lethality with BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2 and FANCM in a p53 mutant cell line (Adam et al., 2021). In this thesis, I have identified the novel role of CIP2A as an interaction partner of TopBP1. We have identified a role of CIP2A-TopBP1 in G2/M progression of DNA damaged cells (discussed in detail in the Results and Discussion sections). Ever since, the role of CIP2A-TopBP1 complex has been implicated in maintenance of genome stability and chromosome segregation, as demonstrated by two independent studies. Durocher group found that CIP2A-TopBP1 is involved in the proper chromosomal segregation in cells entering into mitosis with under replicated DNA (Adam et al., 2021). Stucki group found that the CIP2A-TopBP1 is involved in genome stability and proper segregation of chromosomes after DSBs that arise in mitosis. They also indicated that MDC1 is also a part of the complex with CIP2A-TopBP1 that is involved in this process (De Marco Zompit et al., 2022).

BLBC is the most aggressive and challenging breast cancer subtype in the clinic. Firstly, there are no surface markers (ER, PR and HER2) and known driver mechanisms which can be therapeutically targeted (except maximum 5% cases that BRCA1/2 mutations). Secondly, BLBC and TNBC have are almost indistinguishable in the clinic as the IHC markers to separate BLBC from TNBC are not part of the standard guidelines and hence not assessed. All BLBC patients are treated with aggressive chemotherapy though some of these patients might not require such aggressive chemotherapy and could be spared from the side effects. Some patients do not respond well to the chemotherapy, and this could be attributed to poor patient stratification methods. Many gene expression signatures proposed as predictive and prognostic biomarkers are able to identify patients who would benefit from chemotherapy, but they are currently only applicable to ER+ breast cancer patients. There is a need for similar tools for BLBC. Also, there are no diagnostic tools that can be used for tailoring personalized therapies in breast cancer.

The main objectives of my thesis have been to address these clinical unmet needs in the form of two subprojects (listed below), which have also led to two publications included in the thesis.

The specific aims of my dissertation are:

- I. To identify novel driver mechanisms that can be therapeutically targeted for BLBC.
- II. To develop a CIP2A regulated transcriptional signature that can stratify BLBC patients based on aggressivity and can be used for personalized medicine regimens.

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 Cell culture and transfections (I, II)

4.1.1 Cell lines used (I, II)

Before the start of the study, all the commercial cell lines were bought from DSMZ or ATCC. The cell lines that were obtained from collaborators or present in our lab were authenticated using short tandem repeats (STR) profiling by American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, USA) before utilizing them in the studies. The cell lines were frozen at early passage in liquid nitrogen tanks after the first thaw. All the cell lines were negative on testing periodically for mycoplasma using Mycoplasma Detection Kit (Lonza). The human and mouse cells used in the study are listed in **Table 2** and **Table 3**, respectively.

Cell line	Source	Identifier	Growth Medium	Used in
CAL-85-1	DSMZ	ACC-440	DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1mM Sodium Pyruvate+ 1% Pen/strep	I
HAP1	N/A	From Rene Medema group group group group group JN Pen/Strep+ 2 mM L- glutamine		I
HCC1143	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-2321™	RPMI 1640+ 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I
HCC1806	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-2335™	RPMI 1640+ 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I
HCC1937	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-2336™	RPMI 1640+10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I, II
HCC38	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-2314™	RPMI 1640+10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I, II
HCC70	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-2315™	RPMI 1640+ 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I
HDQ-P1	DSMZ	ACC-494	DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	1
HeLa	ATCC	ATCC® CCL-2™	DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I

Table 2: List of human cells used in the study.

Cell line	Source	Identifier	Growth Medium	Used in
MDA-MB-231	ATCC	ATCC® HTB-26™	DMEM+ 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep + 1% Non-Essential Amino Acids (NEAA)	I, II
MDA-MB-436	ATCC	ATCC® HTB-130™	ATCC® HTB-130™ DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	
MDA-MB-468	ATCC	ATCC® HTB-132™	DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I, II
HEK293	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-1573™	DMEM + 10%FBS+ 2mM Glutamine+ 1% Pen/strep	I
MCF10A	ATCC	ATCC® CRL-10317™	DMEM/Nutrient mixture	I
MCF10A- Control	Generated in house	N/A	F-12 (1:1) + 4.5 g/L Glucose+ 5% FBS +10 μg/ml human	I
MCF10A- CIP2AOE	Generated in house	N/A	insulin+ 0.5 µg/ml hydrocortisone+ 100 ng/ml cholera toxin+ 20 ng/ml human EGF + 2mM Glutamine +1% Pen/Strep	I
BCSC1	Jochen Maurer Lab			I
BCSC2	Jochen Maurer Lab		MEBM medium+ 1x B27+1x Amphotericin B+ 4ug/ml	I
BCSC3	Jochen Maurer Lab	(Metzger et al., 2017)	Heparin + 35ug/ml Gentamicin+ 20ng/ml human	I
BCSC4	Jochen Maurer Lab		EGF + 20ng/ml human FGF+ 1% Pen/Strep	I
BCSC5	Jochen Maurer Lab			I

Table 3: List of mouse cells used in the study

Name	Source	Identifier	Growth Medium	Used in
MMEC	Isolated from Cip2a WT and KO mice	(Peuhu et al., 2017)	DMEM: F12 + 10%FBS + 2mM Glutamine + 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100mg/ml streptomycin + 5 ug/ml insulin + 1ug/ml Hydrocortisone +10ng/ml murine EGF+ 50ug/ml Gentamycin	Η
KB1P	Isolated from K14Cre; Brca1 ^{F/F} ; Trp53 ^{F/F} mice tumors	(X. Liu et al., 2007)	Advanced DMEM: F12 +	I
KEP	Isolated from K14Cre; Cdh1 ^{F/F} ; Trp53 ^{F/F} mice tumors	(Derksen et al., 2006)	10%FBS + 2min Gutarnine + 100 IU/ml penicillin,100mg/ml streptomycin + 5 ug/ml insulin	I
WEA	Isolated from Wap-cre; Cdh1 ^{F/F} ; Akt1E17K mice tumors	(Wellenstein et al., 2019)	5ng/ml cholera toxin	I

4.1.2 siRNAs and Plasmid DNAs used (I, II)

Name	Sequence (5'-3') with overhangs	Used in
Non targeting siRNA (siSCR or siCTRL#1 or siCTRL)	CGUACGCGGAAUACUUCGA dTdT	I, II
Non targeting siRNA (siCTRL#2)	UGGUUUACAUGUCGACUAA dTdT	I, II
siCIP2A#1	CUGUGGUUGUGUUUGCACU dTdT	I, II
siCIP2A#2	AAUGCCUUGUCUAGGAUUA dTdT	I, II
siCIP2A#3	CGCAGCAAGUUGAAUCAGA dAdA	I, II
siCHK1	AAGAAAGAGAUCUGUAUCAAU dTdT	I
Non-targeting (NT) control sgRNA Oligo1	caccgACGGAGGCTAAGCGTCGCAA	I
Non-targeting (NT) control sgRNA Oligo2	aaacTTGCGACGCTTAGCCTCCGTc	I
Cip2a#1 sgRNA Oligo1	caccgAATCTGAATAGTGTGCTGTC	I
Cip2a#1 sgRNA Oligo2	aaacGACAGCACACTATTCAGATTc	I
Cip2a#2 sgRNA Oligo1	caccGAGCTAACAATGCCTTGTCT	I
Cip2a#2 sgRNA Oligo2	aaacAGACAAGGCATTGTTAGCTC	I

Table 4: Sequences of siRNA and gRNAs used in the study

 Table 5:
 Plasmids and expression vectors used in the study

Plasmid (Length of amino acids)	Backbone	Source:	Used in
FL-TopBP1-GFP (2-1522)	pIRESNeo2	From Niedzwiedz lab	I
T0-GFP: TopBP1-BRCT 0-6+AAD-GFP (ΔBRCT 7/8) (2-1218)	pIRESNeo2	From Niedzwiedz lab	I
T1-GFP: TopBP1-BRCT 0-6-GFP (2-1026)	pIRESNeo2	From Niedzwiedz lab	Ι
T2-GFP: TopBP1-BRCT 0-5-GFP (2-764)	pIRESNeo2	From Niedzwiedz lab	I
T3-GFP: TopBP1-BRCT 0-3-GFP (2-550)	pIRESNeo2	From Niedzwiedz lab	I
Empty-GFP: (pEGFP-N1)	pEGFP	From Clonetech	I
pcDNA3.1_kozak_CIP2A_1-905_V5His	pcDNA3.1	(J. Wang et al., 2017)	I
pWPI-CIP2A-V5	pWPI	Generated as described in 4.1.4	I
pWPI	pWPI	Addgene (Plasmid #12254)	I
lentiCas9-Blast	pFUGW	Addgene (Plasmid #52962)	I
lentiGuide-Puro	custom	Addgene (Plasmid #52963)	I

4.1.3 Isolation of cells from mouse (I)

Mouse mammary epithelial cells (MMECs) were isolated from $Cip2a^{+/+}(Cip2aWT)$ and Cip2a^{-/-} (Cip2a KO) mouse and cultured in vitro as per the protocol described in (Peuhu et al., 2017). Briefly, fresh mammary glands were pooled from 3-4 mice (~3-4 months old age-matched mice) into ice cold PBS, minced with scalpels and digested with collagenase medium. The epithelial cells were isolated by agitation for 2-3 hours followed by a few iterative centrifugations (1500g, 5 min) until the red blood cells disappear from the pellets. The final colorless pellet is dissociated with Accutase (StemCell Technologies) followed by pipetting up and down to produce single cells which were either cultured for further experiments or taken directly for characterization by flow cytometry analysis. Mouse tumor cell lines KB1P, KEP and WEA were generated from spontaneous mammary tumor producing GEMM models as described in the references listed in Table 3. Briefly, cells were isolated by collecting tumors into ice cold PBS and mincing them with scalpels. The lumps were plated out and after 2-3 passages the homogenous epithelial cell morphology appeared, after which the cells were used for further experiments. While KEP and WEA cells were cultured in standard cell culture conditions, KB1P cells were grown in physiological hypoxia conditions $(3\% O_2)$

4.1.4 Cloning and generation of stable cell lines (I)

Human CIP2A containing V5His tag was cloned from pcDNA3.1_kozak_CIP2A_1-905_V5His (Template) into a lentiviral plasmid pWPI (Addgene#12254) as described in I. Briefly, forward primers including restriction sites for SwaI/PacI and reverse primers for V5His tag were used to amplify the CIP2A-V5His region from the template. Phusion Hot Start II High Fidelity PCR Master Mix (F566S Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used. The PCR product and pWPI were digested with FastDigest SmiI (FD1244 Thermo Fisher Scientific) and Fast Digest PacI (FD2204 Thermo Fisher Scientific). The products were ligated with 2.5 units of T4 DNA ligase (EL0011 Thermo Fisher Scientific). The insert was in 3-fold mass excess than the vector. Bacterial transformation was done in DH5 α competent cells. Purified plasmid was validated with using PCR and Sanger Sequencing before using it for stable cell line generation. Lentiviral particles were prepared for pWPI (empty vector) and CIP2A-V5 cloned pWPI vectors. MCF10A parental cell line was transduced with the lentiviral particles, single cell sorted based on GFP on a Sony SH800 cell sorter, to generate MCF10A-Control and MCF10A-CIP2AOE cell lines.

4.1.5 Transfections (I, II)

The transfections were performed according to the manufacturer's protocols. For siRNA transfections, Oligofectamine or Lipofectamine RNAiMAX were used (both from Invitrogen). For plasmid transfections, jetPRIME reagent (Polyplus) was used.

4.1.6 Colony growth assays (I, II)

Optimized number of cells were seeded into 12 well plates. For siRNA transfectionbased experiments, first the cells were seeded into 6 well plates (Day1), transfected with siRNA (Day2) and then reseeded into 12 well plates (Day 3). The cells were allowed to grow for 7-10 days, with media changes every 2 days. For drug combination testing experiments, drug treatments were done for 72 hours. The cells in the control well were 80% to fully confluent at the conclusion of the experiment. The cell colonies were fixed with cold methanol (stored at -20°C) for 15 minutes, stained with 0.2%crystal violet (in 10% Ethanol) for 10 minutes, and washed a few times with 1X PBS or water. The plates were the dried overnight, scanned and the colony areas were quantified using the Colony Area ImageJ plugin (Guzmán et al., 2014)

4.2 DNA, RNA, and protein analysis (I, II)

4.2.1 Antibodies (I, II)

Target	Host species	Manufacturer	ldentifier	Application & Dilution	Used in
53BP1	Rabbit	Novus Biologicals	NB100-304	IF (1:500)	I
Chk2 (A-12)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-5278	WB (1:100)	I
Chk2 (A-12)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	6334S	WB (1:1000)	I
CIP2A (2G10-3B5)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-80659	WB (1:500), IF (1:50)	I, II
CIP2A Polyclonal	Rabbit	manufactured inhouse	(Hoo et al., 2002)	IHC & PLA (1:500)	I
с-Мус	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	9402-S	WB (1:1000)	Ι
c-Myc (9E10)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-40	WB (1:500), IHC (1:250)	Ι
E2F1(KH95)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-251	WB (1:500)	I

 Table 6:
 List of primary antibodies used in the study.

Target	Host species	Manufacturer	Identifier	Application & Dilution	Used in
ER (1D5)	Mouse	Dako	MA5-13191	IHC (1:1000)	I
GAPDH (6C5,4G5)	Mouse	Hytest	5G4	WB (1:10000)	I, II
GAPDH (6C5,4G5)	Mouse	Santa Cruz	sc-32233	WB (1:5000)	I
GFP	Rabbit	Abcam	ab290	WB (1:2500)	I
GFP (B-2)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-9996	WB (1:1000)	I
HER2	Rabbit	Dako	A0485	IHC (1:250)	I
K14 (Poly19053)	Rabbit	BioLegend (previously Covance)	905301	IHC (1:3000)	I
K8 (Keratin, type II/ Cytokeratin 8 TROMA-I)	Rat	Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank	AB_531826	IHC (1:1000)	I
Ki-67	Rat	eBioscience	14-5698	IHC (1:250)	I
Mouse- CD29-A488 (Itgb1, clone HMβ1- 1)	Hamster	BioLegend	102212	FACS (1:50)	ļ
Mouse CD31-PE/Cy7 (clone MEC 13.3)	Rat	Biolegend	102523	FACS (1:50)	I
Mouse CD45-PE/Cy7 (clone 30-F11)	Rat	Biolegend	103113	FACS (1:100)	I
Mouse TER-119- PE/Cy7	Rat	Biolegend	116221	FACS (1:100)	I
Mouse/Human CD49f -APC (Clone GoH3)	Rat	Biolegend	313615	FACS (1:30)	l
Mouse-CD24-APC (Clone M1/69)	Rat	BD Biosciences	562349	FACS (1:100)	I
Mouse-CD24-FITC (clone M1/69)	Rat	eBioscience	11-0242-81	FACS (1:100)	I
Mouse-CD31-Pacific Blue (Clone 390)	Rat	BioLegend	102422	FACS (1:50)	I
Mouse-CD45-Pacific Blue (clone 30-F11)	Rat	BioLegend	103126	FACS (1:200)	I
Mouse-CD49f-A488 (Itga6, clone GoH3)	Rat	BioLegend	313608	FACS (1:30)	I
Phospho-ATM (Ser1981) (10H11.E12)	Mouse	Cell Signaling Technology	4526S	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-ATM (Ser1981) 10H11.E12	Mouse	Rockland antibodies	200-301- 400	WB (1:500)	I
Phospho-ATR (Thr1989) (D5K8W)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	30632S	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-Chk1 (Ser317)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	2344S	WB (1:1000)	Ι

Target	Host species	Manufacturer	Identifier	Application & Dilution	Used in
Phospho-Chk1 (Ser345) (133D3)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	2348S	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-Chk2 (Thr68) (C13C1)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	2197S	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-cMYC (Ser62)	Rabbit	Abcam	ab51156	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	9101S	WB (1:2000)	I
Phospho-E2F1 (Ser364)	Rabbit	Abcam	ab5391	WB (1:500)	I
Phospho-Histone H2AX (Ser139) (20E3)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	9718S	WB (1:1000)	I
Phospho-Histone H2AX (Ser139) (Clone JBW301)	Mouse	Merck Millipore	05-636	WB (1:1000) IF (1:500)	I
Phospho-Histone H3 (Ser10)	Rabbit	Merck Millipore	06-570	IF (1:1000)	I
PR	Rabbit	Dako	A0098	IHC (1:2000)	I
RAD51(Ab-1)	Rabbit	Merck Millipore	PC130	IF (1:500)	I
TopBP1 (B-7)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-271043	WB (1:500)	I
TopBP1 (Clone 33)	Mouse	BD Biosciences	611874	PLA (1:500)	I
Total ATM	Rabbit	Novus Biologicals	NB100- 104SS	WB (1:1000)	I
Total ATM (D2E2)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	2873S	WB (1:1000)	I
Total ATR	Rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology	2790S	WB (1:1000)	I
Total Chk1 Antibody (G-4)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-8408	WB (1:500)	I
Total Chk1 Antibody (G-4)	Mouse	Cell Signaling Technology	2360S	WB (1:1000)	I
Vinculin (H-10)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-25336	WB (1:1000)	I, II
β-Actin (C4)	Mouse	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-47778	WB (1:3000)	I, II

Target	Host species	Manufacturer	Identifier	Application & Dilution	Used in
Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488	Goat	Invitrogen	A-11011	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	I
Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 555	Goat	Invitrogen	A-21422	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	I
Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 594	Goat	Invitrogen	A-11005	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	I
Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) HRP	Goat	Jackson	115-035- 003	WB (1:5000)	I, II
Anti-Mouse IgG IRDye 680RD	Donkey	Li-COR	926- 68072	WB (1:5000)	I, II
Anti-Mouse IgG IRDye 800CW	Donkey	Li-COR	926- 32212	WB (1:5000)	I, II
Anti-Mouse IgG VeriBlot for IP conformation specific	Rat	Abcam	ab131368	WB (1:5000)	Ι
Anti-Mouse- BrightVision Poly-HRP	Goat	VWR	DPVM110 HRP	IHC	Ι
Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 488	Goat	Invitrogen	A-11008	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	Ι
Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 555	Goat	Invitrogen	A-21428	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	Ι
Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) Alexa Fluor 594	Goat	Invitrogen	A-11012	IF (1:250- 1:1000)	I
Anti-Rabbit IgG IRDye 680RD	Donkey	Li-COR	926- 68073	WB (1:5000)	I, II
Anti-Rabbit IgG IRDye 800CW	Donkey	Li-COR	926- 32213	WB (1:5000)	I, II
Anti-Rabbit IgG, HRP	Donkey	Fisher Scientific	45-000- 682	WB (1:2500)	I, II
Anti-Rabbit -Vision+ System- HRP Labelled Polymer	Goat	Dako	K4003	IHC	I
Anti-Rabbit- BrightVision Poly-HRP	Goat	VWR	KDPVR11 0HRP	IHC	I
Rat on Mouse HRP- polymer Kit	Mouse	Biocare	RT517	IHC	Ι

 Table 7:
 List of secondary antibodies used in the study.

4.2.2 Co-Immunoprecipitation experiments (I)

Co-IPs were performed using GFPTrap agarose beads (ChromoTek), using optimized protocol for chromatin bound proteins shared by Prof. Andrew Blackford. Briefly, HEK-393T cells were transfected with GFP-tagged TopBP1 full length or

fragment expressing plasmids in combination with or without V5tagged CIP2A overexpressing plasmid (listed in Table 5) for 48 hours. The cells were lysed using IP lysis buffer (100mM NaCl, 1mM MgCl2, 10% Glycerol, 0.2% Igepal CA-630, 5mM NaF and 50mM Tris, pH 7.5, supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors). 25units/ml benzonase (Cat# 70664-3, Millipore) was added to the lysate and the lysates were rotated on a tube revolver for 20 minutes at 4°C. The salt concentration in lysates was adjusted to 200mM NaCl and 2mM EDTA and further rotated for another 10 minutes. The lysates were centrifuged at a maximum speed for 15 minutes (4°C) and the supernatant was taken for the IP. A small volume (5%) of the lysate was used as inputs and rest was added to the GFPTrap agarose beads (washed 2x with the IP Lysis buffer). The lysate-beads mixture was rotated on a revolver at 4°C for 2.5 hours. GFP-IP complexes were washed 2 times with IP Lysis buffer and eluted with 2X SDS Sample buffer. Protein interactions were evaluated by western blotting of input and IP samples.

4.2.3 Western blotting (I, II)

RIPA Buffer (supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail) was used to lyse the cells. The protein concentration was quantified using BCA assay kit (Pierce). 30-50ug of total protein processed with 6X SDS sample buffer were loaded onto the 4-20% Mini-PROTEAN TGX Precast protein gels (BioRad). After SDS-PAGE, the proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose or PVDF membranes using TransBlot turbo transfer system (BioRad). The membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBS-T for 30 minutes, followed by primary antibody incubation overnight at 4°C, and secondary antibody incubation for 1 or 2 hours at room temperature. The membranes were imaged with Odyssey CLx imaging system for IRDye conjugated secondary antibodies. The list of primary and secondary antibodies used in the dissertation are listed in **Table 6** and **Table 7** respectively.

4.2.4 RNA isolation, Primer sequences and qPCR (I,II)

RNA was isolated using the NucleoSpin RNA kit (Macherey-Nagel). RNA was converted into cDNA using Random primers, Recombinant RNAsin ribonuclease inhibitor (cat#N2111, Promega), M-MLV RT RNase (H-) point mutant (cat#M3681, Promega) and dNTP mix (Thermo Fisher). The primers used in the study are listed in **Table 8.** qPCR was run on QuantStudio12K Flex Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). GAPDH and ACTB were used as reference genes.

Gene or cDNA	Sequence (5'-3')	Used in
Mouse-Cip2a-Fwd	gaacagataaggaaagagttgagca	I
Mouse-Cip2a-Rev	accttctaattgagccttgtgc	I
Mouse-Krt8-Fwd	agttcgcctccttcattgac	I
Mouse-Krt8-Rev	gctgcaacaggctccact	I
Mouse-Krt14-Fwd	atcgaggacctgaagagcaa	I
Mouse-Krt14-Rev	tcgatctgcaggaggacatt	I
Mouse-Actb-Fwd	tggctcctagcaccatgaaga	I
Mouse-Actb-Rev	gtggacagtgaggccaggat	I
Mouse- <i>Gapdh</i> -Fwd	tgcaccaccaactgcttag	I
Mouse-Gapdh-Rev	ggatgcagggatgatgttc	I
Human-CIP2A-Fwd1	tgccaggtggagactgttc	I, II
Human-CIP2A-Rev1	ggatcctgattcctcttcaaa	I, II
Human-CIP2A-Fwd2	ctgccaggtggagactgttc	I, II
Human-CIP2A-Rev2	aggatcctgattcctcttcaaa	I, II
Human-CIP2A-Fwd3	gaacagataagaaaagagttgagcatt	I, II
Human-CIP2A-Rev3	cgaccttctaattgtgcctttt	I, II
Human-GAPDH-Fwd	acccactcctccacctttga	I, II
Human-GAPDH-Rev	ttgctgtagccaaattcgttgt	I, II
Human-OGG1-Rev-1	tggctcttgtctcctcggta	II
Human-OGG1-Fwd-2	agaaattccaaggtgtgcga	II
Human-OGG1-Rev-2	gatgcgggcgatgttgttg	II
Human-APEX2-Fwd-1	gcagtcaacctggaatgctt	II
Human-APEX2-Rev-1	gccctacatgagaggcagac	II
Human-APEX2-Fwd-2	ggaggtgttccagcccttta	II
Human-APEX2-Rev-2	tgtcagtgcatccctggtca	II
Human-RFC2-Fwd-1	tgagaacgtgttcaaggtctgt	II
Human-RFC2-Rev-1	aggcttcgtcaatgttggca	II
Human-RFC2-Fwd-2	gagaacgtgttcaaggtctgtg	II
Human-RFC2-Rev-2	cagatgccacaagtgagcaag	II
Human-ACTB-Fwd	ccaaccgcgagaagatga	I, II
Human-ACTB-Rev	ccagaggcgtacagggatag	I, II

Table 8: Sequences of the primers used in qPCR.

4.2.5 RNA Sequencing

For RNA sequencing, CIP2A knockdown in the samples was validated using qPCR and samples were submitted to RNA Sequencing at the Finnish Functional Genomics Centre at the Turku Bioscience Centre. The samples were sequenced with Illumina HiSeq2500, using single-end sequencing chemistry library with 50bp length.

4.3 Imaging and Flow cytometry (I)

4.3.1 Ionizing radiation induced foci (IRIF) experiments (I)

MCF10A cells were seeded in a 6-well plate, transfected with siRNAs and trypsinized and reseeded into ibidi chamber slides (ibiTreat#80826). In experiments with Mouse mammary epithelial cells (MMECs), cells from Cip2a KO and Cip2a WT mice were seeded to the ibidi chamber slides. X-Ray irradiation was done using Faxitron Multirad 350. At different time points post IR treatment, (1 hour, 2 hours and 6 hours), cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 minutes at room temperature (RT), permeabilized with 1% Triton-X 100 made in 1X PBS for 10 minutes at RT. They were then blocked for 30 minutes at RT with 5% normal goat serum (ab7481, Abcam) in 1X PBS (Blocking buffer). Primary antibodies were incubated at 4°C overnight, and secondary antibodies were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. The antibodies and their used dilutions are listed in Table 6 & 7. The samples were imaged using spinning disk microscopy at 63X magnification and analyzed using cell profiler/ImageJ. The images were background corrected so that the baseline intensities of both the sample groups was identical before the quantification. DAPI nuclear stains were used to mask the nucleus and only the foci that were present in the nucleus were quantified.

4.3.2 Mitotic index experiments (I)

MCF10A cells were seeded in a 6 well plate, transfected with siRNAs and then trypsinized and reseeded into ibidi 8-well chamber slides (ibiTreat #80826). The cells were treated with 10Gy IR and 1 hour later, 100ng/ml nocodazole block for 18 hours. The cells were fixed and stained with p. Ser10.Histone3 antibody following standard immunofluorescence protocols. The samples were imaged using Zeiss Axiovert or Evos-fl microscope at 10X magnification.

4.3.3 Microscopy (I)

For IRIF experiments, 3i CSU-W1 spinning disk confocal microscope with 63X oil immersion objective or LSM780 with 63X objective were used. Z-stack images were taken, and the quantifications were performed on maximum intensity Z-projected images. For mitotic index experiment Zeiss Axiovert or Evos-Fl with 10X objective were used.

4.3.4 Flow cytometry

The freshly isolated MMECs were used for characterizing the basal and luminal proportions of the mammary epithelial cells. The method used was described previously in (Peuhu et al., 2017). Cells were suspended in Tyrodes buffer, and around 0.5 million cells were used per labelling per genotype. Antibody dilutions were made in Tyrodes buffer. Fluorophore conjugated antibodies for two antibody pairs CD24/CD29 or CD24/CD49f were incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C, washed couple of times and then fixed with 4% PFA for 10 minutes at RT. Samples were analyzed using BD LSR Fortessa flow cytometer. For gating, first live and single cells were gated out and CD24 positive cells, representing epithelial cells were gated. Within the epithelial cells, basal cells have CD24 low and CD29 or CD49f high and luminal cells have CD24 high and CD29 low/negative or CD49f low/negative. These parameters were used to determine the proportion of basal and luminal cells. The proportion of luminal and basal cells were quantified using FlowJo software.

4.4 Drug screening experiments

4.4.1 Drugs used in the study (I, II)

Drug name	Mechanism/ Targets	Solvent	Used in
Doxorubicin	Topoisomerase II inhibitor	DMSO	I, II
Gemcitabine	Antimetabolite; Nucleoside analog	DMSO	I, II
Cisplatin	Platinum-based antineoplastic agent	H2O	I
Olaparib	PARP inhibitor	DMSO	Ι
Epirubicin	Topoisomerase II inhibitor	DMSO	Ι
Fluorouracil	Antimetabolite	DMSO	I, II
Docetaxel	Mitotic inhibitor, taxane microtubule stabilizer	DMSO	I, II
Paclitaxel	Mitotic inhibitor, taxane microtubule stabilizer	DMSO	I
Eribulin	Mitotic inhibitor, microtubule depolymerizer.	DMSO	I
Talazoparib	PARP1/2 inhibitor	DMSO	Ι
NZ-1154 (DBK-1154)	small molecule reactivators of PP2A	DMSO	I, II
NZ-1160	small molecule reactivators of PP2A	DMSO	I
DT-061	small molecule reactivators of PP2A	DMSO	I
Thiostrepton	FOXM1 inhibitor	DMSO	I

 Table 9:
 List of chemical inhibitors used in the study.

4.4.2 High throughput drug screening (I)

Drug screening was conducted in collaboration with the Turku Screening Unit, Turku Bioscience Centre, or Finnish Institute of Molecular Medicine (FIMM), University of Helsinki. Compounds in serially diluted concentration range were plated in clear bottom 384 well plates. The drugs were plated using Echo 550 Liquid Handler (Labcyte). Cells were seeded along with CellTox Green (Promega) using MultiFlo FX dispenser (BioTek). The fluorescence (cytotoxicity) and Cell Titer Glo (Promega) luminescence (cell viability) were measured using PheraStar (BMG Labtech) plate reader at 72 hours.

4.4.3 Cell viability experiments (I, II)

Cell viability experiments were done in 96 well format, using WST-1 reagent (Sigma) or Cell Titer Glo (Promega). Optimized cell number of cells were seeded in 96 well plates. Drug treatments were done the following day for 72 hours. In case of combination with CIP2A siRNA, cells were seeded first in 6 well plates, and reseeded to 96 well plates after 24 hours of siRNA transfection. At the end of the treatment time points, WST-1 or Cell Titer Glo reagents were added to the plates. For WST-1, the plates are incubated at 37°C for 2 hours and read using absorbance at 450nm. For Cell Titer Glo, plates are shaken for 5 mins at RT. Plates were read on Biotek Synergy plate reader.

4.4.4 Analysis of drug screening experiments (I, II)

The cell viability raw data was analyzed using BREEZE tool (Potdar et al., 2020) which quantifies the differential sensitivity scores (DSS) for each drug. Greater DSS values indicate more sensitivity. For calculating synergy scores, the raw data of combinations was analyzed using Synergy finder tool (Ianevski et al., 2022) (https://synergyfinder.fimm.fi/). The dose response curves were plotted and IC₅₀ were analyzed using GraphPad Prism.

4.5 Mouse experiments (I, II)

4.5.1 DMBA induced carcinogenesis (I)

1mg DMBA (7,12-dimethyl benz[a]anthracene) dissolved in 200 μ L of corn-oil was dosed to the WT and KO mice by oral gavage once every week for 6 weeks. The mice were monitored twice every week, until development of tumors or other morbidities. When the mice had to be sacrificed, they were autopsied to analyze the

formation of tumors in all the tissues. The premalignant mammary glands were collected 2 weeks after the last DMBA dose. For IHC, tumors and tissues were fixed in formalin whereas for DNA, mRNA and protein analysis samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen.

4.5.2 Xenografts (I, II)

The BLBC patient derived xenograft (PDX) study described in Publication I was performed in collaboration with Goutham Narla group at the University of Michigan. Briefly the PDX was generated from a chemotherapy resistant (doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide) patient. The PDX were fragmented and implanted into NOD/scid mice. SMAP treatment (twice a day at 5mg/kg or 15mg/kg) was started when the tumor volume reached 100 mm³. Tumor volume was measured every two days by caliper measurement. The study was continued until 43 days.

For mammary orthotopic fat pad xenograft study described in publication II, 24 female athymic nude mice (8 weeks old) were randomized into 4 groups of 8 mice. MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with non-targeted control siRNA (siCTRL) or CIP2A targeted siRNA (siCIP2A) 24 hours prior to the inoculation of the cells into the mice. 2.5 million cells were inoculated orthotopically to the left mammary fat pad of each mouse. Gemcitabine treatment (25mg/kg *i.p.* once every five days) was started 2 days after the inoculation of the cells, and tumor volumes were calculated by caliper measurement.

4.6 Bioinformatics analysis (I, II)

4.6.1 Generation of CIP2A transcriptional signature (II)

The RNASeq data was processed in collaboration with the Medical Bioinformatics Centre at the Turku Bioscience Centre. Reproducibility optimized test statistic (ROTS) package (Seyednasrollah et al., 2016; Suomi et al., 2017) was used to generate differentially regulated genes (control vs siCIP2A samples) from the RNA sequencing data. Two weightage factors, siRNA efficiency and CIP2A dependence were used as weights for generating the signature. Log₂ fold changes of CIP2A expression were used as weights for the siRNA efficiency signature and metaanalysis was used to combine ROTS p-values across different cell lines using a weighted Z-test (Zaykin, 2011). In the same way CIP2A dependence indices, calculated from mean colony areas on CIP2A depletion for each cell line were used as weights for CIP2A dependence signature. CIP2A signature was generated by meta-analysis to combine p-values, using a weighted Z test where both the siRNA efficiency signature weights and CIP2A dependence weights are given equal weightage. To define the signature genes, a meta p-value of 0.01 was used as a cutoff and only genes whose fold changes in each of the cell lines was in the same direction were considered.

4.6.2 Pathway analysis - Reactome and GSEA (I, II)

A ranked list was generated from the gene expression FCs and p-values for each gene. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was run using default settings of Preranked GSEA and using the Hallmarks gene set from the Molecular Signature Database (MSigDB) (Liberzon et al., 2015). For mouse data, the mouse genes were converted to the equivalent human genes before running the GSEA. The CIP2A transcriptional signature genes were analyzed on Reactome database (https://www.reactome.org) (Gillespie et al., 2022). Reacfoam plots and most significant pathways for differentially regulated genes were identified.

4.6.3 Clinical validation of signature using METABRIC datasets (II)

METABRIC dataset consists of 1980 breast cancer samples from UK and Canada and represented all grades and subtypes of breast cancer. The median age at diagnosis was 61.7 years and maximum follow up time of 351 months (Curtis et al., 2012; Pereira et al., 2016). The mapping of signature genes with the METABRIC patient's expression profiles was done similar to Connectivity Map (CMap). For each patient, the enrichment scores were calculated by evaluating CIP2A signature as geneset in GSEA. The final enrichment score (ES) for each individual was calculated as

$ES = (ES_{up}-ES_{down})/2$

where ES_{up} is the enrichment score for upregulated genes of the patient, and ES_{down} down is the enrichment scores for downregulated genes. The p-values were calculated as average of upregulated and downregulated enrichment p-values. Using p-value cutoff of 0.05, all the patients with a positive enrichment score indicate that they are positive for the signature (behaving like CIP2A control samples) and patients whose enrichment scores is negative indicate that have negative signature or behaving similar to CIP2A knockdown samples. The remaining patients were unclassified. Kaplan Meier analysis was done for the stratified individuals using Survival (<u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/survival/index.html</u>) and Survminer (<u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/survival/index.html</u>) R packages, and overall and relapse free survival were calculated for each stratified group. Log rank test was used to evaluate significance difference between the groups.

4.6.4 Data mining from public datasets (I, II)

Dependency Map (DepMap) (https://depmap.org) was used to analyze co-dependent genes for CIP2A coming from genome wide CRISPR Cas9 drop out screens across 700+ cell lines. The Chronos and CERES essentiality scores for CIP2A from breast cancer cell lines were also downloaded from DepMap (Dempster et al., 2021; Meyers et al., 2017). Broad Institute's *Drug Connectivity Map (CMap)* (accessed at https://clue.io/) was used to identify drugs that elicit similar expression changes as our queried gene lists. This was used to identify drugs that transcriptionally mimic similar changes as CIP2A downregulation (Lamb et al., 2006; Subramanian et al., 2017). *cBioportal* (accessed at https://www.cbioportal.org/) was used for subgroup analysis of the Top100 CIP2A positive signature patients and Top100 CIP2A negative signature patients from METABRIC. Disease free survival of different PAM50 classification subgroups of breast cancer patients from publicly available gene expression dataset GSE21653 (Sabatier et al., 2011) were analyzed using R2-Genomics Analysis and Visualization Platform (Accessed at https://r2.amc.nl) (Koster et al., 2019).

5.1 CIP2A drives DMBA-induced mammary tumorigenesis (I)

5.1.1 CIP2A is selectively essential for mammary tumorigenesis (I)

CIP2A overexpression has been observed in several human cancer types and has been associated with a poor prognosis in almost all the malignancies in which it was studied (Khanna & Pimanda, 2016). To determine whether CIP2A plays a more significant role in any specific type of cancer, we generated CIP2A knockout (Cip2a KO, Cip2a^{-/-}) mice and subjected them to chemical carcinogenesis using oral DMBA (7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene) once every week for six weeks (I, Figure 1A). We evaluated the mice until tumors formed. DMBA treatment caused a similar number of mutations in the mammary glands of both Cip2a WT and KO mice (I, Figure 1B), but significantly fewer mammary tumors were formed in the Cip2a KO mice (I, Figure 1C, D). Notably, both the Cip2a WT and KO mice survived for a similar number of days (I, Figure S1A), indicating that the lower number of tumors in the Cip2a KO mice was not due to early death or decreased survival. However, there was no difference in the number of tumors formed in other tissues such as skin, stomach, lung, or ovaries between the Cip2a genotype (I, Figure 1C, S1B). We validated using two independent in vivo models that CIP2A is not essential for tumorigenesis in ovarian and skin cancer. For ovarian cancer, we crossed MISIIR-Tag mice which spontaneously produce high grade ovarian tumors, with Cip2a KO and WT mice. Both Cip2a WT and KO MISIIR-Tag mice formed the same number of ovarian tumors, as confirmed by PET/CT imaging (I, Figure S1 C,D,E). For skin carcinogenesis, the Cip2a WT and KO mice were treated with DMBA/TPA two-stage carcinogenesis, and there was no difference in the skin tumors between the genotypes (I, Figure S1 F). In summary, these results from multiple in vivo models, indicate that Cip2a is selectively essential for the initiation of mammary tumors.
5.1.2 DMBA treatment induces CIP2A expression which drives BLBC (I)

Previous reports have shown that CIP2A protein expression in normal breast tissue is very low, and its expression increases with the aggressiveness and grade of tumors (Côme et al., 2009). Consistent with this finding, we found that Cip2a mRNA expression was quite low in Cip2a WT untreated mammary glands (I, Figure 2A). On analysis of the premalignant mammary glands collected 2 weeks after the last DMBA dose, it was observed that treatment with DMBA induced the Cip2a mRNA by around two-fold. Most importantly, the Cip2a levels in the DMBA induced mammary tumor were ten times higher than the normal mammary glands (I, Figure 2A). Since *Cip2a* expression is almost negligible in normal cells, but induced upon DNA damage in premalignant tissues, it fulfills the requirement of a driver and hence we can conclude that *Cip2a* drives mammary tumorigenesis. The mammary gland tumorigenesis with oral DMBA was previously reported to be forming tumors of basaloid origin (J.-S. Kim et al., 2013). We were able to verify that the tumors belonged to the BLBC subtype by immunohistochemistry. The tumors were positive for keratin-14 (K14) and negative for keratin-8 (K8), indicating basal origin. The tumors also had high proliferation and belonged to high grade as confirmed by positive Ki-67 and MYC staining (I, Figure 2B). Also, 7 out of 10 tumors (70%) characterized were triple-negative on IHC staining of ER, PR, and HER2 (I, Figure 2C, S2A) which is similar to the expected proportion of triple-negative subtype within BLBC.

5.1.3 CIP2A does not have a role in normal mammary gland development (I)

To further investigate the mammary glands of both the *Cip2a* WT and KO mice and determine if there were any developmental defects in the mammary glands of KO mice that could be a reason for their inability to form tumors, we isolated mammary epithelial cells from both genotypes and characterized their luminal and basal proportions by flow cytometry, using standard surface markers. Our results showed that there was no difference in the proportion of basal and luminal cells between Cip2a genotypes (I, Figure S2C-E). Additionally, there was no difference in the *Cip2a* expression between the luminal and basal cells of the mammary gland in *Cip2a* WT mice (I, Figure S2F). Although previous studies have reported defects in spermatogenesis in *Cip2a* WT male mice (Ventelä et al., 2012), our Cip2a KO female mice showed no defects and were fully fertile. We also analyzed the mammary gland branching patterns matched to the estrous cycle of the mice and observed no difference in the mammary gland branching morphogenesis between *Cip2a* WT and KO mice (I, Figure S2G). These findings suggest that while Cip2a is

not essential for normal mammary development, its expression is induced upon DMBA treatment and is crucial for the initiation of BLBC tumors.

5.2 Generation of a CIP2A dependent BLBC transcriptional signature (II)

5.2.1 Novel approach to developing transcriptional signature (II)

Given the newly established role of CIP2A as a driver of BLBC, we hypothesized that it might be driving common transcriptional processes in BLBC. To identify these common mechanisms, we used three distinct siRNAs to depleted CIP2A from five BLBC cell lines and evaluated their differential gene expression by RNA-Seq (II, Figure 1A). We selected cell lines from diverse tumor types, intrinsic subtypes, and a mix of BRCA mutation statuses to truly represent the heterogeneity of BLBC disease. Interestingly, the dependence on CIP2A (from the DepMap database) in these cell lines was also quite variable (II, Figure S1A). We used the reproducibility optimized test statistic (ROTS) (Sevednasrollah et al., 2016; Suomi et al., 2017) to evaluate the differential expression of genes between CIP2A knockdown and CIP2A control samples. At p-value cutoffs of 0.01 and 0.05, the only overlapping differentially expressed gene across five cell lines and three siRNAs was CIP2A itself (II, Figure 1B). Using slightly less stringent p-value cutoffs did not make much of a difference as there were 4 and 25 differentially regulated genes at p=0.1 and 0.2 respectively (II, Figure S1B). However, when we evaluated each of the cell lines individually, two cell lines had a small number of differentially expressed genes (II, Figure S1C) indicating that looking for overlap across five cell lines might not be a suitable approach. We found that there was huge variability in the efficacies of the three CIP2A siRNAs used, especially siCIP2A#2, which was the least efficient in all the cell lines used in the study (II, Figure 1C, S1D). We further validated the CIP2A dependence between cell lines using colony growth assays and as predicted by DepMap data, the dependence on CIP2A varied a lot between cell lines (II, Figure 1D).

We rationalized that the lack of overlap in the RNASeq data was due to the variation in siRNA efficiency between siRNAs and CIP2A dependence between the cell lines. Since the samples in which CIP2A depletion is most effective would resemble closely to the transcriptional changes coming from CIP2A inhibition, we performed a weighted Z test (Zaykin, 2011) by giving more weightage to the samples with the most effective CIP2A downregulation and vice-versa. The signature generated with log₂fold-change of CIP2A expression as weights was termed as *"siRNA efficiency signature"*, and it consisted of 97 upregulated and 172

downregulated genes (II, Figure 2A). Following a similar rationale, we gave more weightage to cell lines that were most dependent on CIP2A and vice-versa, based on the mean colony area and this generated "*CIP2A dependence signature*" comprising 61 upregulated and 116 downregulated genes (II, Figure 2A). To generate a combined signature that corrects for both CIP2A siRNA efficiency and CIP2A dependency variations, both CIP2A dependence and siRNA efficiency weights were given equal weightage (as shown in schematic II, Figure 1E). The combined "*mean signature*" (or CIP2A^{signature}) consisted of 225 genes (78 upregulated and 147 downregulated genes) (II, Figure 2A, B)

To summarize, this novel bioinformatic approach can be used to generate gene signatures for heterogeneous cancer types with varying functional dependencies and especially in scenarios where siRNAs have varying efficacies.

5.2.2 CIP2A signature can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer (II)

We validated the CIP2A signature by using a publicly available breast cancer METABRIC dataset (Curtis et al., 2012) consisting of 1424 patient samples. The gene expression profiles of the METABRIC patients were used to score the patients as CIP2A^{signature} positive (if their transcriptional profiles matched CIP2A control samples) or CIP2A^{signature} negative if their transcriptional profiles matched CIP2A siRNA knockdown samples. If their transcriptional profiles could not be scored positive or negative based on signature, they were considered unclassified. CIP2A^{signature} successfully stratified the METABRIC patients into three distinct groups with notable differences in their overall survival (OS) and relapse-free survival (RFS) (II, Figure 2C). The median survival of the CIP2A^{signature} negative group was more than 100 months longer than that of the CIP2A^{signature} positive group (250 months vs 120 months) indicating a less aggressive disease for the CIP2A^{signature} negative patients' group. We also evaluated the performance of the other signatures (siRNA efficiency signature, CIP2A dependence signature) in identifying aggressive breast cancer cases from METABRIC and found that the combined signature (CIP2A^{signature}) performed much better in terms of the p-value for differences in the prognosis of positive and negative signature patients stratified (II, Figure S2A). Further evaluation of a subgroup of 200 patients consisting of the top 100 most CIP2A^{signature} positive and top 100 CIP2A^{signature} negative patients revealed that the CIP2A^{signature} performs even better in identifying the good and bad prognosis breast cancer cases (II, Figure 2D). Analyzing the characteristics of the top 100 positive and negative signature patients from METABRIC, we found that a higher proportion of the top100 signature positive patients were of ER- subtype and had high MYC amplification indicative of aggressive breast cancer compared to the top 100

signature negative patients, who had mostly ER+ and PIK3CA mutations indicative of better prognosis (II, Figure S2B, C).

5.3 CIP2A interacts with TopBP1 and promotes the G2/M progression of DNA damaged cells (I, II)

5.3.1 A novel role for CIP2A in DDR (I, II)

We collected mammary glands from premalignant Cip2a WT and KO mice treated with DMBA after the sixth dose of DMBA and conducted RNA-Seq analysis. We performed a Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) to identify pathways that are enriched between Cip2a KO samples compared to the Cip2a WT mice. CIP2A inhibition has been previously reported to downregulate MYC (Junttila et al., 2007) and E2F1 (Laine et al., 2013) activity, and hence it was not surprising to see the downregulation of MYC and E2F1 target genes as the enriched pathways in GSEA. Interestingly, we discovered a previously unknown G2/M checkpoint function of CIP2A that is crucial in tumor development (I, Figure 2D). Although CIP2A is primarily a cytoplasmic protein, we found a small amount of nuclear CIP2A in premalignant mammary gland cells and DMBA treated Cip2a WT tumors indicating a role for nuclear CIP2A in mammary tumorigenesis (I, Figure S2B). We evaluated a genome wide CRISPR/Cas9 dropout screen performed in 739 human cancer cell lines from DepMap (Avana2020 Q1) and assessed the top co-dependent genes with CIP2A across the genome. Strikingly, all of the top 10 co-dependent genes with CIP2A were involved in DNA Damage response (DDR) (I, Figure 3A). CIP2A was the top co-dependent gene for RHNO1, TOPBP1, POLQ, NBN, PARP1 with CIP2A ranking higher in correlation than TOPBP1 for RHNO1 (Cotta-Ramusino et al., 2011) or ATR for TOPBP1 which are bona fide DDR effectors involved in ATR signaling (Mordes et al., 2008) (I, Figure 3B). Furthermore, all the top 10 codependent CIP2A genes formed a close network, and none of these proteins have been previously reported to be involved in direct interaction with CIP2A (I, Figure 3C). The pathway analysis of the CIP2A co-dependent genes using Reactome database revealed that the key processes regulated by these genes are G2/M, DNA damage checkpoint, and double strand break (DSB) repair related (I, Figure 3D). Among the CIP2A co-dependent genes, TOPBP1 and POLQ were also among the top 25 significantly co-expressed genes with CIP2A (I, Figure 3E, S4A). This correlation was significant also when specifically analyzing BLBC cases (I, Figure S4B).

The CIP2A^{signature} generated from BLBC cell lines (II, Figure 2A, B) was analyzed using the Reactome database to identify the key processes regulated by CIP2A in BLBC. As previously found, the analysis demonstrated that CIP2A regulates processes related to DNA repair, double strand break repair, and G2/M transition (II, Figure 3A, B and S3A). The pathway analysis also revealed that CIP2A downregulation leads to a defect in Base Excision Repair (BER) associated with OGG1, a glycosylase that detects and removes oxidatively damaged guanines (8-oxodG; also known as 7,8-dihydro-8-oxoguanine) (II, Figure 3A). qPCR validation of CIP2A downregulated MDA-MB-231 cells revealed downregulation of downstream members of BER pathway such as APEX2 and RFC2 (II, Figure 3C). Moreover, BER associated OGG1 was significantly down on CIP2A depletion in 2 out of the 4 BLBC cell lines tested (II, Figure S3B).

In summary, these findings indicate that CIP2A plays a significant role in regulating DNA damage response (DDR) and G2/M signaling in BLBC.

5.3.2 CIP2A dampens accumulation of TopBP1 and RAD51 at the site of DNA damage (I)

During a genome-wide Yeast two-hybrid (Y2H) screening to identify interaction partners of CIP2A, TopBP1 was discovered as a CIP2A interaction partner. Since Y2H only detects direct interactions between two proteins, we presumed that this direct interaction between CIP2A and TopBP1 is independent of PP2A (I, Figure 4A). This interaction was confirmed also using Proximity Ligation Assay (PLA) (I, Figure S5A) and Co-Immunoprecipitations (Co-IPs) with overexpressed GFPtagged TopBP1 (I, Figure 4B). To pinpoint the exact region of TopBP1 interacting with CIP2A, we overexpressed different GFP tagged truncated TopBP1 mutants and performed Co-IPs with GFPTrap beads. We observed that CIP2A interaction still occurred inTopBP1 missing the ATR activating domain (AAD) and BRCT7/8, and was lost in TopBP1 fragment with BRCT0-5 domains, indicating that the region between BRCT5 and BRCT6 in TopBP1 is crucial for the interaction with CIP2A (I, Figure 4C, D). By mapping the common interaction region of the TopBP1 fragments from Y2H screen, the interaction region on TopBP1 was found to be between amino acids 829 to 853, which is between BRCT5 and 6 as validated by Co-IPs (I, Figure 4A).

Furthermore, we discovered that the interaction between CIP2A and TopBP1 was enhanced in the presence of AAD which is required for TopBP1 interaction with ATR and downstream checkpoint activation (I, Figure 4C, D). CIP2A depletion in the non-transformed basal epithelial MCF10A cell line resulted in a pronounced increase in phosphorylated ATR, indicating a direct role of CIP2A in TopBP1 regulated DDR signaling (I, Figure 4E). Additionally, levels of γ -H2AX, which is a target of phosphorylated ATR were increased in CIP2A depleted cells overexpressing AAD containing mutant of ToPBP1 (I, Figure 4F). In CIP2A silenced MCF10A cells, ionizing radiation (IR) caused increased accumulation of

TopBP1 at the site of DNA double strands (DSBs) as seen using ionizing radiation induced foci (IRIF) assay (I, Figure 4G, H). Also, mice mammary epithelial cells (MMECs) from *Cip2a* KO mice formed more RAD51 foci (which is downstream of TopBP1 in the homologous recombination repair pathway) on IR induced DNA damage compared to the MMECs from Cip2a WT mice (I, Figure 4I, J).

In summary, these results indicate that CIP2A interacts with TopBP1 and inhibits the chromatin recruitment of TopBP1 and RAD51 at the site of DNA damage.

5.3.3 CIP2A allows the mitotic progression of DNAdamaged cells (I)

In order to evaluate the role of CIP2A in G2/M checkpoint, we analyzed the mitotic index of DNA damaged MCF10 cells. The MCF10A cells were treated with 10Gy IR for 1 hour, followed by G2/M arrest using nocodazole for 18 hours. On release from the nocodazole block, only cells that have abrogated the checkpoints proceed to mitosis. The percentage of cells entering into mitosis can be evaluated by staining cells positive for Histone H3, phosphoserine 10 (H3. pS10). Compared to the CHK1 silenced samples in which checkpoints are abrogated, CIP2A silencing had a significantly decreased mitotic cells indicating that CIP2A allows the dampening of G2/M checkpoints and progression of the DNA damaged cells into mitosis (I, Figure 1E). In untreated or non-DNA damaged conditions, there was no difference in the mitotic index values indicating the role of CIP2A in G2/M, specifically in DNA damaged cells (I, Figure S1G). We independently validated these results in another HAP1 genetic screen where CIP2A was essential for the progression of cells under repeated IR damage (I, Figure 1F, S1H).

5.4 CIP2A is essential in BRCA mutant BLBCs (I)

5.4.1 CIP2A is a prognostic biomarker for BL-TNBCs (I)

Our aim was to assess whether CIP2A's role in driving BLBC initiation in mice translates to human BLBC. To do this, we analyzed the mRNA expression levels of CIP2A and TopBP1 in the breast cancer cohort of the TCGA dataset. Both CIP2A and TopBP1 expression were correlated with the grade of the tumors, and highest expression was found in BLBC (I, Figure 5A, S6B). We also evaluated the expression in triple-negative (TNBC) and basal like (BL) subtypes of breast cancer and found that CIP2A expression was higher in basal-like subtypes (both BL-TNBC and BL-non TNBC) (I, Figure S6B). Since it was reported previously that TP53 mutant breast cancers drive the expression of CIP2A by p21-E2F1 (Laine et al., 2013), we evaluated the CIP2A expression in TP53 WT and TP53 mutant breast

cancer from a publicly available expression dataset GSE21653. Consistent with our previous understanding, CIP2A expression was enhanced in TP53 mutant breast cancer cases (I, Figure S6C). To investigate the clinical applicability of CIP2A as a prognostic biomarker, we used the FinHer dataset (Joensuu et al., 2009) and other publicly available IHC and gene expression datasets. FinHer consisted of 1010 breast cancer patients (median age 50.9 years) with 89% having axillary node positive cancer and 28.2% of them having more than three metastatic lymph nodes. Tumors immunostained negative for ER, PR, HER2 and positive for EGFR and positive for basal cytokeratin CK5 were classified as basal-like TNBC whereas tumors immunostained negative for ER, PR, HER2, EGFR and CK5 were classified as non basal-like TNBC. High CIP2A was correlated with poor overall and disease-free survival only in Basal like TNBC subtype (BL-TNBCs) from both protein based IHC and mRNA based expression levels (I, Figure 5B, D). In non-basal like TNBC, there was no difference in the survival of patients between CIP2A high and CIP2A low protein or mRNA expression (I, Figure 5C, E). CIP2A also had a prognostic value in TNBC subtype, not selected into basal and non-basal subtypes (I, Figure S6E, H). Notably, we observed no difference in the prognosis of breast cancer patients between CIP2A high and CIP2A low patients when all subtypes were considered or when only ER+ breast cancer cases were filtered. when breast cancer patients were unselected and all the subtypes were taken together, or when only ER+ breast cancer cases were filtered (I, Figure S6 D,F,G).

Next, we analyzed the dependence of CIP2A in human breast cancer cell lines from the DepMap database. We found that out of the top 12 most CIP2A dependent breast cancer cell lines, we found that 8 were of BLBC subtype (I, Figure 5F). Also, 7 out of the 8 top CIP2A dependent cell lines also harbored a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation indicating a homologous recombination repair defect (HRD).

5.4.2 CIP2A is a novel synthetic lethal target in BRCA mutant BLBCs (I)

To evaluate the CIP2A dependence on BRCA mutation status, we isolated mouse cancer cell lines from three different genetic mouse models that spontaneously form tumors (KB1P - *Trp53* and *Brca1 mutant*, KEP – *Trp53/E-Cadherin mutant*, and WEA – *E-Cadherin and Akt mutant*) and performed colony growth assays. Only KB1P cells that had *Brca1* and *Trp53* mutant background, indicative of basal-like breast cancer showed synthetic lethality on CRISPR/Cas9 based CIP2A knockout with two different gRNA (I, Figure 5G) whereas, in KEP and WEA cells which are representing Invasive lobular subtype, CIP2A knockout did not affect the survival of these cell lines (I, Figure 5G, S7A). Also, the most CIP2A dependent BLBC cell line in another independent colony growth assay was HCC38 which belonged to p53

mutant and HRD background (due to BRCA1 silencing by promoter methylation and BRCA2 mutant) (I, Figure 5H). We performed RNASeq analysis in CIP2A silenced HCC38 cells and found that CIP2A downregulation caused downregulation of E2F targets, MYC targets and G2M checkpoint pathways similar to our observation in premalignant DMBA treated *Cip2a* KO mammary glands (I, Figure 5I and Figure 2D). This finding was further validated by western blotting. In HCC38 cells, CIP2A silencing caused downregulation of MYC and E2F1 activity as seen by the decrease of phospho serine 62 of MYC and phospho serine 364 of E2F1 (I, Figure 5I).

5.5 Targeting CIP2A-dependent DDR in BLBC (I, II)

5.5.1 CIP2A downregulation sensitizes BLBC cells to different DDR drugs (I, II)

Since BLBC is characterized by high genomic instability, especially due to homologous recombination repair (HR) deficiency, they are highly dependent on other compensatory repair pathways such as BER and NHEJ (Lord & Ashworth, 2017). This creates a vulnerability in these cells which maybe therapeutically targeted. We evaluated standard of care chemotherapy drugs used in the clinic to treat BLBC patients, to see if any of these drugs would get sensitized in BLBC on CIP2A depletion. Among 5-fluorouracil (5FU), docetaxel, doxorubicin and gemcitabine that were tested, gemcitabine was the only drug which showed highest sensitization with CIP2A silencing in BLBCs (II, Figure 4A). In the highly CIP2A dependent cell line HCC38, where CIP2A silencing already is very effective, further addition of gemcitabine increased the sensitivity by 4-fold (IC50 400nM in siCTRL+gemcitabine vs 99nM in siCIP2A+gemcitabine), measured by cell viability assays (II, Figure 4C). This drug combination was further evaluated in an orthotopic in vivo model. We inoculated CTRL siRNA and CIP2A targeted siRNA treated MDA-MB-231 cells to the mouse mammary fat pads and evaluated the sensitivity of gemcitabine treatment on the xenograft growth. On Day 14, there was a significant difference in tumor volumes in siCIP2A+gemcitbaine group compared to siCTRL+gemcitabine (II, Figure 4D). On day 29 when the mice were sacrificed at the end of the study, we dissected the tumors and evaluated the tumors and notably the tumors from siCIP2A+gemcitabine group were the smallest and weighed less compared to the vehicle treated group or siCIP2A alone groups (II, Figure 4E, S4A). These effects are notable considering that the CIP2A was downregulated by transient transfection of siRNA one day before inoculation and still provided a very long term CIP2A downregulation (approximately 9 days) (II, Figure S4B). Overall, the drug

gemcitabine was quite well tolerated and there was no significant weight loss in the mice throughout the duration of the study (II, Figure S4C).

Also, CIP2A silencing sensitized the BRCA WT BLBC cell line (MDA-MB-231) to two different PARP inhibitors olaparib and niraparib, indicating that CIP2A silencing might be creating an HRD-like defect in BLBCs which makes them vulnerable to PARP inhibitors which are normally potent and effective only in BRCA mutant cells (I, Figure S7C). Pathway analysis of CIP2A^{signature} revealed "*ATR activation in response to replication stress*" as one of the pathways enriched in CIP2A downregulated cells (II, Figure 3A). We also observed increased ATR activity in CIP2A depleted non transformed MCF10A cells and also BRCA WT cell line MDA-MB-231 (I, Figure 4E,F). So, this gave us a strong rationale for testing ATR inhibitor drugs in combination with CIP2A silencing. We found that CIP2A silencing sensitized BLBC cell lines to ATR inhibitor drug VE-821 by cell viability assays (II, Figure 4B). This was also observed previously in another published study (Hustedt et al., 2019).

5.5.2 SMAPs downregulate CIP2A transcription and have the potential to be used in BLBC (I,II)

Though the interaction between CIP2A and TopBP1 is independent of PP2A, there is also slight evidence that PP2A maybe also involved in newly discovered DDR roles of CIP2A from a recent phosphoproteomics screen, which identified NBN S432 as a PP2A target regulated by CIP2A (Kauko et al., 2020). Since there are no CIP2A inhibitors, we wanted to test the recently developed small molecule activators of PP2A (SMAPs) in BLBCs to evaluate if they had a role in regulating DDR. We tested a panel of BLBCs with two different SMAPs DBK-1154 and DT-061 and found them to be very effective in these cells (I, Figure 6A, S8A). We also tested SMAPs in five patient derived stem-like cell lines of triple-negative subtype. Since these patients already received neoadjuvant chemotherapy, they showed resistance to standard chemotherapy drugs as expected. But interestingly, SMAPs showed great sensitization in all the patient derived cell lines generally resistant to chemotherapies (I, Figure 6B). We independently studied the SMAP DT-061 in another BLBC patient derived xenograft mouse model and saw that DT-061 treatment significantly decreased tumor growth. (I, Figure 6C). Interestingly, we noticed that SMAP treatment downregulated CIP2A in most of the PDX tumors (I, S8C,D). We further validated the role of SMAPs in CIP2A downregulation in patient derived as well as commercial cell lines (I, Figure 6D,E, S8 E). We also evaluated the time course of CIP2A protein and mRNA on treatment with SMAP and found that CIP2A is downregulated at a transcriptional and protein level by SMAP treatment (I, Figure 6F, S8F,G). To understand the exact mechanism of whether SMAP regulates CIP2A

at a protein or transcriptional level, we checked the time course of upstream ERK1/2 and MYC activity in BLBC cells on treatment with SMAP. The time course revealed that SMAP downregulates the ERK1/2 activity which downregulates CIP2A on a transcriptional level. MYC downregulation was observed to be happening after CIP2A downregulation (I, Figure 6G, S8H). Hence, SMAPs can be considered surrogate CIP2A inhibitors.

Next, we wanted to evaluate if SMAPs also induce similar effects of DDR as CIP2A inhibition. SMAP treatment caused a profound increase in γ -H2AX, p-ATR and activation of CHK2 (I, Figure 6H,I, S9A,B). Interestingly, the SMAP effect on CHK2 activation happened before CIP2A downregulation whereas the activities of ATR and γ -H2AX induction, linked to the TopBP1 interaction of CIP2A were seen to be induced only after CIP2A downregulation (I, Figure 6J, Figure S9D, E, F, G, H) indicating that SMAP has other PP2A dependent effects on DDR such as CHK2 activation which is not observed with CIP2A inhibition. It would have been nice to see the kinetics of γ -H2AX induction with more time points between 6 and 24 hours. We noticed that γ -H2AX increases from 3 fold levels at 6 hours to 15 fold levels at 24 hours, but we do not know if the trend is following the CIP2A kinetics or it is exponential or there are fluctuations. It might tell us if the induction of SMAP comes from other PP2A activation effects of SMAP (which we believe might be the case) as the induction of γ -H2AX is quite drastic compared to the CIP2A downregulation kinetics (I, Figure 6J). We noticed that the effect of SMAPs on ATR activation and γ -H2AX are CIP2A dependent as overexpression of CIP2A decreased the γ -H2AX induction (I, Figure 6K). CIP2A overexpression also abrogated the SMAP response in these cells indicating that the SMAP activity is linked to its CIP2A inhibition role (I, Figure 6L).

Since we have demonstrated that CIP2A silencing sensitizes the BLBC cells to gemcitabine, we tested if SMAPs can replace CIP2A siRNA as a therapeutic strategy, and we found that SMAP DBK-1154 in combination with gemcitabine showed a strong synergy in BLBC cells, also at concentrations where single agents alone had no effect in the colony growth (II, Figure 5F).

5.5.3 Thiostrepton can be repurposed as a CIP2A transcriptional inhibitor drug for BLBC (II)

Since there are no inhibitors of CIP2A, we queried the Broad Institute's Drug Connectivity Map (CMap) repository (Lamb et al., 2006; Subramanian et al., 2017) to see if any drugs can be repurposed as CIP2A inhibitors. The list of upregulated and downregulated genes from CIP2A^{signature} (II, Figure 2A,B) was used to obtain a list of drugs that elicit similar transcriptional profiles as CIP2A downregulation from the CMap database (<u>https://clue.io/</u>). The top 10 drugs that mimic the CIP2A

downregulation transcriptome were identified (II, Figure 5A). Out of these, thiostrepton which was #2 on the list was tested in five different BLBC cell lines and was found to be very effective in decreasing the cell viability in these cells (II, Figure 5B). We then wanted to evaluate if this drug can replace CIP2A silencing as CMap predicted, and we saw that Thiostrepton in combination with Gemcitabine showed excellent synergy at concentrations that do not show any effect when each drug is used alone. For example, 80nM of gemcitabine or 80nM of thiostrepton alone does not have any effect on the cell viability but when combined they kill 82% of the cells (II, Figure 5C). The synergy score was calculated using the SynergyFinder tool (Ianevski et al., 2022) (https://synergyfinder.fimm.fi), which was determined as 28.6, and the best synergy window was predicted to be between the concentration range of 40nM to 160nM of Gemcitabine combined with 20nm to 80nM of thiostrepton (II, Figure 5D). We then tested this combination thiostrepton+gemcitabine on colony growth assays and found that the thiostrepton alone or gemcitabine alone at low concentrations do not inhibit the colony formation ability of the cells, but when they are combined, there is a very potent effect. This effect was observed to be irrespective of the CIP2A dependence as we saw the synergistic effect also in HCC1937 cells which are not dependent on CIP2A (II, Figure 5E).

6 Discussion

6.1 CIP2A drives BLBC by coordinating the key hallmarks

Breast cancer is one of the most widely characterized cancer subtypes genetically. Despite massive sequencing efforts, identifying genomic drivers for BLBC has not been very successful (Banerji et al., 2012; Koboldt et al., 2012; Pereira et al., 2016). This dissertation reports the first ever evidence of a non-genetic driver mechanism of BLBC. It is also the first ever reported evidence of a PP2A inhibitor playing a role as a driver for any human cancer.

Gene expression profiling of breast cancer has made it easier to identify specific molecular traits of each breast cancer subtype (Perou et al., 2000; Sørlie et al., 2001; Sotiriou et al., 2003). Some key hallmarks of BLBCs include: 1) High genomic instability due to mutations in TP53 (seen in 85% of the cases), RB (seen in 30% of the cases), or defective DSB repair (for example BRCA1 mutations) (E. A. Rakha et al., 2008; Badve et al., 2011) 2) High proliferative activity associated with increased MYC and E2F activity (Sotiriou et al., 2003; Alles et al., 2009) 3) EGFR expression (or amplification in minority of cases) (Badve et al., 2011; E. Rakha & Reis-Filho, 2009) and 4) Increased expression of cell cycle and DDR genes (Lehmann et al., 2011). Notably, all these key hallmarks also have a critical role in promoting the expression of CIP2A. CIP2A is involved in a positive feedback loop with E2F1 and MYC (Laine et al., 2013; Khanna et al., 2009). Additionally, inactivation of p53 leads to increased E2F1 which drives CIP2A expression (Laine et al., 2013). CIP2A expression is also driven by DNA-PK/CHK1 pathway (Khanna, Kauko, et al., 2013) and EGFR-ETS1 pathway (Khanna et al., 2011). We have also observed in our mammary tumorigenesis experiments with DMBA that Cip2a expression is induced a lot earlier before the formation of the tumors. One may argue that the CIP2A overexpression induced MYC activity is driving the BLBCs but we have noticed that CIP2A did not have a role in the Myc-dependent DMBA/TPA skin carcinogenesis model (Oskarsson et al., 2006) and hence we postulated that there is involvement of other MYC-independent mechanisms by which CIP2A drives BLBC. The newly identified role of CIP2A in DDR and CIP2A-TopBP1 interaction provide the molecular basis for essential role of CIP2A in mitotic progression of DNA damaged cells. So, one plausible explanation is

CIP2A

that DNA damage induced CIP2A overexpression creates the required selective pressure for the progression of premalignant lesions into BLBCs, and as the BLBC hallmark traits are acquired, this creates positive feedback for further increase in the expression of CIP2A. In fact, we have noticed that the expression of *Cip2a* in the BLBC tumors was much higher than in the premalignant mammary gland.

Based on the results of my thesis, it can be observed that different levels of CIP2A expression have varying effects on the homologous repair and G2/M checkpoints as summarized in the schematic **Figure 8**. In normal tissues or unperturbed CIP2A WT cells, CIP2A expression is quite low (CIP2A level can be anywhere between A& B). Treatment with genotoxic stressors such as DMBA and IR induces double strand breaks (DSBs) which recruits TOPBP1 to the site of DSB. In this condition, the DMBA treatment also induces expression of CIP2A as observed in premalignant mammary glands. Here, the low expression of CIP2A does not fully saturate the TopBP1 required



Figure 8: Schematic visualization of DNA repair and G2/M checkpoints at different expression levels of CIP2A in the cells. A) CIP2A KO or CIP2A depleted condition B) Unperturbed CIP2A WT cells and C) CIP2A overexpressed (or cancer) cells.

for complete inhibition of its function, but slightly dampens the G2/M checkpoints and HR repair. In CIP2A knockout or depletion with siRNA (Figure 8A), CIP2A is not present or very low to interact with TopBP1 and therefore the G2/M checkpoints and repair are unperturbed. Therefore, CIP2A knockout mice form less mammary tumors on DMBA treatment. When CIP2A is overexpressed (Figure 8C – note that this hasn't been tested experimentally) I envision that the excessive CIP2A may fully saturate the TopBP1 inhibition, resulting in further defective DNA repair and checkpoints. This could allow the mitotic progression of damaged and unrepaired DNA increasing the genomic instability as seen in cancer cells (Figure 8C).

While the interaction between CIP2A and TopBP1 is independent of PP2A, we have some evidence from a recent phosphoproteomics screen that Nibrin (NBN), which is one of the co-dependent CIP2A genes has a phosphosite on serine 432 whose dephosphorylation by PP2A is inhibited by CIP2A (Kauko et al., 2020). Also, Nibrin is known to interact with TopBP1(Morishima et al., 2007; Yoo et al., 2009). So, while being present in the complex with TopBP1, CIP2A may regulate phosphorylation of other PP2A targets, and this complex phospho-regulation is yet to be evaluated. Also, it would be interesting to gain more insights from the CIP2A structure point of view about which amino acids or regions within CIP2A are associated with the PP2A binding functions and which regions are associated with the PP2A independent DDR functions so that drugs can be developed to selectively inhibit specific functions of CIP2A.

In summary, our data convincingly indicates that CIP2A is at the crossroads of PP2A dependent high proliferative activity, driven by E2F1, MYC, TP53, EGFR and DNA-PK activity, and a PP2A independent TopBP1 interaction, allowing the abrogation of G2/M checkpoints. This coordination is essential for BLBC initiation and progression (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9: Role of CIP2A as a coordinator of BLBC hallmarks. Adapted from (Laine et al. 2021).

6.2 CIP2A is a critical DDR protein in BLBC

This dissertation has discovered CIP2A's first ever PP2A independent function as a regulator of DNA damage response (DDR). The finding that CIP2A is most codependent on a genome-wide level with several well characterized bona fide DDR proteins, has sparked up a lot of interest and opened up a new direction of research (I). Some of our novel findings from this dissertation have also been independently validated by two different groups. Daniel Durocher group reported the role of CIP2A-TOPBP1 complex in efficient chromosomal segregation of under replicated DNA. They also reported that CIP2A is essential in BRCA mutated cancer (Adam et al., 2021). Manuel Stucki group reported the role of CIP2A-TopBP1-MDC1 in efficient DNA DSB repair during mitosis (De Marco Zompit et al., 2022). None of these papers have been able to still elucidate the exact molecular mechanism of CIP2A-TOPBP1 complex in their newly identified functions. There are few more preprints which have identified new functions of CIP2A in DDR such as role of CIP2A-TOPBP1-MDC1 complex in repairing DNA damage during Meiosis (Leem et al., 2022) or tethering of shattered chromosomal fragments during mitosis (Trivedi et al., 2022). There are many CIP2A co-dependent genes other than TopBP1 that we recognized from DepMap portal (https://depmap.org/portal/gene/CIP2A) but have not been explored, and trying to understand their role and link with CIP2A might explain the selectivity of CIP2A specifically in BLBC. One such interesting prospect is POLQ, which is involved in micro-homology mediated end joining (MMEJ) an alternative form of NHEJ. It has been reported that HR deficient tumors overexpress and are highly dependent on POLQ (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Wyatt et al., 2016). The fact that POLQ and CIP2A are co-expressed in BLBC (I, Figure S4B) indicates that it might be closely involved in the processes regulated by CIP2A.

From analysis of the CIP2A signature genes, we identified that CIP2A also has a role in regulating the transcription of several DDR proteins (II) in addition to our reported role as interaction partner of TopBP1 and the phosphoregulation of PP2A targets within the TopBP1-complex (I). We identified a novel role for CIP2A in Base Excision Repair (BER) associated with OGG1, a glycosylase which has a role in recognizing and repairing the oxidative damage of guanines. We recently reported that CIP2A downregulation causes sensitization to ROS-inducing drugs such as APR-246 in ovarian cancer cells (Cvrljevic et al., 2022). Since CIP2A downregulation causes OGG1 associated BER defect, the CIP2A low cells are expected to be extremely vulnerable to oxidative damage (as caused by ROS). So, our results are consistent and, in a way, explain the reason for the sensitization of the CIP2A downregulated cells to ROS inducing drugs. The exact molecular mechanisms of how CIP2A regulates the BER pathways and other DDR targets is yet to be identified.

6.3 Therapeutic targeting of CIP2A-regulated DDR signaling in BLBC

In this dissertation, I evaluated the role of recently developed small molecule activators of PP2A (SMAPs) such as DT-061, DBK-1154 (or DT-1154) and DT-1160 in targeting CIP2A. Since there are no known drugs that directly target CIP2A, we used SMAPs as they are orally bioavailable drugs with a good safety profile and tested across multiple cancer types as single agents and in combination with other inhibitors (Sangodkar et al., 2017; Kauko et al., 2018; McClinch et al., 2018; Merisaari et al., 2020; Allen-Petersen et al., 2019). DT-061 is a molecular glue that binds and selectively activates the PP2A-B56α complexes (Leonard et al., 2020; Westermarck & Neel, 2020), the same complex that CIP2A has been reported to inhibit (J. Wang et al., 2017). We tested SMAPs on a panel of TNBC patient derived stem like cells, which were isolated from the patients who received a few rounds of neoadjuvant chemotherapy and were resistant to the standard chemotherapy regimens (Metzger et al., 2017). The cells showed resistant to standard of care BLBC chemotherapy drugs as expected, but interestingly, were sensitive to SMAPs indicating the potential use of SMAPs in patients not responding to conventional chemotherapy. Furthermore, our experiments revealed a serendipitous finding that SMAPs can downregulate CIP2A on the mRNA and protein level, which was previously unknown (I, Figure 6).

We investigated the kinetics of MYC, ERK, and CIP2A on SMAP treatment as PP2A reactivation by SMAPs is known to downregulate MYC (Allen-Petersen et al., 2019) and ERK activity (Sangodkar et al., 2017), both of which can transcriptionally regulate CIP2A inhibition. Our findings showed that ERK dephosphorylation occurred before CIP2A downregulation, followed by the inhibition of MYC activity. Therefore, SMAPs have a biphasic effect where they first activate the PP2A-B56 α complex and then sustain its activation due to CIP2A transcriptional downregulation. While SMAPs showed some discrepancy in the DDR compared to the CIP2A inactivation, our evaluation of CHK2, ATR, and γ -H2AX activity kinetics revealed that CHK2 phosphorylation happened even before the CIP2A downregulation. We have used SMAPs as surrogate CIP2A transcriptional inhibitors, but it is important to note that SMAPs also have other CIP2A independent effects associated with direct PP2A activation.

The success of PARP inhibitors has spurred a search for synthetic lethal mechanisms to target different types of cancer. BLBCs are known to exhibit a high degree of genomic instability due to mutations in critical DNA repair pathways, making them highly dependent on alternative pathways. (Ashworth & Lord, 2018; O'Neil et al., 2017). For instance, HR deficient tumors have been shown to rely heavily on NHEJ/MMEJ or BER. Based on CIP2A signature indicating that CIP2A

depletion results in BER defects and downregulation of HR genes, we aimed to identify vulnerabilities that could be targeted. Our hypothesis was that CIP2A silenced cells would be extremely susceptible to DNA damage and replication stress inducing drugs. Accordingly, we screened standard chemotherapy drugs and found that gemcitabine exhibited a strong synergy in CIP2A low cells. Gemcitabine is a prodrug that, once metabolized, produces nucleoside analogues, that incorporate into the DNA and stall the replication machinery, causing single and double strand breaks (de Sousa Cavalcante & Monteiro, 2014; Jones et al., 2014). This could explain why CIP2A low BLBCs are sensitive to gemcitabine. To uncover more targets, high throughput drug screening could be conducted in the future with a more extensive panel of DDR drugs in the CIP2A high and CIP2A low BLBC cells.

We also identified thiostrepton as a repurposed CIP2A transcriptional inhibitor from the Drug Connectivity Map database. Thiostrepton is a natural product and has been FDA approved for topical use as a veterinary antimicrobial agent (T. H. Kim et al., 2019). It has been recently granted an orphan designation for malignant mesothelioma (https://www.ema.europa.eu/). Also, a clinical trial is currently recruiting patients for dose escalation and dose expansion studies to evaluate thiostrepton in malignant pleural effusions and mesotheliomas (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/record/NCT05278975). Drug repurposing has benefits that since these drugs have been tested for other clinical indications in humans, and they usually have a good pharmacokinetic and safety profile. Also, developing them for other indication would not involve major costs (Pushpakom et al., 2019). However, when we tested the thiostrepton+gemcitabine combination in vivo, the study had to be terminated within 10 days from the start of the dosing because thiostrepton was extremely toxic and drastically affected the wellbeing of mice the mice (decrease of weights both thiostrepton in and thiostrepton+gemcitabine groups (Unused data - Figure 10).



Figure 10: Orthotopic mammary fat pad xenograft experiment in nude mice with MDA-MB-231 cells, to test the Thiostrepton+Gemcitabine combination *in vivo*. Tumor volumes (A) and body weights (B) of the mice in the study. N=8 mice were used for each group (Unused data).

The toxicity of thiostrepton in vivo highlights the importance of carefully evaluating the safety and efficacy of repurposed drugs in preclinical and clinical studies before moving forward with their use in patients. While drug repurposing has the potential to accelerate drug development and improve patient outcomes, it is crucial to ensure that the drugs are safe and effective for the intended use. Additionally, it is important to consider potential drug interactions and toxicity when combining drugs, as seen in the case of thiostrepton and gemcitabine. Further studies are needed to identify safer and more effective combinations of drugs for targeting CIP2A in BLBCs. The dosing regimen for thiostrepton+gemcitabine used in this study was adapted from a published study testing thiostrepton in combination with oxaliplatin (Y. Wang et al., 2020). When the tumors were palpable, thiostrepton was dosed at 200mg/kg *i.p.* a day before, on the day and the day after the initiation of gemcitabine chemotherapy (35 mg/kg *i.p.* once every week). It was followed by 40mg/kg maintenance dose of thiostrepton every two days. However, we did not conduct a safety or dose escalation study to identify the effective concentration of thiostrepton in combination with gemcitabine, which could have contributed to the extreme toxicities observed. To ascertain the toxicity of thiostrepton, a careful dose escalation and toxicity study should be conducted before combining it with gemcitabine. Furthermore, there are several other FOXM1 inhibitors such as FDI-6 and RCM-1 that have been reported in the literature (Gormally et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2017) and could be evaluated for their pharmacokinetic, safety and activity profile.

Thiostrepton is a known inhibitor of FOXM1 (Forkhead box M1) (Hegde et al., 2011), a transcription factor that regulates DDR genes and confers resistance to DNA damaging agents (Kwok et al., 2010; Monteiro et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012). In the METABRIC study, Curtis and colleagues integrating genome and transcriptomes of 2000 breast cancer samples and classified breast cancer into 10 integrated clusters, with FOXM1being part of the BLBC enriched IntClust10 group. The genes in this group are known to regulate genomic and chromosomal instability (Curtis et al., 2012). Thiostrepton's selection as a top target from the drug repurposing database was particularly insightful because CIP2A signature also regulates genomic instability and DDR functions. We are yet to uncover whether CIP2A regulates DDR through FOXM1, but there is evidence that E2F1 is involved in the activation of FOXM1 and the downstream DDR functions (Bosquet et al., 2021). Since CIP2A is involved in a positive feedback loop with E2F1 (Laine et al., 2013), it is plausible that CIP2A downregulation can lead to downregulation of FOXM1 and DDR via E2F1. The potential link between CIP2A and FOXM1 through E2F1 in regulating DDR is an intriguing avenue for further investigation.

6.4 Clinical relevance of CIP2A in BL-TNBCs

Contrary to the earlier notions that CIP2A is critical for the development of several human cancer types (Khanna, Pimanda, et al., 2013; Khanna & Pimanda, 2016), our results indicate that CIP2A is actually very selective and important only in BLBCs. Additionally, we found that CIP2A plays a selective role as a prognostic biomarker in patient material, where high levels of CIP2A are only correlated with poor prognosis in basal-like TNBCs but not in non-basal like BLBCs, ER+ breast cancer, or breast cancer patients as a whole (I, Figure 5, S6). Furthermore, we discovered that CIP2A is essential in TP53/BRCA mutant BLBCs but is dispensable in p53/ECadherin or ECadherin/AKT mutant cells, which represent invasive lobular carcinoma type. This finding was corroborated in an independent study by Daniel Durocher group who found that CIP2A is synthetic lethal target in p53/BRCA mutant cells (Adam et al., 2021). Additionally, we analyzed the most CIP2A dependent breast cancer cell lines from DepMap and found that most of the highly CIP2A dependent cell lines were also BRCA1/2 mutant.

To summarize, the results of my thesis indicate that CIP2A has the potential to serve as a biomarker for identifying particularly aggressive BL-TNBCs and as a synthetic lethal target in BRCA mutant BLBCs.

6.5 CIP2A transcriptional signature helps in personalized treatment of BLBC

BLBC is a complex and heterogeneous disease, which encompasses several sub diseases. Patients presenting with same histopathological features may have very distinct clinical prognosis or outcomes (Badve et al., 2011; Marra et al., 2020; Toft & Cryns, 2011). With the advances in sequencing technologies, many different gene expression-based classifications of breast cancer have been reported (Perou et al., 2000; Sørlie et al., 2001; Sotiriou et al., 2003; van 't Veer et al., 2002). Although these classification methods have proven to have a great prognostic and predictive value, their routine utilization in the clinic has been very limited and clinicians have resorted to surrogate pathological markers for subtyping the breast cancer (Prat et al., 2015; Varnier et al., 2021; Weigelt et al., 2011). Despite BLBC being very heterogenous, in the clinic, it is treated uniformly as one single disease with the same chemotherapy (Marra et al., 2020). Since BLBC has an aggressive disease progression, even the early-stage tumors are treated immediately with aggressive polychemotherapy to prevent metastasis. Although this aggressive approach reduces the risk of distant metastases by one-third, it has been estimated that only 20-30% of the early stage breast cancer patients who receive the adjuvant polychemotherapy actually derive the benefit, while everyone is at a risk of toxic side effects (Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) et al., 2012; Early Breast

Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), 2019). Although some of these molecular profiling tools can predict the outcomes and progression of the disease, they are mostly suitable for ER+ breast cancer. In BLBC the clinical decisions on who receives the chemotherapy relies on histopathological factors such as stage and tumor grade (Caldas & Aparicio, 2002; Badve et al., 2011; Varnier et al., 2021) Thus, there is definitely a clinical unmet need for better signatures that can aid in patient stratification and personalized treatment.

The CIP2A signature generated in this dissertation (II) can be used to identify aggressive breast cancer patients. Our results show that the median survival of CIP2A negative signature patients is almost 250 months, compared to 120 months for CIP2A positive signature patients (II, Figure 2C), and hence they are expected to have a less aggressive disease. The signature needs further validation in a clinical trial setting, but there is potential for it to identify patient populations that derive benefit from treating aggressively with chemotherapy and suggest other less aggressive treatments for CIP2A negative signature patients. Therefore, the critical clinical recommendation from my dissertation is to stratify breast cancer patients based on aggressivity and de-escalate aggressive chemotherapy in less aggressive breast cancer cases so that they can be spared from unnecessary side effects. Moreover, this signature needs further improvement, so that it can be utilized routinely in the clinic. The signature currently has 225 genes and in order to have applicability for routine use in the clinic, we need to downsize the signature and validate it, to ensure it behaves the same way as the current version of the signature. The way I envision the signature being applied in the clinic has been outlined in the schematic Figure 11. Tumor biopsy samples from breast cancer patients can be processed to run directly on a qPCR plate format or Nanostring format. Based on the expression profile of the signature genes, the patient would be scored as positive, negative, or inconclusive (unclassified). We have also identified drugs such as gemcitabine and ATR inhibitors, that are effective in CIP2A negative signature patients. In CIP2A signature positive patients, we suggest using SMAP or thiostrepton which have been established as CIP2A transcriptional inhibitors in combination with gemcitabine and ATR inhibitors. Using high throughput drug screening, it is possible to identify more drugs which are effective for each of the stratified subgroups in the future.



Figure 11: Patient stratification of BLBC using the CIP2A signature. Figure reproduced from (Nagelli et al. *Manuscript*).

Overall, our signature highlights the potential of the CIP2A transcriptional signature to tailor therapies based on the aggressiveness of the patient's disease.

7 Conclusions

The two main objectives of my thesis were to identify driver mechanisms that can be targeted for BLBC and to develop a transcriptional signature that can facilitate patient stratification and personalized treatment for BLBC. We have identified several clues to improve the overall treatment landscape of BLBC patients. The most significant contribution of this thesis is the identification of a novel role of CIP2A as a critical DDR protein which opens new avenues and directions for future research in this topic.

Based on the results of my dissertation the following key conclusions can be made:

- 1. CIP2A is a novel non-genetic driver protein of BLBC. CIP2A interacts with TopBP1 and inhibits its chromatin recruitment at the site of DNA double strand breaks. CIP2A also promotes the progression of DNA damaged cells into mitosis by dampened G2/M activity.
- 2. CIP2A coordinates the key hallmarks of BLBC. CIP2A regulates both the PP2A dependent E2F1, MYC hyperproliferation activity and PP2A independent TopBP1 dependent G2/M activity. It is the first endogenous PP2A inhibitor which has been reported to be a driver in any human cancer.
- 3. CIP2A is a prognostic biomarker for basal-like TNBC and a synthetic lethal target for BRCA mutant BLBCs.
- 4. CIP2A can be targeted by surrogate CIP2A transcriptional inhibitors such as SMAPs and thiostrepton. SMAPs have a biphasic effect that they directly activate PP2A first, followed by CIP2A downregulation which can prolong the PP2A activation.
- 5. CIP2A low BLBCs are sensitive to ATR inhibition and gemcitabine whereas CIP2A high BLBCs can be turned sensitive to ATR inhibition or gemcitabine by combining them with SMAP or thiostrepton.
- 6. CIP2A signature has the potential to be used to stratify BLBC patients based on aggressivity and to tailor personalized treatment regimens.

Acknowledgements

The research work presented in this thesis was conducted at the Turku Bioscience Centre, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University. I am thankful to Professor Riitta Lahesmaa, the current director, and Professor John Eriksson, the previous director for creating an outstanding research environment equipped with state-ofthe-art facilities and surrounded by individuals passionate about pursuing high quality science. Additionally, I am thankful for the invaluable support provided by the technical and administrative personnel during these years.

I owe a debt of gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Jukka Westermarck, for granting me the opportunity to pursue my doctoral research in his research group. Throughout my PhD journey, he provided exceptional guidance, stimulating discussions, and constant encouragement that have been instrumental in navigating the challenges of my research journey. I am amazed by his enthusiasm for science and his insatiable desire to learn and acquire new skills, which will serve as a major source of inspiration throughout my life. It was an honor to be part of his research group, and I have learned a lot and had many enjoyable moments with the exceptional group of people working alongside me over the years. Thank you, Jukka, for believing in me and my abilities, even when I doubted myself.

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Laura Elo and Professor Cecilia Sahlgren, members of my thesis committee, for their interest in my research and invaluable feedback and input on my projects. I am also grateful to Professor Peeter Karihtala and Assistant Professor Liisa Kauppi for their meticulous review of my thesis, and for providing critical comments, that improved its overall quality. Furthermore, I am thankful to Professor Dipanjan Chowdhury for accepting the invitation to serve as the opponent during my public defense.

I extend my appreciation to Professor Ilmo Leivo, the former head of the Pathology Department, for accepting me as a doctoral candidate in Pathology at the University of Turku Faculty of Medicine. Additionally, I would like to thank Professor Pekka Taimen, the current head of the Pathology Department and Outi Irjala, the Chief Academic Officer for their administrative support during my doctoral studies. I am grateful to the Drug Research Doctoral Programme (DRDP) at the Faculty of Medicine, University of Turku, for accepting me as a doctoral student. I would like to thank Professors Markku Koulu and Eriika Savontaus, the previous directors and Ullamari Pesonen, the present director of DRDP for their financial support, and for fostering an excellent training atmosphere in the field of drug research. I am also fortunate to have had an opportunity to meet and network with my peers from Turku and across Finland through annual DRDP and FinPharmaNet meetings. I would like to thank the efforts of Eeva Valve in organizing these DRDP meetings, and for her assistance during my doctoral studies.

I would like to acknowledge the Finnish Cancer Foundation, Breast Cancer Now, Tekes, Business Finland, United States Department of Defense, Instrumentarium Science Foundation, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Ida Montin Foundation, University of Turku Foundation and Biocity Turku Receptor Programme for their financial support and funding the research work presented in this thesis.

I am very thankful to my collaborators and my co-authors who made impactful contributions to the articles included in my thesis – Anni Laine, Emilia Peuhu, Caroline Farrington, Tomi Suomi, Umar Butt, Riikka Huhtaniemi, Julia Vainonen, Eman Elzeneini, and Professors Laura Elo, Goutham Narla, and Karin de Visser.

I would like to thank all the current and previous members of the Westermarck lab with whom I had a chance to work with over the years. I would like to specifically thank the following people: Tiina- for being my go-to person for help translating Finnish text and assisting me in navigating through day-to-day bureaucracy or administration related challenges; Taina- for general technical assistance in the projects; Anni- for the wonderful collaboration and her support in the DNA damage project; Otto-for being always very approachable and sharing his deep knowledge about PP2A biology; Aman and Xi- for helping me settle down and offering help in the lab during my initial days; Karolina- for cloning help and our fruitful discussions related to CIP2A and critical peer support during my struggles getting IPs to work; Majid- for his great sense of humor, wonderful scientific discussions and other random chatter; Oxana- for her input related to my projects; Joni- for being my partner in crime in several activities inside and outside the lab, and always being ready to help; Nora, Mukund, Umar, and Nikhil – for being helpful in several ways and bringing a joyful atmosphere to the lab; Riikka - for sharing her expertise on mouse models and *in vivo* experiments. I would also like to acknowledge Christian, Laxman, Julia, Anna, Aleksi, Henrik, Mari, Suvi, Phuong, Nora K, Ram, Jesse, and Priya for their company during my time in the lab.

I would like to thank Ivaska group for sharing the laboratory and office space with the Westermarck group which created an inspiring, cheerful, and collaborative work environment where we could benefit from each other's expertise. I am very thankful to the advice and input on my project, provided by Professor Johanna Ivaska and members of her research group. I would like to extend a special thank you to Mitro, Pranshu, Johanna L, Aleksi, James, and Niklas for their peer support during my PhD. I am grateful to my masters' thesis supervisor professor Vladimir Torchilin for introducing me to the field of cancer research. I acknowledge Bhushan Pattni for training me in the research skills and motivating me to do a PhD. I would like to make a special mention about my friends and well-wishers Srujan, Challa, Vishal, Sameer, Robin, Bharat anna, Bhargava Narumanchi and Bhargava Morampalli for their friendship and their efforts to keep in touch even though we are spread across different time zones.

I would like to thank fellow DRDP student council members Olli Moisio, Mitro Miihkinen, Arfa Mehmood, Gabriela Martinez-Chacon, William Eccleshall, Imran Ali Waggan, Susanne Vainio, Hanna Heikelä and Ville Eskonen, with whom I had the pleasure of organizing several events for DRDP students. I am very thankful to Olli and Mitro traveling all the way to India to attend my wedding and being with me on my most important day.

I would like to thank the Indian community in Turku for providing me a suitable outlet for busting the PhD stress. Thanks Prasanna and Amruta for helping me even before moving to Turku by patiently answering all my weird questions and helping me settle into a new city/country. I would like to thank Deepankar-Nikita, Nitin-Avlokita, Lav- Priyanka, Ankitha, Afshan, Ameya, Shishir, Binu, Madhukar, Vipin, Jismi, Rahul Biradar, Sachin Kochrekar, and Shruti for so many fun filled activities and a chance to organize events together for Indians in Turku that helped me forget about the gloomy Finnish weather and darkness. I am also thankful to Meraj Khan and Farid Siddiqui for their friendship.

I would like to thank my family who supported me throughout my life and in every decision and career step. Thank you, to my father (Srinivas), mother (Lavanya) for everything you have done for me in my life. Also, thanks to my brother (my Srikanth) and my sister (Srivalli) for your emotional support. Thanks to my love, Shravani - I feel very lucky to have a wife like you and I know that I was not available for you on some of the days when you needed me most, and even left you to the childcare duties all by yourself when I was busy in the lab, but you were really understanding and still supported me in every possible way. This love and support are what kept me going, even when the going got tough. Avyaan, you are the best thing that has ever happened to us. Your cheerful smile and curiosity have never failed to brighten up my days. It also made me more responsible and made me realize what truly matters in life. Your hugs worked wonders as the perfect antidote to my stress. I am very fortunate to have you both in my life.

Srikar Nagelli

14.03.2023

References

- Abbas, T., Keaton, M. A., & Dutta, A. (2013). Genomic Instability in Cancer. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(3), a012914–a012914. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012914
- Adam, S., Rossi, S. E., Moatti, N., De Marco Zompit, M., Xue, Y., Ng, T. F., Álvarez-Quilón, A., Desjardins, J., Bhaskaran, V., Martino, G., Setiaputra, D., Noordermeer, S. M., Ohsumi, T. K., Hustedt, N., Szilard, R. K., Chaudhary, N., Munro, M., Veloso, A., Melo, H., ... Durocher, D. (2021). The CIP2A–TOPBP1 axis safeguards chromosome stability and is a synthetic lethal target for BRCA-mutated cancer. *Nature Cancer*, 2(12), 1357–1371. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43018-021-00266-w
- Albertson, T. M., & Preston, B. D. (2006). DNA Replication Fidelity: Proofreading in Trans. Current Biology, 16(6), R209–R211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.02.031
- Al-Hakim, A., Escribano-Diaz, C., Landry, M.-C., O'Donnell, L., Panier, S., Szilard, R. K., & Durocher, D. (2010). The ubiquitous role of ubiquitin in the DNA damage response. *DNA Repair*, 9(12), 1229–1240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2010.09.011
- Ali, S. H., & DeCaprio, J. A. (2001). Cellular transformation by SV40 large T antigen: Interaction with host proteins. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 11(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1006/scbi.2000.0342
- Allen-Petersen, B. L., Risom, T., Feng, Z., Wang, Z., Jenny, Z. P., Thoma, M. C., Pelz, K. R., Morton, J. P., Sansom, O. J., Lopez, C. D., Sheppard, B., Christensen, D. J., Ohlmeyer, M., Narla, G., & Sears, R. C. (2019). Activation of PP2A and Inhibition of mTOR Synergistically Reduce MYC Signaling and Decrease Tumor Growth in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Research*, 79(1), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0717
- Alles, M. C., Gardiner-Garden, M., Nott, D. J., Wang, Y., Foekens, J. A., Sutherland, R. L., Musgrove, E. A., & Ormandy, C. J. (2009). Meta-Analysis and Gene Set Enrichment Relative to ER Status Reveal Elevated Activity of MYC and E2F in the "Basal" Breast Cancer Subgroup. *PLoS ONE*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004710
- Allison, K. H., Hammond, M. E. H., Dowsett, M., McKernin, S. E., Carey, L. A., Fitzgibbons, P. L., Hayes, D. F., Lakhani, S. R., Chavez-MacGregor, M., Perlmutter, J., Perou, C. M., Regan, M. M., Rimm, D. L., Symmans, W. F., Torlakovic, E. E., Varella, L., Viale, G., Weisberg, T. F., McShane, L. M., & Wolff, A. C. (2020). Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Testing in Breast Cancer: ASCO/CAP Guideline Update. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38(12), 1346–1366. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.02309
- Alluri, P., & Newman, L. A. (2014). Basal-Like and Triple-Negative Breast Cancers. Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America, 23(3), 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soc.2014.03.003
- Alonso, A., Sasin, J., Bottini, N., Friedberg, I., Friedberg, I., Osterman, A., Godzik, A., Hunter, T., Dixon, J., & Mustelin, T. (2004). Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases in the Human Genome. *Cell*, 117(6), 699–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.05.018
- Arnold, H. K., & Sears, R. C. (2006). Protein Phosphatase 2A Regulatory Subunit B56α Associates with c-Myc and Negatively Regulates c-Myc Accumulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 26(7), 2832–2844. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.26.7.2832-2844.2006

- Arnold, M., Morgan, E., Rumgay, H., Mafra, A., Singh, D., Laversanne, M., Vignat, J., Gralow, J. R., Cardoso, F., Siesling, S., & Soerjomataram, I. (2022). Current and future burden of breast cancer: Global statistics for 2020 and 2040. *The Breast*, 66, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2022.08.010
- Ashworth, A., & Lord, C. J. (2018). Synthetic lethal therapies for cancer: What's next after PARP inhibitors? *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 15(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-018-0055-6
- Awasthi, P., Foiani, M., & Kumar, A. (2016). ATM and ATR signaling at a glance. Journal of Cell Science, 129(6), 1285–1285. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.188631
- Badve, S., Dabbs, D. J., Schnitt, S. J., Baehner, F. L., Decker, T., Eusebi, V., Fox, S. B., Ichihara, S., Jacquemier, J., Lakhani, S. R., Palacios, J., Rakha, E. A., Richardson, A. L., Schmitt, F. C., Tan, P.-H., Tse, G. M., Weigelt, B., Ellis, I. O., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2011). Basal-like and triple-negative breast cancers: A critical review with an emphasis on the implications for pathologists and oncologists. *Modern Pathology*, 24(2), 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2010.200
- Bagge, J., Oestergaard, V. H., & Lisby, M. (2021). Functions of TopBP1 in preserving genome integrity during mitosis. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 113, 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2020.08.009
- Baker, D. J., Childs, B. G., Durik, M., Wijers, M. E., Sieben, C. J., Zhong, J., A. Saltness, R., Jeganathan, K. B., Verzosa, G. C., Pezeshki, A., Khazaie, K., Miller, J. D., & van Deursen, J. M. (2016). Naturally occurring p16Ink4a-positive cells shorten healthy lifespan. *Nature*, 530(7589), Article 7589. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16932
- Bakhoum, S. F., & Cantley, L. C. (2018). The Multifaceted Role of Chromosomal Instability in Cancer and Its Microenvironment. Cell, 174(6), 1347–1360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.027
- Bakhoum, S. F., Ngo, B., Laughney, A. M., Cavallo, J.-A., Murphy, C. J., Ly, P., Shah, P., Sriram, R. K., Watkins, T. B. K., Taunk, N. K., Duran, M., Pauli, C., Shaw, C., Chadalavada, K., Rajasekhar, V. K., Genovese, G., Venkatesan, S., Birkbak, N. J., McGranahan, N., ... Cantley, L. C. (2018). Chromosomal instability drives metastasis through a cytosolic DNA response. *Nature*, 553(7689), Article 7689. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25432
- Banerjee, S., Reis-Filho, J. S., Ashley, S., Steele, D., Ashworth, A., Lakhani, S. R., & Smith, I. E. (2006). Basal-like breast carcinomas: Clinical outcome and response to chemotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 59(7), 729–735. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.2005.033043
- Banerji, S., Cibulskis, K., Rangel-Escareno, C., Brown, K. K., Carter, S. L., Frederick, A. M., Lawrence, M. S., Sivachenko, A. Y., Sougnez, C., Zou, L., Cortes, M. L., Fernandez-Lopez, J. C., Peng, S., Ardlie, K. G., Auclair, D., Bautista-Piña, V., Duke, F., Francis, J., Jung, J., ... Meyerson, M. (2012). Sequence analysis of mutations and translocations across breast cancer subtypes. *Nature*, 486(7403), Article 7403. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11154
- Barber, K. W., & Rinehart, J. (2018). The ABCs of PTMs. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 14(3), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2572
- Baretti, M., & Le, D. T. (2018). DNA mismatch repair in cancer. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 189, 45–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.04.004
- Bartkova, J., Hořejší, Z., Koed, K., Krämer, A., Tort, F., Zieger, K., Guldberg, P., Sehested, M., Nesland, J. M., Lukas, C., Ørntoft, T., Lukas, J., & Bartek, J. (2005). DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. *Nature*, 434(7035), Article 7035. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03482
- Bartocci, C., & Denchi, E. L. (2013). Put a RING on it: Regulation and inhibition of RNF8 and RNF168
 RING finger E3 ligases at DNA damage sites. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00128
- Bass, T. E., Luzwick, J. W., Kavanaugh, G., Carroll, C., Dungrawala, H., Glick, G. G., Feldkamp, M. D., Putney, R., Chazin, W. J., & Cortez, D. (2016). ETAA1 acts at stalled replication forks to maintain genome integrity. *Nature Cell Biology*, 18(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3415

- Beard, W. A., Horton, J. K., Prasad, R., & Wilson, S. H. (2019). Eukaryotic Base Excision Repair: New Approaches Shine Light on Mechanism. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 88(1), 137–162. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-013118-111315
- Bhargava, R., Onyango, D. O., & Stark, J. M. (2016). Regulation of Single-Strand Annealing and its Role in Genome Maintenance. *Trends in Genetics*, 32(9), 566–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2016.06.007
- Bilbrough, T., Piemontese, E., & Seitz, O. (2022). Dissecting the role of protein phosphorylation: A chemical biology toolbox. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 51(13), 5691–5730. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1CS00991E
- Blackford, A. N., & Jackson, S. P. (2017). ATM, ATR, and DNA-PK: The Trinity at the Heart of the DNA Damage Response. *Molecular Cell*, 66(6), 801–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.05.015
- Böckelman, C., Lassus, H., Hemmes, A., Leminen, A., Westermarck, J., Haglund, C., Bützow, R., & Ristimäki, A. (2011). Prognostic role of CIP2A expression in serous ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 105(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.346
- Bolzán, A. D. (2020). Using telomeric chromosomal aberrations to evaluate clastogen-induced genomic instability in mammalian cells. Chromosome Research: An International Journal on the Molecular, Supramolecular and Evolutionary Aspects of Chromosome Biology, 28(3–4), 259–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10577-020-09641-2
- Bonner, W. M., Redon, C. E., Dickey, J. S., Nakamura, A. J., Sedelnikova, O. A., Solier, S., & Pommier, Y. (2008). FH2AX and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2523
- Bosquet, J. G., Zhang, Q., Cliby, W. A., Bakkum-Gamez, J. N., Cen, L., Dowdy, S. C., Sherman, M. E., Weroha, S. J., Clayton, A. C., Kipp, B. R., Halling, K. C., Couch, F. J., & Podratz, K. C. (2021). Association of a novel endometrial cancer biomarker panel with prognostic risk, platinum insensitivity, and targetable therapeutic options. *PloS One*, *16*(1), e0245664. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245664
- Brink, H. J., van Senten, J. R., De Vries-van Leeuwen, I. J., da Costa Pereira, D., Piersma, S. R., Jimenez, C. R., Centorrino, F., Ottmann, C., Siderius, M., Smit, M. J., & de Boer, A. H. (2022). Fusicoccin-A Targets Cancerous Inhibitor of Protein Phosphatase 2A by Stabilizing a C-Terminal Interaction with 14-3-3. ACS Chemical Biology, 17(11), 2972–2978. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.2c00299
- Bryant, H. E., Schultz, N., Thomas, H. D., Parker, K. M., Flower, D., Lopez, E., Kyle, S., Meuth, M., Curtin, N. J., & Helleday, T. (2005). Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADPribose) polymerase. *Nature*, 434(7035), 913–917. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03443
- Bunting, S. F., & Nussenzweig, A. (2013). End-joining, translocations and cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 13(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3537
- Burstein, H. J., Curigliano, G., Thürlimann, B., Weber, W. P., Poortmans, P., Regan, M. M., Senn, H. J., Winer, E. P., Gnant, M., Aebi, S., André, F., Barrios, C., Bergh, J., Bonnefoi, H., Morales, D. B., Brucker, S., Burstein, H., Cameron, D., Cardoso, F., ... Xu, B. (2021). Customizing local and systemic therapies for women with early breast cancer: The St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for treatment of early breast cancer 2021. *Annals of Oncology*, *32*(10), 1216–1235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2021.06.023
- Caldas, C., & Aparicio, S. A. J. (2002). The molecular outlook. *Nature*, 415(6871), 484–485. https://doi.org/10.1038/415484a
- Caldecott, K. W. (2008). Single-strand break repair and genetic disease. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 9(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2380
- Cardoso, F., Kyriakides, S., Ohno, S., Penault-Llorca, F., Poortmans, P., Rubio, I. T., Zackrisson, S., & Senkus, E. (2019). Early breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Annals of Oncology*, 30(8), 1194–1220. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz173
- Carey, L. A., Loirat, D., Punie, K., Bardia, A., Diéras, V., Dalenc, F., Diamond, J. R., Fontaine, C., Wang, G., Rugo, H. S., Hurvitz, S. A., Kalinsky, K., O'Shaughnessy, J., Loibl, S., Gianni, L., Piccart, M., Zhu, Y., Delaney, R., Phan, S., & Cortés, J. (2022). Sacituzumab govitecan as secondline treatment for metastatic triple-negative breast cancer—Phase 3 ASCENT study subanalysis. *Npj Breast Cancer*, 8(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-022-00439-5

- Ceccaldi, R., Liu, J. C., Amunugama, R., Hajdu, I., Primack, B., Petalcorin, M. I. R., O'Connor, K. W., Konstantinopoulos, P. A., Elledge, S. J., Boulton, S. J., Yusufzai, T., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2015). Homologous-recombination-deficient tumours are dependent on Pol0-mediated repair. *Nature*, 518(7538), Article 7538. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14184
- Ceccaldi, R., Rondinelli, B., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2016). Repair Pathway Choices and Consequences at the Double-Strand Break. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 26(1), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.07.009
- Chaib, S., Tchkonia, T., & Kirkland, J. L. (2022). Cellular senescence and senolytics: The path to the clinic. *Nature Medicine*, 28(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01923-y
- Chang, H. H. Y., Pannunzio, N. R., Adachi, N., & Lieber, M. R. (2017). Non-homologous DNA end joining and alternative pathways to double-strand break repair. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 18(8), 495–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.48
- Chatterjee, A., Rodger, E. J., & Eccles, M. R. (2018). Epigenetic drivers of tumourigenesis and cancer metastasis. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 51, 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.08.004
- Chatterjee, N., & Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair, and mutagenesis: DNA Damage and Repair. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 58(5), 235–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087
- Cheang, M. C. U., Chia, S. K., Voduc, D., Gao, D., Leung, S., Snider, J., Watson, M., Davies, S., Bernard, P. S., Parker, J. S., Perou, C. M., Ellis, M. J., & Nielsen, T. O. (2009). Ki67 Index, HER2 Status, and Prognosis of Patients With Luminal B Breast Cancer. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101(10), 736–750. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp082
- Cheang, M. C. U., Voduc, D., Bajdik, C., Leung, S., McKinney, S., Chia, S. K., Perou, C. M., & Nielsen, T. O. (2008). Basal-Like Breast Cancer Defined by Five Biomarkers Has Superior Prognostic Value than Triple-Negative Phenotype. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(5), 1368–1376. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1658
- Chen, K.-F., Liu, C.-Y., Lin, Y.-C., Yu, H.-C., Liu, T.-H., Hou, D.-R., Chen, P.-J., & Cheng, A.-L. (2010). CIP2A mediates effects of bortezomib on phospho-Akt and apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Oncogene*, 29(47), Article 47. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.357
- Chen, M. J., Dixon, J. E., & Manning, G. (2017). Genomics and evolution of protein phosphatases. Science Signaling, 10(474), eaag1796. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aag1796
- Chen, R., Xie, R., Meng, Z., Ma, S., & Guan, K.-L. (2019). STRIPAK integrates upstream signals to initiate the Hippo kinase cascade. *Nature Cell Biology*, 21(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-019-0426-y
- Cho, U. S., & Xu, W. (2007). Crystal structure of a protein phosphatase 2A heterotrimeric holoenzyme. *Nature*, 445(7123), Article 7123. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05351
- Choi, J.-H., Lindsey-Boltz, L. A., Kemp, M., Mason, A. C., Wold, M. S., & Sancar, A. (2010). Reconstitution of RPA-covered single-stranded DNA-activated ATR-Chk1 signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(31), 13660–13665. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007856107
- Choi, Y. A., Park, J. S., Park, M. Y., Oh, K. S., Lee, M. S., Lim, J.-S., Kim, K. I., Kim, K., Kwon, J., Yoon, D. Y., Moon, E.-Y., & Yang, Y. (2011). Increase in CIP2A expression is associated with doxorubicin resistance. *FEBS Letters*, 585(5), 755–760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.01.018
- Chowdhury, D., Keogh, M.-C., Ishii, H., Peterson, C. L., Buratowski, S., & Lieberman, J. (2005). Gamma-H2AX dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 2A facilitates DNA double-strand break repair. *Molecular Cell*, 20(5), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2005.10.003
- Chung, C. H., Bernard, P. S., & Perou, C. M. (2002). Molecular portraits and the family tree of cancer. *Nature Genetics*, 32 Suppl, 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1038
- Ciccia, A., & Elledge, S. J. (2010). The DNA Damage Response: Making It Safe to Play with Knives. *Molecular Cell*, 40(2), 179–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.019
- Cimprich, K. A., & Cortez, D. (2008). ATR: An essential regulator of genome integrity. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology, 9(8), 616–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2450
- Colleoni, M., Viale, G., Zahrieh, D., Pruneri, G., Gentilini, O., Veronesi, P., Gelber, R. D., Curigliano, G., Torrisi, R., Luini, A., Intra, M., Galimberti, V., Renne, G., Nolè, F., Peruzzotti, G., &

Goldhirsch, A. (2004). Chemotherapy Is More Effective in Patients with Breast Cancer Not Expressing Steroid Hormone Receptors: A Study of Preoperative Treatment. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *10*(19), 6622–6628. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0380

- Collisson, E. A., Sadanandam, A., Olson, P., Gibb, W. J., Truitt, M., Gu, S., Cooc, J., Weinkle, J., Kim, G. E., Jakkula, L., Feiler, H. S., Ko, A. H., Olshen, A. B., Danenberg, K. L., Tempero, M. A., Spellman, P. T., Hanahan, D., & Gray, J. W. (2011). Subtypes of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and their differing responses to therapy. *Nature Medicine*, *17*(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2344
- Côme, C., Laine, A., Chanrion, M., Edgren, H., Mattila, E., Liu, X., Jonkers, J., Ivaska, J., Isola, J., Darbon, J.-M., Kallioniemi, O., Thézenas, S., & Westermarck, J. (2009). CIP2A is associated with human breast cancer aggressivity. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 15(16), 5092–5100. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3283
- Conforti, R., Boulet, T., Tomasic, G., Taranchon, E., Arriagada, R., Spielmann, M., Ducourtieux, M., Soria, J. C., Tursz, T., Delaloge, S., Michiels, S., & Andre, F. (2007). Breast cancer molecular subclassification and estrogen receptor expression to predict efficacy of adjuvant anthracyclinesbased chemotherapy: A biomarker study from two randomized trials. *Annals of Oncology*, 18(9), 1477–1483. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdm209
- Cortez, D., Guntuku, S., Qin, J., & Elledge, S. J. (2001). ATR and ATRIP: Partners in Checkpoint Signaling. Science, 294(5547), 1713–1716. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1065521
- Cotta-Ramusino, C., McDonald, E. R., Hurov, K., Sowa, M. E., Harper, J. W., & Elledge, S. J. (2011). A DNA Damage Response Screen Identifies RHINO, a 9-1-1 and TopBP1 Interacting Protein Required for ATR Signaling. *Science*, 332(6035), 1313–1317. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1203430
- Cristea, S., & Polyak, K. (2018). Dissecting the mammary gland one cell at a time. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04905-2
- Curtis, C., Shah, S. P., Chin, S.-F., Turashvili, G., Rueda, O. M., Dunning, M. J., Speed, D., Lynch, A. G., Samarajiwa, S., Yuan, Y., Gräf, S., Ha, G., Haffari, G., Bashashati, A., Russell, R., McKinney, S., Langerød, A., Green, A., Provenzano, E., ... Aparicio, S. (2012). The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. *Nature*, 486(7403), Article 7403. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10983
- Cvrljevic, A. N., Butt, U., Huhtinen, K., Grönroos, T. J., Böckelman, C., Lassus, H., Butzow, R., Haglund, C., Kaipio, K., Arsiola, T., Laajala, T. D., Connolly, D. C., Ristimäki, A., Carpen, O., Pouwels, J., & Westermarck, J. (2022). Ovarian Cancers with Low CIP2A Tumor Expression Constitute an APR-246-Sensitive Disease Subtype. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 21(7), 1236– 1245. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-21-0622
- Davies, H., Glodzik, D., Morganella, S., Yates, L. R., Staaf, J., Zou, X., Ramakrishna, M., Martin, S., Boyault, S., Sieuwerts, A. M., Simpson, P. T., King, T. A., Raine, K., Eyfjord, J. E., Kong, G., Borg, Å., Birney, E., Stunnenberg, H. G., van de Vijver, M. J., ... Nik-Zainal, S. (2017). HRDetect is a predictor of BRCA1 and BRCA2 deficiency based on mutational signatures. *Nature Medicine*, 23(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4292
- Day, M., Oliver, A. W., & Pearl, L. H. (2021). Phosphorylation-dependent assembly of DNA damage response systems and the central roles of TOPBP1. DNA Repair, 108, 103232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2021.103232
- De Blander, H., Morel, A.-P., Senaratne, A. P., Ouzounova, M., & Puisieux, A. (2021). Cellular Plasticity: A Route to Senescence Exit and Tumorigenesis. *Cancers*, 13(18), 4561. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13184561
- De Marco Zompit, M., Esteban, M. T., Mooser, C., Adam, S., Rossi, S. E., Jeanrenaud, A., Leimbacher, P.-A., Fink, D., Shorrocks, A.-M. K., Blackford, A. N., Durocher, D., & Stucki, M. (2022). The CIP2A-TOPBP1 complex safeguards chromosomal stability during mitosis. *Nature Communications*, 13(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31865-5

- de Sousa Cavalcante, L., & Monteiro, G. (2014). Gemcitabine: Metabolism and molecular mechanisms of action, sensitivity and chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 741, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.041
- De Summa, S., Pinto, R., Sambiasi, D., Petriella, D., Paradiso, V., Paradiso, A., & Tommasi, S. (2013). BRCAness: A deeper insight into basal-like breast tumors. *Annals of Oncology*, 24, viii13–viii21. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdt306
- Deans, A. J., & West, S. C. (2011). DNA interstrand crosslink repair and cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 11(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3088
- Delacroix, S., Wagner, J. M., Kobayashi, M., Yamamoto, K., & Karnitz, L. M. (2007). The Rad9– Hus1–Rad1 (9–1–1) clamp activates checkpoint signaling via TopBP1. *Genes & Development*, 21(12), 1472–1477. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1547007
- Dempster, J. M., Boyle, I., Vazquez, F., Root, D. E., Boehm, J. S., Hahn, W. C., Tsherniak, A., & McFarland, J. M. (2021). Chronos: A cell population dynamics model of CRISPR experiments that improves inference of gene fitness effects. *Genome Biology*, 22(1), 343. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-021-02540-7
- Denkert, C., Liedtke, C., Tutt, A., & von Minckwitz, G. (2017). Molecular alterations in triple-negative breast cancer—The road to new treatment strategies. *The Lancet*, 389(10087), 2430–2442. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32454-0
- Derksen, P. W. B., Liu, X., Saridin, F., van der Gulden, H., Zevenhoven, J., Evers, B., van Beijnum, J. R., Griffioen, A. W., Vink, J., Krimpenfort, P., Peterse, J. L., Cardiff, R. D., Berns, A., & Jonkers, J. (2006). Somatic inactivation of E-cadherin and p53 in mice leads to metastatic lobular mammary carcinoma through induction of anoikis resistance and angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell*, 10(5), 437–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.09.013
- Douglas, P., Moorhead, G. B. G., Ye, R., & Lees-Miller, S. P. (2001). Protein Phosphatases Regulate DNA-dependent Protein Kinase Activity*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(22), 18992– 18998. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M011703200
- Drake, J. W., Charlesworth, B., Charlesworth, D., & Crow, J. F. (1998). Rates of Spontaneous Mutation. Genetics, 148(4), 1667–1686. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/148.4.1667
- Drews, R. M., Hernando, B., Tarabichi, M., Haase, K., Lesluyes, T., Smith, P. S., Morrill Gavarró, L., Couturier, D.-L., Liu, L., Schneider, M., Brenton, J. D., Van Loo, P., Macintyre, G., & Markowetz, F. (2022). A pan-cancer compendium of chromosomal instability. *Nature*, 606(7916), Article 7916. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04789-9
- D'Souza, A., Blee, A. M., & Chazin, W. J. (2022). Mechanism of action of nucleotide excision repair machinery. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 50(1), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20210246
- Duursma, A. M., Driscoll, R., Elias, J. E., & Cimprich, K. A. (2013). A Role for the MRN Complex in ATR Activation via TOPBP1 Recruitment. *Molecular Cell*, 50(1), 116–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.03.006
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). (2019). Increasing the dose intensity of chemotherapy by more frequent administration or sequential scheduling: A patient-level metaanalysis of 37 298 women with early breast cancer in 26 randomised trials. *Lancet (London, England)*, 393(10179), 1440–1452. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)33137-4
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Peto, R., Davies, C., Godwin, J., Gray, R., Pan, H. C., Clarke, M., Cutter, D., Darby, S., McGale, P., Taylor, C., Wang, Y. C., Bergh, J., Di Leo, A., Albain, K., Swain, S., Piccart, M., & Pritchard, K. (2012). Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: Meta-analyses of long-term outcome among 100,000 women in 123 randomised trials. *Lancet (London, England)*, 379(9814), 432–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61625-5
- Eichhorn, P. J. A., Creyghton, M. P., & Bernards, R. (2009). Protein phosphatase 2A regulatory subunits and cancer. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Reviews on Cancer*, 1795(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2008.05.005

- Eischen, C. M. (2016). Genome Stability Requires p53. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 6(6), a026096. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a026096
- Elgendy, M., Cirò, M., Hosseini, A., Weiszmann, J., Mazzarella, L., Ferrari, E., Cazzoli, R., Curigliano, G., DeCensi, A., Bonanni, B., Budillon, A., Pelicci, P. G., Janssens, V., Ogris, M., Baccarini, M., Lanfrancone, L., Weckwerth, W., Foiani, M., & Minucci, S. (2019). Combination of Hypoglycemia and Metformin Impairs Tumor Metabolic Plasticity and Growth by Modulating the PP2A-GSK3β-MCL-1 Axis. *Cancer Cell*, 35(5), 798-815.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.03.007
- Enjoji, S., Yabe, R., Tsuji, S., Yoshimura, K., Kawasaki, H., Sakurai, M., Sakai, Y., Takenouchi, H., Yoshino, S., Hazama, S., Nagano, H., Oshima, H., Oshima, M., Vitek, M. P., Matsuura, T., Hippo, Y., Usui, T., Ohama, T., & Sato, K. (2018). Stemness Is Enhanced in Gastric Cancer by a SET/PP2A/E2F1 Axis. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 16(3), 554–563. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-17-0393
- Fan, C., Oh, D. S., Wessels, L., Weigelt, B., Nuyten, D. S. A., Nobel, A. B., van't Veer, L. J., & Perou, C. M. (2006). Concordance among Gene-Expression–Based Predictors for Breast Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(6), 560–569. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa052933
- Fan, H., Atiya, H. I., Wang, Y., Pisanic, T. R., Wang, T.-H., Shih, I.-M., Foy, K. K., Frisbie, L., Buckanovich, R. J., Chomiak, A. A., Tiedemann, R. L., Rothbart, S. B., Chandler, C., Shen, H., & Coffman, L. G. (2020). Epigenomic Reprogramming toward Mesenchymal-Epithelial Transition in Ovarian-Cancer-Associated Mesenchymal Stem Cells Drives Metastasis. *Cell Reports*, 33(10), 108473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108473
- Farmer, H., McCabe, N., Lord, C. J., Tutt, A. N. J., Johnson, D. A., Richardson, T. B., Santarosa, M., Dillon, K. J., Hickson, I., Knights, C., Martin, N. M. B., Jackson, S. P., Smith, G. C. M., & Ashworth, A. (2005). Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*, 434(7035), 917–921. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03445
- Fellner, T., Lackner, D. H., Hombauer, H., Piribauer, P., Mudrak, I., Zaragoza, K., Juno, C., & Ogris, E. (2003). A novel and essential mechanism determining specificity and activity of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) in vivo. *Genes & Development*, 17(17), 2138–2150. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.259903
- Feng, J., Wakeman, T., Yong, S., Wu, X., Kornbluth, S., & Wang, X.-F. (2009). Protein phosphatase 2A-dependent dephosphorylation of replication protein A is required for the repair of DNA breaks induced by replication stress. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(21), 5696–5709. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00191-09
- Fleuren, E. D. G., Zhang, L., Wu, J., & Daly, R. J. (2016). The kinome "at large" in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 16(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2015.18
- Fowle, H., Zhao, Z., & Graña, X. (2019). PP2A holoenzymes, substrate specificity driving cellular functions and deregulation in cancer. In *Advances in Cancer Research* (Vol. 144, pp. 55–93). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.acr.2019.03.009
- Fujiki, H., & Suganuma, M. (1999). Unique features of the okadaic acid activity class of tumor promoters. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology, 125(3–4), 150–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004320050257
- Fujiwara, T., Bandi, M., Nitta, M., Ivanova, E. V., Bronson, R. T., & Pellman, D. (2005). Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. *Nature*, 437(7061), Article 7061. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04217
- Fusco, M. J., West, H. (Jack), & Walko, C. M. (2021). Tumor Mutation Burden and Cancer Treatment. JAMA Oncology, 7(2), 316. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6371
- Gabai, Y., Assouline, B., & Ben-Porath, I. (2023). Senescent stromal cells: Roles in the tumor microenvironment. *Trends in Cancer*, 9(1), 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2022.09.002
- Gagan, G., Caroline Dasom, L., Mary L, G., Robert E Van, S., Michael P, L., Alex C, L., Anthony, P., Angela M, T.-T., Janet S, W., Billur, S., Rick J, J., Richard A, H., & Amy H, T. (2020). Unmet Clinical Need: Developing Prognostic Biomarkers and Precision Medicine to Forecast Early Tumor Relapse, Detect Chemo-Resistance and Improve Overall Survival in High-Risk Breast Cancer. Annals of Breast Cancer and Therapy, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.36959/739/525

- Gagliano, T., & Brancolini, C. (2021). Epigenetic Mechanisms beyond Tumour–Stroma Crosstalk. *Cancers*, 13(4), 914. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13040914
- Garraway, L. A., & Lander, E. S. (2013). Lessons from the Cancer Genome. *Cell*, 153(1), 17–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.002
- Geddes, D. T. (2007). Inside the Lactating Breast: The Latest Anatomy Research. *Journal of Midwifery* & Women's Health, 52(6), 556–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmwh.2007.05.004
- Gennari, A., André, F., Barrios, C. H., Cortés, J., Azambuja, E. de, DeMichele, A., Dent, R., Fenlon, D., Gligorov, J., Hurvitz, S. A., Im, S.-A., Krug, D., Kunz, W. G., Loi, S., Penault-Llorca, F., Ricke, J., Robson, M., Rugo, H. S., Saura, C., ... Harbeck, N. (2021). ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for the diagnosis, staging and treatment of patients with metastatic breast cancer*. *Annals of Oncology*, 32(12), 1475–1495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2021.09.019
- Gillespie, M., Jassal, B., Stephan, R., Milacic, M., Rothfels, K., Senff-Ribeiro, A., Griss, J., Sevilla, C., Matthews, L., Gong, C., Deng, C., Varusai, T., Ragueneau, E., Haider, Y., May, B., Shamovsky, V., Weiser, J., Brunson, T., Sanati, N., ... D'Eustachio, P. (2022). The reactome pathway knowledgebase 2022. Nucleic Acids Research, 50(D1), D687–D692. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1028
- Goldberg, J., Huang, H., Kwon, Y., Greengard, P., Nairn, A. C., & Kuriyan, J. (1995). Threedimensional structure of the catalytic subunit of protein serine/threonine phosphatase-1. *Nature*, 376(6543), Article 6543. https://doi.org/10.1038/376745a0
- Goldstein, B. D., & Patel, V. (2019). Controversy about the "Bad Luck" Cancer Hypothesis Could Lead to a Useful Tool for Planning Primary Prevention Cancer Research. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 32(6), 949–951. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.8b00390
- Golshan, M., Cirrincione, C. T., Sikov, W. M., Carey, L. A., Berry, D. A., Overmoyer, B., Henry, N. L., Somlo, G., Port, E., Burstein, H. J., Hudis, C., Winer, E., Ollila, D. W., & for the Alliance for Clinical Trials in Oncology. (2016). Impact of neoadjuvant therapy on eligibility for and frequency of breast conservation in stage II–III HER2-positive breast cancer: Surgical results of CALGB 40601 (Alliance). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 160(2), 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-016-4006-6
- Gomes, L. R., Menck, C. F. M., & Cuervo, A. M. (2017). Chaperone-mediated autophagy prevents cellular transformation by regulating MYC proteasomal degradation. *Autophagy*, 13(5), 928–940. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2017.1293767
- Goodarzi, A. A., Jonnalagadda, J. C., Douglas, P., Young, D., Ye, R., Moorhead, G. B. G., Lees-Miller, S. P., & Khanna, K. K. (2004). Autophosphorylation of ataxia-telangiectasia mutated is regulated by protein phosphatase 2A. *The EMBO Journal*, 23(22), 4451–4461. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600455
- Gorgoulis, V. G., Vassiliou, L.-V. F., Karakaidos, P., Zacharatos, P., Kotsinas, A., Liloglou, T., Venere, M., Ditullio, R. A., Kastrinakis, N. G., Levy, B., Kletsas, D., Yoneta, A., Herlyn, M., Kittas, C., & Halazonetis, T. D. (2005). Activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and genomic instability in human precancerous lesions. *Nature*, 434(7035), 907–913. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03485
- Gormally, M. V., Dexheimer, T. S., Marsico, G., Sanders, D. A., Lowe, C., Matak-Vinković, D., Michael, S., Jadhav, A., Rai, G., Maloney, D. J., Simeonov, A., & Balasubramanian, S. (2014). Suppression of the FOXM1 transcriptional programme via novel small molecule inhibition. *Nature Communications*, 5, 5165. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6165
- Götz, J., Probst, A., Ehler, E., Hemmings, B., & Kues, W. (1998). Delayed embryonic lethality in mice lacking protein phosphatase 2A catalytic subunit Calpha. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(21), 12370–12375. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.21.12370
- Greaves, M., & Maley, C. C. (2012). Clonal evolution in cancer. *Nature*, 481(7381), Article 7381. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10762
- Groves, M. R., Hanlon, N., Turowski, P., Hemmings, B. A., & Barford, D. (1999). The Structure of the Protein Phosphatase 2A PR65/A Subunit Reveals the Conformation of Its 15 Tandemly Repeated HEAT Motifs. *Cell*, 96(1), 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80963-0

- Guenebeaud, C., Goldschneider, D., Castets, M., Guix, C., Chazot, G., Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Eisenberg-Lerner, A., Shohat, G., Zhang, M., Laudet, V., Kimchi, A., Bernet, A., & Mehlen, P. (2010). The Dependence Receptor UNC5H2/B Triggers Apoptosis via PP2A-Mediated Dephosphorylation of DAP Kinase. *Molecular Cell*, 40(6), 863–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.11.021
- Guo, B., Wu, S., Zhu, X., Zhang, L., Deng, J., Li, F., Wang, Y., Zhang, S., Wu, R., Lu, J., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Micropeptide CIP2A-BP encoded by LINC00665 inhibits triple-negative breast cancer progression. *The EMBO Journal*, 39(1), e102190. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019102190
- Gupta, P. B., Pastushenko, I., Skibinski, A., Blanpain, C., & Kuperwasser, C. (2019). Phenotypic plasticity as a driver of cancer formation, progression and resistance to therapy. *Cell Stem Cell*, 24(1), 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.11.011
- Guzmán, C., Bagga, M., Kaur, A., Westermarck, J., & Abankwa, D. (2014). ColonyArea: An ImageJ Plugin to Automatically Quantify Colony Formation in Clonogenic Assays. *PLOS ONE*, 9(3), e92444. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092444
- Hached, K., Goguet, P., Charrasse, S., Vigneron, S., Sacristan, M. P., Lorca, T., & Castro, A. (2019). ENSA and ARPP19 differentially control cell cycle progression and development. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 218(2), 541–558. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201708105
- Haesen, D., Abbasi Asbagh, L., Derua, R., Hubert, A., Schrauwen, S., Hoorne, Y., Amant, F., Waelkens, E., Sablina, A., & Janssens, V. (2016). Recurrent PPP2R1A Mutations in Uterine Cancer Act through a Dominant-Negative Mechanism to Promote Malignant Cell Growth. *Cancer Research*, 76(19), 5719–5731. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-3342
- Hahn, W. C., Counter, C. M., Lundberg, A. S., Beijersbergen, R. L., Brooks, M. W., & Weinberg, R. A. (1999). Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. *Nature*, 400(6743), Article 6743. https://doi.org/10.1038/22780
- Hahn, W. C., & Weinberg, R. A. (2002). Rules for Making Human Tumor Cells. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347(20), 1593–1603. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra021902
- Halazonetis, T. D., Gorgoulis, V. G., & Bartek, J. (2008). An Oncogene-Induced DNA Damage Model for Cancer Development. *Science*, 319(5868), 1352–1355. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1140735
- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. *Cancer Discovery*, 12(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Harper, J. W., & Elledge, S. J. (2007). The DNA Damage Response: Ten Years After. *Molecular Cell*, 28(5), 739–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.11.015
- Hayashi, Y. (1992). Overview of genotoxic carcinogens and non-genotoxic carcinogens. *Experimental* and Toxicologic Pathology, 44(8), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0940-2993(11)80159-4
- He, Y. J., Meghani, K., Caron, M.-C., Yang, C., Ronato, D. A., Bian, J., Sharma, A., Moore, J., Niraj, J., Detappe, A., Doench, J. G., Legube, G., Root, D. E., D'Andrea, A. D., Drané, P., De, S., Konstantinopoulos, P. A., Masson, J.-Y., & Chowdhury, D. (2018). DYNLL1 binds to MRE11 to limit DNA end resection in BRCA1-deficient cells. *Nature*, 563(7732), Article 7732. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0670-5
- Hegde, N. S., Sanders, D. A., Rodriguez, R., & Balasubramanian, S. (2011). The transcription factor FOXM1 is a cellular target of the natural product thiostrepton. *Nature Chemistry*, 3(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.1114
- Helleday, T. (2011). The underlying mechanism for the PARP and BRCA synthetic lethality: Clearing up the misunderstandings. *Molecular Oncology*, 5(4), 387–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2011.07.001
- Hertz, E. P. T., Kruse, T., Davey, N. E., López-Méndez, B., Sigurðsson, J. O., Montoya, G., Olsen, J. V., & Nilsson, J. (2016). A Conserved Motif Provides Binding Specificity to the PP2A-B56 Phosphatase. *Molecular Cell*, 63(4), 686–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.06.024

- Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (2009). DNA Damage, Aging, and Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 361(15), 1475–1485. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0804615
- Hoo, L. S., Zhang, J. Y., & Chan, E. K. (2002). Cloning and characterization of a novel 90 kDa 'companion' auto-antigen of p62 overexpressed in cancer. *Oncogene*, 21(32), Article 32. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205625
- Hu, Z., Fan, C., Oh, D. S., Marron, J., He, X., Qaqish, B. F., Livasy, C., Carey, L. A., Reynolds, E., Dressler, L., Nobel, A., Parker, J., Ewend, M. G., Sawyer, L. R., Wu, J., Liu, Y., Nanda, R., Tretiakova, M., Orrico, A. R., ... Perou, C. M. (2006). The molecular portraits of breast tumors are conserved across microarray platforms. *BMC Genomics*, 7(1), 96. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-7-96
- Hunter, T. (1995). Protein kinases and phosphatases: The Yin and Yang of protein phosphorylation and signaling. Cell, 80(2), 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90405-0
- Hunter, T. (2012). Why nature chose phosphate to modify proteins. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 367(1602), 2513–2516. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0013
- Hustedt, N., Álvarez-Quilón, A., McEwan, A., Yuan, J. Y., Cho, T., Koob, L., Hart, T., & Durocher, D. (2019). A consensus set of genetic vulnerabilities to ATR inhibition. *Open Biology*, 9(9), 190156. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.190156
- Ianevski, A., Giri, A. K., & Aittokallio, T. (2022). SynergyFinder 3.0: An interactive analysis and consensus interpretation of multi-drug synergies across multiple samples. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 50(W1), W739–W743. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac382
- Jackson, S. P., & Bartek, J. (2009). The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature*, 461(7267), Article 7267. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08467
- Janssens, V., & Goris, J. (2001). Protein phosphatase 2A: A highly regulated family of serine/threonine phosphatases implicated in cell growth and signalling. *Biochemical Journal*, 353(Pt 3), 417–439. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1221586/
- Janssens, V., Goris, J., & Van Hoof, C. (2005). PP2A: The expected tumor suppressor. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development, 15(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2004.12.004
- Janssens, V., Longin, S., & Goris, J. (2008). PP2A holoenzyme assembly: In cauda venenum (the sting is in the tail). *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *33*(3), 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2007.12.004
- Jasin, M., & Rothstein, R. (2013). Repair of Strand Breaks by Homologous Recombination. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5(11), a012740. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012740
- Jeggo, P. A., Pearl, L. H., & Carr, A. M. (2016). DNA repair, genome stability and cancer: A historical perspective. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 16(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2015.4
- Jeon, Y., Ko, E., Lee, K. Y., Ko, M. J., Park, S. Y., Kang, J., Jeon, C. H., Lee, H., & Hwang, D. S. (2011). TopBP1 Deficiency Causes an Early Embryonic Lethality and Induces Cellular Senescence in Primary Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(7), 5414–5422. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.189704
- Jiricny, J. (2013). Postreplicative Mismatch Repair. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5(4), a012633. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012633
- Joensuu, H., Bono, P., Kataja, V., Alanko, T., Kokko, R., Asola, R., Utriainen, T., Turpeenniemi-Hujanen, T., Jyrkkiö, S., Möykkynen, K., Helle, L., Ingalsuo, S., Pajunen, M., Huusko, M., Salminen, T., Auvinen, P., Leinonen, H., Leinonen, M., Isola, J., & Kellokumpu-Lehtinen, P.-L. (2009). Fluorouracil, Epirubicin, and Cyclophosphamide With Either Docetaxel or Vinorelbine, With or Without Trastuzumab, As Adjuvant Treatments of Breast Cancer: Final Results of the FinHer Trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(34), 5685–5692. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.21.4577
- Joensuu, H., Isola, J., Lundin, M., Salminen, T., Holli, K., Kataja, V., Pylkkänen, L., Turpeenniemi-Hujanen, T., von Smitten, K., & Lundin, J. (2003). Amplification of erbB2 and erbB2 Expression Are Superior to Estrogen Receptor Status As Risk Factors for Distant Recurrence in pT1N0M0 Breast Cancer: A Nationwide Population-based Study1. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 9(3), 923–930.
- Jones, R. M., Kotsantis, P., Stewart, G. S., Groth, P., & Petermann, E. (2014). BRCA2 and RAD51 Promote Double-Strand Break Formation and Cell Death in Response to Gemeitabine. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 13(10), 2412–2421. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-0862

- Junttila, M. R., Puustinen, P., Niemelä, M., Ahola, R., Arnold, H., Böttzauw, T., Ala-aho, R., Nielsen, C., Ivaska, J., Taya, Y., Lu, S.-L., Lin, S., Chan, E. K. L., Wang, X.-J., Grènman, R., Kast, J., Kallunki, T., Sears, R., Kähäri, V.-M., & Westermarck, J. (2007). CIP2A inhibits PP2A in human malignancies. *Cell*, 130(1), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.04.044
- Kalev, P., Simicek, M., Vazquez, I., Munck, S., Chen, L., Soin, T., Danda, N., Chen, W., & Sablina, A. (2012). Loss of PPP2R2A Inhibits Homologous Recombination DNA Repair and Predicts Tumor Sensitivity to PARP Inhibition. *Cancer Research*, 72(24), 6414–6424. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1667
- Kauko, O., Imanishi, S. Y., Kulesskiy, E., Yetukuri, L., Laajala, T. D., Sharma, M., Pavic, K., Aakula, A., Rupp, C., Jumppanen, M., Haapaniemi, P., Ruan, L., Yadav, B., Suni, V., Varila, T., Corthals, G. L., Reimand, J., Wennerberg, K., Aittokallio, T., & Westermarck, J. (2020). Phosphoproteome and drug-response effects mediated by the three protein phosphatase 2A inhibitor proteins CIP2A, SET, and PME-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(13), 4194–4211. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.011265
- Kauko, O., O'Connor, C. M., Kulesskiy, E., Sangodkar, J., Aakula, A., Izadmehr, S., Yetukuri, L., Yadav, B., Padzik, A., Laajala, T. D., Haapaniemi, P., Momeny, M., Varila, T., Ohlmeyer, M., Aittokallio, T., Wennerberg, K., Narla, G., & Westermarck, J. (2018). PP2A inhibition is a druggable MEK inhibitor resistance mechanism in KRAS-mutant lung cancer cells. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10(450), eaaq1093. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaq1093
- Kauko, O., & Westermarck, J. (2018). Non-genomic mechanisms of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) regulation in cancer. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 96, 157–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2018.01.005
- Kawanishi, S., Hiraku, Y., Pinlaor, S., & Ma, N. (2006). Oxidative and nitrative DNA damage in animals and patients with inflammatory diseases in relation to inflammation-related carcinogenesis. *Biological Chemistry*, 387(4), 365–372. https://doi.org/10.1515/BC.2006.049
- Khanna, A., Böckelman, C., Hemmes, A., Junttila, M. R., Wiksten, J.-P., Lundin, M., Junnila, S., Murphy, D. J., Evan, G. I., Haglund, C., Westermarck, J., & Ristimäki, A. (2009). MYC-Dependent Regulation and Prognostic Role of CIP2A in Gastric Cancer. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 101(11), 793–805. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djp103
- Khanna, A., Kauko, O., Böckelman, C., Laine, A., Schreck, I., Partanen, J. I., Szwajda, A., Bormann, S., Bilgen, T., Helenius, M., Pokharel, Y. R., Pimanda, J., Russel, M. R., Haglund, C., Cole, K. A., Klefström, J., Aittokallio, T., Weiss, C., Ristimäki, A., ... Westermarck, J. (2013). Chk1 Targeting Reactivates PP2A Tumor Suppressor Activity in Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 73(22), 6757– 6769. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1002
- Khanna, A., Okkeri, J., Bilgen, T., Tiirikka, T., Vihinen, M., Visakorpi, T., & Westermarck, J. (2011). ETS1 mediates MEK1/2-dependent overexpression of cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A (CIP2A) in human cancer cells. *PloS One*, 6(3), e17979. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017979
- Khanna, A., & Pimanda, J. E. (2016). Clinical significance of cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A in human cancers. *International Journal of Cancer*, 138(3), 525–532. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29431
- Khanna, A., Pimanda, J. E., & Westermarck, J. (2013). Cancerous Inhibitor of Protein Phosphatase 2A, an Emerging Human Oncoprotein and a Potential Cancer Therapy Target. *Cancer Research*, 73(22), 6548–6553. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1994
- Khanna, A., Thoms, J. A. I., Stringer, B. W., Chung, S. A., Ensbey, K. S., Jue, T. R., Jahan, Z., Subramanian, S., Anande, G., Shen, H., Unnikrishnan, A., McDonald, K. L., Day, B. W., & Pimanda, J. E. (2020). Constitutive CHK1 Expression Drives a pSTAT3–CIP2A Circuit that Promotes Glioblastoma Cell Survival and Growth. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 18(5), 709–722. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-19-0934
- Kim, J.-S., Kim, E. J., Oh, J. S., Park, I.-C., & Hwang, S.-G. (2013). CIP2A Modulates Cell-Cycle Progression in Human Cancer Cells by Regulating the Stability and Activity of Plk1. *Cancer Research*, 73(22), 6667–6678. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0888
- Kim, T. H., Hanh, B. T. B., Kim, G., Lee, D.-G., Park, J.-W., Lee, S. E., Kim, J.-S., Kim, B. S., Ryoo, S., Jo, E.-K., & Jang, J. (2019). Thiostrepton: A Novel Therapeutic Drug Candidate for Mycobacterium abscessus Infection. *Molecules*, 24(24), 4511. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24244511
- Kleinberger, T., & Shenk, T. (1993). Adenovirus E4orf4 protein binds to protein phosphatase 2A, and the complex down regulates E1A-enhanced junB transcription. *Journal of Virology*, 67(12), 7556– 7560. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.67.12.7556-7560.1993
- Koboldt, D. C., Fulton, R. S., McLellan, M. D., Schmidt, H., Kalicki-Veizer, J., McMichael, J. F., Fulton, L. L., Dooling, D. J., Ding, L., Mardis, E. R., Wilson, R. K., Ally, A., Balasundaram, M., Butterfield, Y. S. N., Carlsen, R., Carter, C., Chu, A., Chuah, E., Chun, H.-J. E., ... MD Anderson Cancer Center. (2012). Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, 490(7418), Article 7418. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11412
- Koster, J., Volckmann, R., Zwijnenburg, D., Molenaar, P., & Versteeg, R. (2019). Abstract 2490: R2: Genomics analysis and visualization platform. *Cancer Research*, 79(13_Supplement), 2490. https://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2019-2490
- Kotsantis, P., Petermann, E., & Boulton, S. J. (2018). Mechanisms of Oncogene-Induced Replication Stress: Jigsaw Falling into Place. *Cancer Discovery*, 8(5), 537–555. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1461
- Krokan, H. E., & Bjoras, M. (2013). Base Excision Repair. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5(4), a012583–a012583. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012583
- Kucab, J. E., Zou, X., Morganella, S., Joel, M., Nanda, A. S., Nagy, E., Gomez, C., Degasperi, A., Harris, R., Jackson, S. P., Arlt, V. M., Phillips, D. H., & Nik-Zainal, S. (2019). A Compendium of Mutational Signatures of Environmental Agents. *Cell*, 177(4), 821-836.e16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.001
- Kumagai, A., Lee, J., Yoo, H. Y., & Dunphy, W. G. (2006). TopBP1 Activates the ATR-ATRIP Complex. Cell, 124(5), 943–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.12.041
- Kunkel, T. A. (2004). DNA Replication Fidelity *. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(17), 16895– 16898. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R400006200
- Kurppa, K. J., & Westermarck, J. (2020). Good Guy in Bad Company: How STRNs Convert PP2A into an Oncoprotein. *Cancer Cell*, 38(1), 20–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2020.06.011
- Kusakabe, M., Onishi, Y., Tada, H., Kurihara, F., Kusao, K., Furukawa, M., Iwai, S., Yokoi, M., Sakai, W., & Sugasawa, K. (2019). Mechanism and regulation of DNA damage recognition in nucleotide excision repair. *Genes and Environment*, 41(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41021-019-0119-6
- Kwok, J. M.-M., Peck, B., Monteiro, L. J., Schwenen, H. D. C., Millour, J., Coombes, R. C., Myatt, S. S., & Lam, E. W.-F. (2010). FOXM1 Confers Acquired Cisplatin Resistance in Breast Cancer Cells. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 8(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-09-0432
- Lahiguera, Á., Hyroššová, P., Figueras, A., Garzón, D., Moreno, R., Soto-Cerrato, V., McNeish, I., Serra, V., Lazaro, C., Barretina, P., Brunet, J., Menéndez, J., Matias-Guiu, X., Vidal, A., Villanueva, A., Taylor-Harding, B., Tanaka, H., Orsulic, S., Junza, A., ... Viñals, F. (2020). Tumors defective in homologous recombination rely on oxidative metabolism: Relevance to treatments with PARP inhibitors. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, *12*(6), e11217. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201911217
- Laine, A., Nagelli, S. G., Farrington, C., Butt, U., Cvrljevic, A. N., Vainonen, J. P., Feringa, F. M., Grönroos, T. J., Gautam, P., Khan, S., Sihto, H., Qiao, X., Pavic, K., Connolly, D. C., Kronqvist, P., Elo, L. L., Maurer, J., Wennerberg, K., Medema, R. H., ... Westermarck, J. (2021). CIP2A Interacts with TopBP1 and Drives Basal-Like Breast Cancer Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Research*, 81(16), 4319–4331. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-3651
- Laine, A., Sihto, H., Come, C., Rosenfeldt, M. T., Zwolinska, A., Niemelä, M., Khanna, A., Chan, E. K., Kähäri, V.-M., Kellokumpu-Lehtinen, P.-L., Sansom, O. J., Evan, G. I., Junttila, M. R., Ryan, K. M., Marine, J.-C., Joensuu, H., & Westermarck, J. (2013). Senescence Sensitivity of Breast

Cancer Cells Is Defined by Positive Feedback Loop between CIP2A and E2F1. *Cancer Discovery*, 3(2), 182–197. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0292

- Lamb, J., Crawford, E. D., Peck, D., Modell, J. W., Blat, I. C., Wrobel, M. J., Lerner, J., Brunet, J.-P., Subramanian, A., Ross, K. N., Reich, M., Hieronymus, H., Wei, G., Armstrong, S. A., Haggarty, S. J., Clemons, P. A., Wei, R., Carr, S. A., Lander, E. S., & Golub, T. R. (2006). The Connectivity Map: Using Gene-Expression Signatures to Connect Small Molecules, Genes, and Disease. *Science*, 313(5795), 1929–1935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1132939
- Land, H., Parada, L. F., & Weinberg, R. A. (1983). Tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. *Nature*, 304(5927), Article 5927. https://doi.org/10.1038/304596a0
- Lau, T.-S., Chan, L. K.-Y., Wong, E. C.-H., Hui, C. W.-C., Sneddon, K., Cheung, T.-H., Yim, S.-F., Lee, J. H.-S., Yeung, C. S.-Y., Chung, T. K.-H., & Kwong, J. (2017). A loop of cancer-stromacancer interaction promotes peritoneal metastasis of ovarian cancer via TNFα-TGFα-EGFR. *Oncogene*, 36(25), Article 25. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.509
- Lee, D.-H., & Chowdhury, D. (2011). What goes on must come off: Phosphatases gate-crash the DNA damage response. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 36(11), 569–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2011.08.007
- Lee, E. Y., & Muller, W. J. (2010). Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(10), a003236.
- Lee, J., & Dunphy, W. G. (2010). Rad17 Plays a Central Role in Establishment of the Interaction between TopBP1 and the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 Complex at Stalled Replication Forks. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 21(6), 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e09-11-0958
- Lee, J., Kumagai, A., & Dunphy, W. G. (2007). The Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 Checkpoint Clamp Regulates Interaction of TopBP1 with ATR *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(38), 28036–28044. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M704635200
- Lee, J.-K., Choi, Y.-L., Kwon, M., & Park, P. J. (2016). Mechanisms and consequences of cancer genome instability: Lessons from genome sequencing studies. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 11, 283–312.
- Leem, J., Kim, J.-S., & Oh, J. S. (2022). Oocytes can repair DNA damage during meiosis via a microtubule-dependent recruitment of CIP2A-MDC1-TOPBP1 complex from spindle pole to chromosomes (p. 2022.11.04.514992). bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.04.514992
- Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr, Y., & Pietenpol, J. A. (2011). Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121(7), 2750–2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45014
- Lemée, F., Bergoglio, V., Fernandez-Vidal, A., Machado-Silva, A., Pillaire, M.-J., Bieth, A., Gentil, C., Baker, L., Martin, A.-L., Leduc, C., Lam, E., Magdeleine, E., Filleron, T., Oumouhou, N., Kaina, B., Seki, M., Grimal, F., Lacroix-Triki, M., Thompson, A., ... Cazaux, C. (2010). DNA polymerase θ up-regulation is associated with poor survival in breast cancer, perturbs DNA replication, and promotes genetic instability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(30), 13390–13395. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910759107
- Lens, S. M. A., & Medema, R. H. (2019). Cytokinesis defects and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 19(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-018-0084-6
- Leonard, D., Huang, W., Izadmehr, S., O'Connor, C. M., Wiredja, D. D., Wang, Z., Zaware, N., Chen, Y., Schlatzer, D. M., Kiselar, J., Vasireddi, N., Schüchner, S., Perl, A. L., Galsky, M. D., Xu, W., Brautigan, D. L., Ogris, E., Taylor, D. J., & Narla, G. (2020). Selective PP2A Enhancement through Biased Heterotrimer Stabilization. *Cell*, 181(3), 688-701.e16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.038
- Li, F., Kozono, D., Deraska, P., Branigan, T., Dunn, C., Zheng, X.-F., Parmar, K., Nguyen, H., DeCaprio, J., Shapiro, G. I., Chowdhury, D., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2020). CHK1 Inhibitor Blocks

Phosphorylation of FAM122A and Promotes Replication Stress. *Molecular Cell*, 80(3), 410-422.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.10.008

- Li, G., Elder, R. T., Qin, K., Park, H. U., Liang, D., & Zhao, R. Y. (2007). Phosphatase Type 2Adependent and -independent Pathways for ATR Phosphorylation of Chk1*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(10), 7287–7298. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M607951200
- Li, M., Guo, H., & Damuni, Z. (1995). Purification and Characterization of Two Potent Heat-Stable Protein Inhibitors of Protein Phosphatase 2A from Bovine Kidney. *Biochemistry*, 34(6), 1988– 1996. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00006a020
- Li, X., Nan, A., Xiao, Y., Chen, Y., & Lai, Y. (2015). PP2A–B56€ complex is involved in dephosphorylation of γ-H2AX in the repair process of CPT-induced DNA double-strand breaks. *Toxicology*, 331, 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2015.03.007
- Li, X., & Virshup, D. M. (2002). Two conserved domains in regulatory B subunits mediate binding to the A subunit of protein phosphatase 2A. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 269(2), 546–552. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0014-2956.2001.02680.x
- Liberzon, A., Birger, C., Thorvaldsdóttir, H., Ghandi, M., Mesirov, J. P., & Tamayo, P. (2015). The Molecular Signatures Database Hallmark Gene Set Collection. *Cell Systems*, 1(6), 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2015.12.004
- Liu, H., Qiu, H., Song, Y., Liu, Y., Wang, H., Lu, M., Deng, M., Gu, Y., Yin, J., Luo, K., Zhang, Z., Jia, X., Zheng, G., & He, Z. (2017). Cip2a promotes cell cycle progression in triple-negative breast cancer cells by regulating the expression and nuclear export of p27Kip1. *Oncogene*, 36(14), 1952– 1964. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.355
- Liu, X., Holstege, H., van der Gulden, H., Treur-Mulder, M., Zevenhoven, J., Velds, A., Kerkhoven, R. M., van Vliet, M. H., Wessels, L. F. A., Peterse, J. L., Berns, A., & Jonkers, J. (2007). Somatic loss of BRCA1 and p53 in mice induces mammary tumors with features of human BRCA1mutated basal-like breast cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(29), 12111–12116. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0702969104
- Liu, Y., Cussiol, J. R., Dibitetto, D., Sims, J. R., Twayana, S., Weiss, R. S., Freire, R., Marini, F., Pellicioli, A., & Smolka, M. B. (2017). TOPBP1Dpb11 plays a conserved role in homologous recombination DNA repair through the coordinated recruitment of 53BP1Rad9. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 216(3), 623–639. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201607031
- Livasy, C. A., Karaca, G., Nanda, R., Tretiakova, M. S., Olopade, O. I., Moore, D. T., & Perou, C. M. (2006). Phenotypic evaluation of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. *Modern Pathology*, 19(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.3800528
- Loeb, L. A. (2001). A mutator phenotype in cancer. Cancer Research, 61(8), 3230–3239.
- Loeb, L. A., Bielas, J. H., & Beckman, R. A. (2008). Cancers Exhibit a Mutator Phenotype: Clinical Implications. *Cancer Research*, 68(10), 3551–3557. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5835
- Loibl, S., Poortmans, P., Morrow, M., Denkert, C., & Curigliano, G. (2021). Breast cancer. *The Lancet*, 397(10286), 1750–1769. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32381-3
- Lopez-Garcia, M. A., Geyer, F. C., Lacroix-Triki, M., Marchió, C., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2010). Breast cancer precursors revisited: Molecular features and progression pathways: Molecular evolution of breast cancer. *Histopathology*, 57(2), 171–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2559.2010.03568.x
- Lord, C. J., & Ashworth, A. (2016). BRCAness revisited. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *16*(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2015.21
- Lord, C. J., & Ashworth, A. (2017). PARP inhibitors: Synthetic lethality in the clinic. Science, 355(6330), 1152–1158. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam7344
- Lozano, R., Castro, E., Aragón, I. M., Cendón, Y., Cattrini, C., López-Casas, P. P., & Olmos, D. (2021). Genetic aberrations in DNA repair pathways: A cornerstone of precision oncology in prostate cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 124(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-020-01114-x
- Lucas, C. M., Harris, R. J., Giannoudis, A., Copland, M., Slupsky, J. R., & Clark, R. E. (2011). Cancerous inhibitor of PP2A (CIP2A) at diagnosis of chronic myeloid leukemia is a critical

determinant of disease progression. *Blood*, 117(24), 6660–6668. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-08-304477

- Lucas, C. M., Harris, R. J., Holcroft, A. K., Scott, L. J., Carmell, N., McDonald, E., Polydoros, F., & Clark, R. E. (2015). Second generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors prevent disease progression in high-risk (high CIP2A) chronic myeloid leukaemia patients. *Leukemia*, 29(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.71
- Lukow, D. A., Sausville, E. L., Suri, P., Chunduri, N. K., Wieland, A., Leu, J., Smith, J. C., Girish, V., Kumar, A. A., Kendall, J., Wang, Z., Storchova, Z., & Sheltzer, J. M. (2021). Chromosomal instability accelerates the evolution of resistance to anti-cancer therapies. *Developmental Cell*, 56(17), 2427-2439.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2021.07.009
- Lyu, J., Li, J. J., Su, J., Peng, F., Chen, Y. E., Ge, X., & Li, W. (2020). DORGE: Discovery of Oncogenes and tumoR suppressor genes using Genetic and Epigenetic features. *Science Advances*, 6(46), eaba6784. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba6784
- Maciejowski, J., & de Lange, T. (2017). Telomeres in cancer: Tumour suppression and genome instability. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 18(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.171
- Mäkelä, E., Pavic, K., Varila, T., Salmenniemi, U., Löyttyniemi, E., Nagelli, S. G., Ammunét, T., Kähäri, V.-M., Clark, R. E., Elo, L. L., Bachanaboyina, V. K., Lucas, C. M., Itälä-Remes, M., & Westermarck, J. (2021). Discovery of a Novel CIP2A Variant (NOCIVA) with Clinical Relevance in Predicting TKI Resistance in Myeloid Leukemias. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 27(10), 2848– 2860. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-3679
- Mann, M., & Jensen, O. N. (2003). Proteomic analysis of post-translational modifications. *Nature Biotechnology*, 21(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt0303-255
- Maréchal, A., & Zou, L. (2013). DNA Damage Sensing by the ATM and ATR Kinases. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 5(9), a012716. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012716
- Marra, A., Trapani, D., Viale, G., Criscitiello, C., & Curigliano, G. (2020). Practical classification of triple-negative breast cancer: Intratumoral heterogeneity, mechanisms of drug resistance, and novel therapies. *Npj Breast Cancer*, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-020-00197-2
- Marteijn, J. A., Lans, H., Vermeulen, W., & Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (2014). Understanding nucleotide excision repair and its roles in cancer and ageing. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 15(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3822
- Martínez-Jiménez, F., Muiños, F., Sentís, I., Deu-Pons, J., Reyes-Salazar, I., Arnedo-Pac, C., Mularoni, L., Pich, O., Bonet, J., Kranas, H., Gonzalez-Perez, A., & Lopez-Bigas, N. (2020). A compendium of mutational cancer driver genes. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 20(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-020-0290-x
- Mathiasen, D. P., Egebjerg, C., Andersen, S. H., Rafn, B., Puustinen, P., Khanna, A., Daugaard, M., Valo, E., Tuomela, S., Bøttzauw, T., Nielsen, C. F., Willumsen, B. M., Hautaniemi, S., Lahesmaa, R., Westermarck, J., Jäättelä, M., & Kallunki, T. (2012). Identification of a c-Jun N-terminal kinase-2-dependent signal amplification cascade that regulates c-Myc levels in ras transformation. *Oncogene*, 31(3), 390–401. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.230
- McClinch, K., Avelar, R. A., Callejas, D., Izadmehr, S., Wiredja, D., Perl, A., Sangodkar, J., Kastrinsky, D. B., Schlatzer, D., Cooper, M., Kiselar, J., Stachnik, A., Yao, S., Hoon, D., McQuaid, D., Zaware, N., Gong, Y., Brautigan, D. L., Plymate, S. R., ... Galsky, M. D. (2018). Small-Molecule Activators of Protein Phosphatase 2A for the Treatment of Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 78(8), 2065–2080. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0123
- McVey, M., & Lee, S. E. (2008). MMEJ repair of double-strand breaks (director's cut): Deleted sequences and alternative endings. *Trends in Genetics*, 24(11), 529–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.08.007
- Merisaari, J., Denisova, O. V., Doroszko, M., Le Joncour, V., Johansson, P., Leenders, W. P. J., Kastrinsky, D. B., Zaware, N., Narla, G., Laakkonen, P., Nelander, S., Ohlmeyer, M., & Westermarck, J. (2020). Monotherapy efficacy of blood-brain barrier permeable small molecule

reactivators of protein phosphatase 2A in glioblastoma. *Brain Communications*, 2(1), fcaa002. https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcaa002

- Metzger, E., Stepputtis, S. S., Strietz, J., Preca, B.-T., Urban, S., Willmann, D., Allen, A., Zenk, F., Iovino, N., Bronsert, P., Proske, A., Follo, M., Boerries, M., Stickeler, E., Xu, J., Wallace, M. B., Stafford, J. A., Kanouni, T., Maurer, J., & Schüle, R. (2017). KDM4 Inhibition Targets Breast Cancer Stem–like Cells. *Cancer Research*, 77(21), 5900–5912. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1754
- Meyers, R. M., Bryan, J. G., McFarland, J. M., Weir, B. A., Sizemore, A. E., Xu, H., Dharia, N. V., Montgomery, P. G., Cowley, G. S., Pantel, S., Goodale, A., Lee, Y., Ali, L. D., Jiang, G., Lubonja, R., Harrington, W. F., Strickland, M., Wu, T., Hawes, D. C., ... Tsherniak, A. (2017). Computational correction of copy number effect improves specificity of CRISPR-Cas9 essentiality screens in cancer cells. *Nature Genetics*, 49(12), 1779–1784. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3984
- Meyerson, M., & Pellman, D. (2011). Cancer Genomes Evolve by Pulverizing Single Chromosomes. *Cell*, 144(1), 9–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.12.025
- Milioli, H. H., Tishchenko, I., Riveros, C., Berretta, R., & Moscato, P. (2017). Basal-like breast cancer: Molecular profiles, clinical features and survival outcomes. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 10(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-017-0250-9
- Mishra, R., Haldar, S., Placencio, V., Madhav, A., Rohena-Rivera, K., Agarwal, P., Duong, F., Angara, B., Tripathi, M., Liu, Z., Gottlieb, R. A., Wagner, S., Posadas, E. M., & Bhowmick, N. A. (2018). Stromal epigenetic alterations drive metabolic and neuroendocrine prostate cancer reprogramming. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 128(10), 4472–4484. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI99397
- Mochida, S., Maslen, S. L., Skehel, M., & Hunt, T. (2010). Greatwall Phosphorylates an Inhibitor of Protein Phosphatase 2A That Is Essential for Mitosis. *Science*, 330(6011), 1670–1673. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1195689
- Monteiro, L. J., Khongkow, P., Kongsema, M., Morris, J. R., Man, C., Weekes, D., Koo, C.-Y., Gomes, A. R., Pinto, P. H., Varghese, V., Kenny, L. M., Charles Coombes, R., Freire, R., Medema, R. H., & Lam, E. W.-F. (2013). The Forkhead Box M1 protein regulates BRIP1 expression and DNA damage repair in epirubicin treatment. *Oncogene*, 32(39), 4634–4645. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.491
- Mordes, D. A., Glick, G. G., Zhao, R., & Cortez, D. (2008). TopBP1 activates ATR through ATRIP and a PIKK regulatory domain. Genes & Development, 22(11), 1478–1489. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1666208
- Morishima, K., Sakamoto, S., Kobayashi, J., Izumi, H., Suda, T., Matsumoto, Y., Tauchi, H., Ide, H., Komatsu, K., & Matsuura, S. (2007). TopBP1 associates with NBS1 and is involved in homologous recombination repair. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 362(4), 872–879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.08.086
- Moudry, P., Watanabe, K., Wolanin, K. M., Bartkova, J., Wassing, I. E., Watanabe, S., Strauss, R., Troelsgaard Pedersen, R., Oestergaard, V. H., Lisby, M., Andújar-Sánchez, M., Maya-Mendoza, A., Esashi, F., Lukas, J., & Bartek, J. (2016). TOPBP1 regulates RAD51 phosphorylation and chromatin loading and determines PARP inhibitor sensitivity. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 212(3), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201507042
- Muñoz-Espín, D., & Serrano, M. (2014). Cellular senescence: From physiology to pathology. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 15(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3823
- Murai, J., Huang, S. N., Das, B. B., Renaud, A., Zhang, Y., Doroshow, J. H., Ji, J., Takeda, S., & Pommier, Y. (2012). Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by Clinical PARP Inhibitors. *Cancer Research*, 72(21), 5588–5599. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2753
- Murthy, R. K., Loi, S., Okines, A., Paplomata, E., Hamilton, E., Hurvitz, S. A., Lin, N. U., Borges, V., Abramson, V., Anders, C., Bedard, P. L., Oliveira, M., Jakobsen, E., Bachelot, T., Shachar, S. S., Müller, V., Braga, S., Duhoux, F. P., Greil, R., ... Winer, E. P. (2020). Tucatinib, Trastuzumab, and Capecitabine for HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(7), 597–609. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1914609

- Myant, K., Qiao, X., Halonen, T., Come, C., Laine, A., Janghorban, M., Partanen, J. I., Cassidy, J., Ogg, E.-L., Cammareri, P., Laiterä, T., Okkeri, J., Klefström, J., Sears, R. C., Sansom, O. J., & Westermarck, J. (2015). Serine 62-Phosphorylated MYC Associates with Nuclear Lamins and Its Regulation by CIP2A Is Essential for Regenerative Proliferation. *Cell Reports*, 12(6), 1019–1031. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.07.003
- Nakanishi, K., Cavallo, F., Brunet, E., & Jasin, M. (2011). Homologous Recombination Assay for Interstrand Cross-Link Repair. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.j.)*, 745, 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-129-1 16
- Nam, A. S., Chaligne, R., & Landau, D. A. (2021). Integrating genetic and non-genetic determinants of cancer evolution by single-cell multi-omics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 22(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-020-0265-5
- Negrini, S., Gorgoulis, V. G., & Halazonetis, T. D. (2010). Genomic instability—An evolving hallmark of cancer. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 11(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2858
- Nejman, D., Livyatan, I., Fuks, G., Gavert, N., Zwang, Y., Geller, L. T., Rotter-Maskowitz, A., Weiser, R., Mallel, G., Gigi, E., Meltser, A., Douglas, G. M., Kamer, I., Gopalakrishnan, V., Dadosh, T., Levin-Zaidman, S., Avnet, S., Atlan, T., Cooper, Z. A., ... Straussman, R. (2020). The human tumor microbiome is composed of tumor type–specific intracellular bacteria. *Science*, 368(6494), 973–980. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay9189
- Nielsen, T. O., Hsu, F. D., Jensen, K., Cheang, M., Karaca, G., Hu, Z., Hernandez-Boussard, T., Livasy, C., Cowan, D., Dressler, L., Akslen, L. A., Ragaz, J., Gown, A. M., Gilks, C. B., van de Rijn, M., & Perou, C. M. (2004). Immunohistochemical and Clinical Characterization of the Basal-Like Subtype of Invasive Breast Carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *10*(16), 5367–5374. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0220
- Niemelä, M., Kauko, O., Sihto, H., Mpindi, J.-P., Nicorici, D., Pernilä, P., Kallioniemi, O.-P., Joensuu, H., Hautaniemi, S., & Westermarck, J. (2012). CIP2A signature reveals the MYC dependency of CIP2A-regulated phenotypes and its clinical association with breast cancer subtypes. *Oncogene*, 31(39), Article 39. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.599
- Noordermeer, S. M., Adam, S., Setiaputra, D., Barazas, M., Pettitt, S. J., Ling, A. K., Olivieri, M., Álvarez-Quilón, A., Moatti, N., Zimmermann, M., Annunziato, S., Krastev, D. B., Song, F., Brandsma, I., Frankum, J., Brough, R., Sherker, A., Landry, S., Szilard, R. K., ... Durocher, D. (2018). The shieldin complex mediates 53BP1-dependent DNA repair. *Nature*, 560(7716), Article 7716. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0340-7
- Norum, J. H., Andersen, K., & Sørlie, T. (2014). Lessons learned from the intrinsic subtypes of breast cancer in the quest for precision therapy. *British Journal of Surgery*, 101(8), 925–938. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.9562
- O'Connor, M. J. (2015). Targeting the DNA Damage Response in Cancer. *Molecular Cell*, 60(4), 547–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.10.040
- Ogris, E., Du, X., Nelson, K. C., Mak, E. K., Yu, X. X., Lane, W. S., & Pallas, D. C. (1999). A Protein Phosphatase Methylesterase (PME-1) Is One of Several Novel Proteins Stably Associating with Two Inactive Mutants of Protein Phosphatase 2A*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(20), 14382–14391. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.20.14382
- Ohta, T., Sato, K., & Wu, W. (2011). The BRCA1 ubiquitin ligase and homologous recombination repair. *FEBS Letters*, 585(18), 2836–2844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.05.005
- Olivieri, M., Cho, T., Álvarez-Quilón, A., Li, K., Schellenberg, M. J., Zimmermann, M., Hustedt, N., Rossi, S. E., Adam, S., Melo, H., Heijink, A. M., Sastre-Moreno, G., Moatti, N., Szilard, R. K., McEwan, A., Ling, A. K., Serrano-Benitez, A., Ubhi, T., Feng, S., ... Durocher, D. (2020). A Genetic Map of the Response to DNA Damage in Human Cells. *Cell*, 182(2), 481-496.e21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.040
- O'Neil, N. J., Bailey, M. L., & Hieter, P. (2017). Synthetic lethality and cancer. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 18(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2017.47

- O'Shaughnessy, J., Punie, K., Oliveira, M., Lynce, F., Tolaney, S. M., Dalenc, F., Sharma, P., Tsai, M. L., Bardia, A., Cortes, J., Danso, M. A., Henry, S., Perez, A. T., Hurvitz, S. A., Kalinsky, K., Hong, Q., Olivo, M. S., Itri, L., & Rugo, H. S. (2021). Assessment of sacituzumab govitecan (SG) versus treatment of physician's choice (TPC) cohort by agent in the phase 3 ASCENT study of patients (pts) with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (mTNBC). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *39*(15 suppl), 1077–1077. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15 suppl.1077
- Oskarsson, T., Essers, M. A. G., Dubois, N., Offner, S., Dubey, C., Roger, C., Metzger, D., Chambon, P., Hummler, E., Beard, P., & Trumpp, A. (2006). Skin epidermis lacking the c-myc gene is resistant to Ras-driven tumorigenesis but can reacquire sensitivity upon additional lossof the p21Cip1 gene. *Genes & Development*, 20(15), 2024–2029. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.381206
- Pallai, R., Bhaskar, A., Barnett-Bernodat, N., Gallo-Ebert, C., Nickels, J. T., & Rice, L. M. (2015). Cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A promotes premature chromosome segregation and aneuploidy in prostate cancer cells through association with shugoshin. *Tumour Biology: The Journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine*, 36(8), 6067– 6074. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-015-3284-7
- Pallai, R., Bhaskar, A., Sodi, V., & Rice, L. M. (2012). Ets1 and Elk1 transcription factors regulate cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A expression in cervical and endometrial carcinoma cells. *Transcription*, 3(6), 323–335. https://doi.org/10.4161/trns.22518
- Pallas, D. C., Shahrik, L. K., Martin, B. L., Jaspers, S., Miller, T. B., Brautigan, D. L., & Roberts, T. M. (1990). Polyoma small and middle T antigens and SV40 small t antigen form stable complexes with protein phosphatase 2A. *Cell*, 60(1), 167–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(90)90726-U
- Park, E. M., Chelvanambi, M., Bhutiani, N., Kroemer, G., Zitvogel, L., & Wargo, J. A. (2022). Targeting the gut and tumor microbiota in cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 28(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01779-2
- Parker, J. S., Mullins, M., Cheang, M. C. U., Leung, S., Voduc, D., Vickery, T., Davies, S., Fauron, C., He, X., Hu, Z., Quackenbush, J. F., Stijleman, I. J., Palazzo, J., Marron, J. S., Nobel, A. B., Mardis, E., Nielsen, T. O., Ellis, M. J., Perou, C. M., & Bernard, P. S. (2009). Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 27(8), 1160–1167. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.18.1370
- Parsons, D. W., Jones, S., Zhang, X., Lin, J. C.-H., Leary, R. J., Angenendt, P., Mankoo, P., Carter, H., Siu, I.-M., Gallia, G. L., Olivi, A., McLendon, R., Rasheed, B. A., Keir, S., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Busam, D. A., Tekleab, H., Diaz, L. A., ... Kinzler, K. W. (2008). An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 321(5897), 1807– 1812. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1164382
- Pearl, L. H., Schierz, A. C., Ward, S. E., Al-Lazikani, B., & Pearl, F. M. G. (2015). Therapeutic opportunities within the DNA damage response. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 15(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3891
- Pereira, B., Chin, S.-F., Rueda, O. M., Vollan, H.-K. M., Provenzano, E., Bardwell, H. A., Pugh, M., Jones, L., Russell, R., Sammut, S.-J., Tsui, D. W. Y., Liu, B., Dawson, S.-J., Abraham, J., Northen, H., Peden, J. F., Mukherjee, A., Turashvili, G., Green, A. R., ... Caldas, C. (2016). The somatic mutation profiles of 2,433 breast cancers refine their genomic and transcriptomic landscapes. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11479
- Perou, C. M., Sørlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L. A., Fluge, Ø., Pergamenschikov, A., Williams, C., Zhu, S. X., Lønning, P. E., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Brown, P. O., & Botstein, D. (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, 406(6797), 747–752. https://doi.org/10.1038/35021093
- Petermann, E. (2003). ATP-dependent selection between single nucleotide and long patch base excision repair. *DNA Repair*, 2(10), 1101–1114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1568-7864(03)00117-4
- Peuhu, E., Virtakoivu, R., Mai, A., Wärri, A., & Ivaska, J. (2017). Epithelial vimentin plays a functional role in mammary gland development. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 144(22), 4103–4113. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.154229

- Pilié, P. G., Tang, C., Mills, G. B., & Yap, T. A. (2019). State-of-the-art strategies for targeting the DNA damage response in cancer. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 16(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-018-0114-z
- Pluciennik, A., Dzantiev, L., Iyer, R. R., Constantin, N., Kadyrov, F. A., & Modrich, P. (2010). PCNA function in the activation and strand direction of MutLα endonuclease in mismatch repair. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(37), 16066– 16071. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1010662107
- Polyak, K. (2007). Breast cancer: Origins and evolution. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 117(11), 3155–3163. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI33295
- Potdar, S., Ianevski, A., Mpindi, J.-P., Bychkov, D., Fiere, C., Ianevski, P., Yadav, B., Wennerberg, K., Aittokallio, T., Kallioniemi, O., Saarela, J., & Östling, P. (2020). Breeze: An integrated quality control and data analysis application for high-throughput drug screening. *Bioinformatics*, 36(11), 3602–3604. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa138
- Prat, A., Pineda, E., Adamo, B., Galván, P., Fernández, A., Gaba, L., Díez, M., Viladot, M., Arance, A., & Muñoz, M. (2015). Clinical implications of the intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *The Breast*, 24, S26–S35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2015.07.008
- Preston, B. D., Albertson, T. M., & Herr, A. J. (2010). DNA replication fidelity and cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 20(5), 281–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2010.10.009
- Pushpakom, S., Iorio, F., Eyers, P. A., Escott, K. J., Hopper, S., Wells, A., Doig, A., Guilliams, T., Latimer, J., McNamee, C., Norris, A., Sanseau, P., Cavalla, D., & Pirmohamed, M. (2019). Drug repurposing: Progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 18(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- Puustinen, P., & Jäättelä, M. (2014). KIAA1524/CIP2A promotes cancer growth by coordinating the activities of MTORC1 and MYC. *Autophagy*, 10(7), 1352–1354. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.29076
- Puustinen, P., Rytter, A., Mortensen, M., Kohonen, P., Moreira, J. M., & Jäättelä, M. (2014). CIP2A oncoprotein controls cell growth and autophagy through mTORC1 activation. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 204(5), 713–727. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201304012
- Qiu, Z., Fa, P., Liu, T., Prasad, C. B., Ma, S., Hong, Z., Chan, E. R., Wang, H., Li, Z., He, K., Wang, Q.-E., Williams, T. M., Yan, C., Sizemore, S. T., Narla, G., & Zhang, J. (2020). A Genome-Wide Pooled shRNA Screen Identifies PPP2R2A as a Predictive Biomarker for the Response to ATR and CHK1 Inhibitors. *Cancer Research*, 80(16), 3305–3318. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-0057
- Rakha, E. A., Reis-Filho, J. S., & Ellis, I. O. (2008). Basal-like breast cancer: A critical review. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 26(15), 2568–2581.
- Rakha, E., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2009). Basal-like Breast Carcinoma: From Expression Profiling to Routine Practice. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine, 133(6), 860–868. https://doi.org/10.5858/133.6.860
- Rakha, Elsheikh, S. E., Aleskandarany, M. A., Habashi, H. O., Green, A. R., Powe, D. G., El-Sayed, M. E., Benhasouna, A., Brunet, J.-S., Akslen, L. A., Evans, A. J., Blamey, R., Reis-Filho, J. S., Foulkes, W. D., & Ellis, I. O. (2009). Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Distinguishing between Basal and Nonbasal Subtypes. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 15(7), 2302–2310. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2132
- Rangarajan, A., Hong, S. J., Gifford, A., & Weinberg, R. A. (2004). Species- and cell type-specific requirements for cellular transformation. *Cancer Cell*, 6(2), 171–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2004.07.009
- Roychoudhury, S., & Chowdhury, D. (2022). TOPBPing up DSBs with PARylation. *Molecular Cell*, 82(14), 2538–2540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2022.06.038
- Ruscetti, M., Morris, J. P., Mezzadra, R., Russell, J., Leibold, J., Romesser, P. B., Simon, J., Kulick, A., Ho, Y., Fennell, M., Li, J., Norgard, R. J., Wilkinson, J. E., Alonso-Curbelo, D., Sridharan, R., Heller, D. A., de Stanchina, E., Stanger, B. Z., Sherr, C. J., & Lowe, S. W. (2020). Senescence-

Induced Vascular Remodeling Creates Therapeutic Vulnerabilities in Pancreas Cancer. Cell, 181(2), 424-441.e21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.008

- Sabatier, R., Finetti, P., Cervera, N., Lambaudie, E., Esterni, B., Mamessier, E., Tallet, A., Chabannon, C., Extra, J.-M., Jacquemier, J., Viens, P., Birnbaum, D., & Bertucci, F. (2011). A gene expression signature identifies two prognostic subgroups of basal breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 126(2), 407–420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-010-0897-9
- Sablina, A. A., Hector, M., Colpaert, N., & Hahn, W. C. (2010). Identification of PP2A complexes and pathways involved in cell transformation. *Cancer Research*, 70(24), 10474–10484. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2855
- Sangodkar, J., Farrington, C. C., McClinch, K., Galsky, M. D., Kastrinsky, D. B., & Narla, G. (2016). All roads lead to PP2A: Exploiting the therapeutic potential of this phosphatase. *The FEBS Journal*, 283(6), 1004–1024. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.13573
- Sangodkar, J., Perl, A., Tohme, R., Kiselar, J., Kastrinsky, D. B., Zaware, N., Izadmehr, S., Mazhar, S., Wiredja, D. D., O'Connor, C. M., Hoon, D., Dhawan, N. S., Schlatzer, D., Yao, S., Leonard, D., Borczuk, A. C., Gokulrangan, G., Wang, L., Svenson, E., ... Narla, G. (2017). Activation of tumor suppressor protein PP2A inhibits KRAS-driven tumor growth. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 127(6), 2081–2090. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI89548
- Schneider, G., Schmidt-Supprian, M., Rad, R., & Saur, D. (2017). Tissue-specific tumorigenesis: Context matters. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 17(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.5
- Scorsato, V., Lima, T. B., Righetto, G. L., Zanchin, N. I. T., Brandão-Neto, J., Sandy, J., Pereira, H. D., Ferrari, Á. J. R., Gozzo, F. C., Smetana, J. H. C., & Aparicio, R. (2016). Crystal structure of the human Tip41 orthologue, TIPRL, reveals a novel fold and a binding site for the PP2Ac C-terminus. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep30813
- Scully, R., Panday, A., Elango, R., & Willis, N. A. (2019). DNA double-strand break repair-pathway choice in somatic mammalian cells. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 20(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0152-0
- Sents, W., Ivanova, E., Lambrecht, C., Haesen, D., & Janssens, V. (2013). The biogenesis of active protein phosphatase 2A holoenzymes: A tightly regulated process creating phosphatase specificity. *The FEBS Journal*, 280(2), 644–661. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08579.x
- Sents, W., Meeusen, B., Kalev, P., Radaelli, E., Sagaert, X., Miermans, E., Haesen, D., Lambrecht, C., Dewerchin, M., Carmeliet, P., Westermarck, J., Sablina, A., & Janssens, V. (2017). PP2A Inactivation Mediated by PPP2R4 Haploinsufficiency Promotes Cancer Development. *Cancer Research*, 77(24), 6825–6837. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2911
- Sepich-Poore, G. D., Zitvogel, L., Straussman, R., Hasty, J., Wargo, J. A., & Knight, R. (2021). The microbiome and human cancer. *Science*, 371(6536), eabc4552. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abc4552
- Seshacharyulu, P., Pandey, P., Datta, K., & Batra, S. K. (2013). Phosphatase: PP2A structural importance, regulation and its aberrant expression in cancer. *Cancer Letters*, 335(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.02.036
- Seyednasrollah, F., Rantanen, K., Jaakkola, P., & Elo, L. L. (2016). ROTS: Reproducible RNA-seq biomarker detector—prognostic markers for clear cell renal cell cancer. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(1), e1. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv806
- Shi, Y. (2009). Serine/Threonine Phosphatases: Mechanism through Structure. Cell, 139(3), 468–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.006
- Shiloh, Y. (2003). ATM and related protein kinases: Safeguarding genome integrity. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1011
- Shtrichman, R., Sharf, R., Barr, H., Dobner, T., & Kleinberger, T. (1999). Induction of apoptosis by adenovirus E4orf4 protein is specific to transformed cells and requires an interaction with protein phosphatase 2A. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(18), 10080–10085. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.18.10080

- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., Fuchs, H. E., & Jemal, A. (2022). Cancer statistics, 2022. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 72(1), 7–33. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21708
- Smits, V. A. J., Cabrera, E., Freire, R., & Gillespie, D. A. (2019). Claspin checkpoint adaptor and DNA replication factor. *The FEBS Journal*, 286(3), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14594
- Song, M., Vogelstein, B., Giovannucci, E. L., Willett, W. C., & Tomasetti, C. (2018). Cancer prevention: Molecular and epidemiologic consensus. *Science*, 361(6409), 1317–1318. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau3830
- Soofiyani, S. R., Hejazi, M. S., & Baradaran, B. (2017). The role of CIP2A in cancer: A review and update. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *96*, 626–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.08.146
- Sørlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., Hastie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Thorsen, T., Quist, H., Matese, J. C., Brown, P. O., Botstein, D., Lønning, P. E., & Børresen-Dale, A.-L. (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(19), 10869–10874. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.191367098
- Sørlie, T., Tibshirani, R., Parker, J., Hastie, T., Marron, J. S., Nobel, A., Deng, S., Johnsen, H., Pesich, R., Geisler, S., Demeter, J., Perou, C. M., Lønning, P. E., Brown, P. O., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., & Botstein, D. (2003). Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(14), 8418–8423. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0932692100
- Sotiriou, C., Neo, S.-Y., McShane, L. M., Korn, E. L., Long, P. M., Jazaeri, A., Martiat, P., Fox, S. B., Harris, A. L., & Liu, E. T. (2003). Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(18), 10393–10398. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1732912100
- Stephens, P. J., Greenman, C. D., Fu, B., Yang, F., Bignell, G. R., Mudie, L. J., Pleasance, E. D., Lau, K. W., Beare, D., Stebbings, L. A., McLaren, S., Lin, M.-L., McBride, D. J., Varela, I., Nik-Zainal, S., Leroy, C., Jia, M., Menzies, A., Butler, A. P., ... Campbell, P. J. (2011). Massive Genomic Rearrangement Acquired in a Single Catastrophic Event during Cancer Development. *Cell*, 144(1), 27–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.055
- Stratton, M. R., Campbell, P. J., & Futreal, P. A. (2009). The cancer genome. *Nature*, 458(7239), Article 7239. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07943
- Stucki, M., & Jackson, S. P. (2006). γH2AX and MDC1: Anchoring the DNA-damage-response machinery to broken chromosomes. DNA Repair, 5(5), 534–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2006.01.012
- Subramanian, A., Narayan, R., Corsello, S. M., Peck, D. D., Natoli, T. E., Lu, X., Gould, J., Davis, J. F., Tubelli, A. A., Asiedu, J. K., Lahr, D. L., Hirschman, J. E., Liu, Z., Donahue, M., Julian, B., Khan, M., Wadden, D., Smith, I. C., Lam, D., ... Golub, T. R. (2017). A Next Generation Connectivity Map: L1000 Platform and the First 1,000,000 Profiles. *Cell*, *171*(6), 1437-1452.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.049
- Suganuma, M., Fujiki, H., Suguri, H., Yoshizawa, S., Hirota, M., Nakayasu, M., Ojika, M., Wakamatsu, K., Yamada, K., & Sugimura, T. (1988). Okadaic acid: An additional non-phorbol-12-tetradecanoate-13-acetate-type tumor promoter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 85(6), 1768–1771. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.85.6.1768
- Sun, L., Ren, X., Wang, I.-C., Pradhan, A., Zhang, Y., Flood, H. M., Han, B., Whitsett, J. A., Kalin, T. V., & Kalinichenko, V. V. (2017). The FOXM1 inhibitor RCM-1 suppresses goblet cell metaplasia and prevents IL-13 and STAT6 signaling in allergen-exposed mice. *Science Signaling*, 10(475), eaai8583. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aai8583
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 71(3), 209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660

- Suomi, T., Seyednasrollah, F., Jaakkola, M. K., Faux, T., & Elo, L. L. (2017). ROTS: An R package for reproducibility-optimized statistical testing. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 13(5), e1005562. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005562
- Szymiczek, A., Lone, A., & Akbari, M. R. (2021). Molecular intrinsic versus clinical subtyping in breast cancer: A comprehensive review. *Clinical Genetics*, 99(5), 613–637. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.13900
- Tang, Y., Fang, G., Guo, F., Zhang, H., Chen, X., An, L., Chen, M., Zhou, L., Wang, W., Ye, T., Zhou, L., Nie, P., Yu, H., Lin, M., Zhao, Y., Lin, X., Yuan, Z., Jiao, S., & Zhou, Z. (2020). Selective Inhibition of STRN3-Containing PP2A Phosphatase Restores Hippo Tumor-Suppressor Activity in Gastric Cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 38(1), 115-128.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2020.05.019
- Thada, V., & Cortez, D. (2021). ATR activation is regulated by dimerization of ATR activating proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100455
- Thompson, P. S., & Cortez, D. (2020). New Insights into Abasic Site Repair and Tolerance. DNA Repair, 90, 102866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2020.102866
- Toft, D. J., & Cryns, V. L. (2011). Minireview: Basal-like breast cancer: from molecular profiles to targeted therapies. *Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 25(2), 199–211. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2010-0164
- Toledo, L. I., Altmeyer, M., Rask, M.-B., Lukas, C., Larsen, D. H., Povlsen, L. K., Bekker-Jensen, S., Mailand, N., Bartek, J., & Lukas, J. (2013). ATR Prohibits Replication Catastrophe by Preventing Global Exhaustion of RPA. *Cell*, 155(5), 1088–1103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.10.043
- Toledo, L., Neelsen, K. J., & Lukas, J. (2017). Replication Catastrophe: When a Checkpoint Fails because of Exhaustion. *Molecular Cell*, 66(6), 735–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.05.001
- Tomasetti, C., Li, L., & Vogelstein, B. (2017). Stem cell divisions, somatic mutations, cancer etiology, and cancer prevention. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 355(6331), 1330–1334. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf9011
- Tomasetti, C., & Vogelstein, B. (2015). Variation in cancer risk among tissues can be explained by the number of stem cell divisions. *Science*, *347*(6217), 78–81. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260825
- Torborg, S. R., Li, Z., Chan, J. E., & Tammela, T. (2022). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of plasticity in cancer. *Trends in Cancer*, 8(9), 735–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2022.04.007
- Trédan, O., Galmarini, C. M., Patel, K., & Tannock, I. F. (2007). Drug Resistance and the Solid Tumor Microenvironment. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 99(19), 1441–1454. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djm135
- Trivedi, P., Steele, C. D., Alexandrov, L. B., & Cleveland, D. W. (2022). Mitotic tethering enables en masse inheritance of a shattered micronuclear chromosome (p. 2022.09.08.507171). bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.09.08.507171
- Tubbs, A., & Nussenzweig, A. (2017). Endogenous DNA Damage as a Source of Genomic Instability in Cancer. Cell, 168(4), 644–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.002
- Turner, N., Tutt, A., & Ashworth, A. (2004). Hallmarks of "BRCAness" in sporadic cancers. Nature Reviews Cancer, 4(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1457
- Vaarala, M. H., Väisänen, M.-R., & Ristimäki, A. (2010). CIP2A expression is increased in prostate cancer. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research, 29(1), 136. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-29-136
- van Delft, J. H. M., van Agen, E., van Breda, S. G. J., Herwijnen, M. H., Staal, Y. C. M., & Kleinjans, J. C. S. (2004). Discrimination of genotoxic from non-genotoxic carcinogens by gene expression profiling. *Carcinogenesis*, 25(7), 1265–1276. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgh108
- van den Heuvel, D., van der Weegen, Y., Boer, D. E. C., Ogi, T., & Luijsterburg, M. S. (2021). Transcription-Coupled DNA Repair: From Mechanism to Human Disorder. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 31(5), 359–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2021.02.007
- van Seijen, M., Lips, E. H., Thompson, A. M., Nik-Zainal, S., Futreal, A., Hwang, E. S., Verschuur, E., Lane, J., Jonkers, J., Rea, D. W., & Wesseling, J. (2019). Ductal carcinoma in situ: To treat or not

to treat, that is the question. *British Journal of Cancer*, 121(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0478-6

- van 't Veer, L. J., Dai, H., van de Vijver, M. J., He, Y. D., Hart, A. A. M., Mao, M., Peterse, H. L., van der Kooy, K., Marton, M. J., Witteveen, A. T., Schreiber, G. J., Kerkhoven, R. M., Roberts, C., Linsley, P. S., Bernards, R., & Friend, S. H. (2002). Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. *Nature*, 415(6871), Article 6871. https://doi.org/10.1038/415530a
- Varnier, R., Sajous, C., de Talhouet, S., Smentek, C., Péron, J., You, B., Reverdy, T., & Freyer, G. (2021). Using Breast Cancer Gene Expression Signatures in Clinical Practice: Unsolved Issues, Ongoing Trials and Future Perspectives. *Cancers*, 13(19), Article 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13194840
- Ventelä, S., Côme, C., Mäkelä, J.-A., Hobbs, R. M., Mannermaa, L., Kallajoki, M., Chan, E. K., Pandolfi, P. P., Toppari, J., & Westermarck, J. (2012). CIP2A Promotes Proliferation of Spermatogonial Progenitor Cells and Spermatogenesis in Mice. *PLOS ONE*, 7(3), e33209. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033209
- Ventelä, S., Sittig, E., Mannermaa, L., Mäkelä, J.-A., Kulmala, J., Löyttyniemi, E., Strauss, L., Cárpen, O., Toppari, J., Grénman, R., & Westermarck, J. (2015). CIP2A is an Oct4 target gene involved in head and neck squamous cell cancer oncogenicity and radioresistance. *Oncotarget*, 6(1), 144–158. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.2670
- Viale, G. (2012). The current state of breast cancer classification. *Annals of Oncology*, 23, x207–x210. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mds326
- Vieira, A. F., & Schmitt, F. (2018). An Update on Breast Cancer Multigene Prognostic Tests— Emergent Clinical Biomarkers. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2018.00248
- Vogelstein, B., & Kinzler, K. W. (1993). The multistep nature of cancer. *Trends in Genetics*, 9(4), 138–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9525(93)90209-Z
- Vogelstein, B., & Kinzler, K. W. (2004). Cancer genes and the pathways they control. *Nature Medicine*, 10(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1087
- Vogelstein, B., Papadopoulos, N., Velculescu, V. E., Zhou, S., Diaz, L. A., & Kinzler, K. W. (2013). Cancer Genome Landscapes. *Science*, 339(6127), 1546–1558. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1235122
- Waks, A. G., & Winer, E. P. (2019). Breast Cancer Treatment: A Review. JAMA, 321(3), 288. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.19323
- Wallden, B., Storhoff, J., Nielsen, T., Dowidar, N., Schaper, C., Ferree, S., Liu, S., Leung, S., Geiss, G., Snider, J., Vickery, T., Davies, S. R., Mardis, E. R., Gnant, M., Sestak, I., Ellis, M. J., Perou, C. M., Bernard, P. S., & Parker, J. S. (2015). Development and verification of the PAM50-based Prosigna breast cancer gene signature assay. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 8(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-015-0129-6
- Wallis, B., Bowman, K. R., Lu, P., & Lim, C. S. (2023). The Challenges and Prospects of p53-Based Therapies in Ovarian Cancer. *Biomolecules*, 13(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13010159
- Wang, H., Choe, M. H., Lee, I.-W., Namgoong, S., Kim, J.-S., Kim, N.-H., & Oh, J. S. (2017). CIP2A acts as a scaffold for CEP192-mediated microtubule organizing center assembly by recruiting Plk1 and aurora A during meiotic maturation. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 144(20), 3829– 3839. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.158584
- Wang, J., Okkeri, J., Pavic, K., Wang, Z., Kauko, O., Halonen, T., Sarek, G., Ojala, P. M., Rao, Z., Xu, W., & Westermarck, J. (2017). Oncoprotein CIP2A is stabilized via interaction with tumor suppressor PP2A/B56. *EMBO Reports*, 18(3), 437–450. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201642788
- Wang, L., Lankhorst, L., & Bernards, R. (2022). Exploiting senescence for the treatment of cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 22(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-022-00450-9
- Wang, L., Leite de Oliveira, R., Wang, C., Fernandes Neto, J. M., Mainardi, S., Evers, B., Lieftink, C., Morris, B., Jochems, F., Willemsen, L., Beijersbergen, R. L., & Bernards, R. (2017). High-

Throughput Functional Genetic and Compound Screens Identify Targets for Senescence Induction in Cancer. *Cell Reports*, 21(3), 773–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.09.085

- Wang, X., Bajaj, R., Bollen, M., Peti, W., & Page, R. (2016). Expanding the PP2A Interactome by Defining a B56-Specific SLiM. *Structure*, 24(12), 2174–2181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2016.09.010
- Wang, X., Garvanska, D. H., Nasa, I., Ueki, Y., Zhang, G., Kettenbach, A. N., Peti, W., Nilsson, J., & Page, R. (2020). A dynamic charge-charge interaction modulates PP2A:B56 substrate recruitment. *ELife*, 9, e55966. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.55966
- Wang, Y., Xie, W., Humeau, J., Chen, G., Liu, P., Pol, J., Zhang, Z., Kepp, O., & Kroemer, G. (2020). Autophagy induction by thiostrepton improves the efficacy of immunogenic chemotherapy. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 8(1), e000462. https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2019-000462
- Wardlaw, C. P., Carr, A. M., & Oliver, A. W. (2014). TopBP1: A BRCT-scaffold protein functioning in multiple cellular pathways. *DNA Repair*, 22, 165–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2014.06.004
- Weigelt, B., Pusztai, L., Ashworth, A., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2011). Challenges translating breast cancer gene signatures into the clinic. *Nature Reviews. Clinical Oncology*, 9(1), 58–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2011.125
- Weigelt, B., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2009). Histological and molecular types of breast cancer: Is there a unifying taxonomy? *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 6(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.166
- Welcker, M., Wang, B., Rusnac, D.-V., Hussaini, Y., Swanger, J., Zheng, N., & Clurman, B. E. (2022). Two diphosphorylated degrons control c-Myc degradation by the Fbw7 tumor suppressor. *Science Advances*, 8(4), eab17872. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.ab17872
- Wellenstein, M. D., Coffelt, S. B., Duits, D. E. M., van Miltenburg, M. H., Slagter, M., de Rink, I., Henneman, L., Kas, S. M., Prekovic, S., Hau, C.-S., Vrijland, K., Drenth, A. P., de Korte-Grimmerink, R., Schut, E., van der Heijden, I., Zwart, W., Wessels, L. F. A., Schumacher, T. N., Jonkers, J., & de Visser, K. E. (2019). Loss of p53 triggers WNT-dependent systemic inflammation to drive breast cancer metastasis. *Nature*, *572*(7770), 538–542. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1450-6
- Westermarck, J., & Hahn, W. C. (2008). Multiple pathways regulated by the tumor suppressor PP2A in transformation. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 14(4), 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2008.02.001
- Westermarck, J., & Neel, B. G. (2020). Piecing Together a Broken Tumor Suppressor Phosphatase for Cancer Therapy. Cell, 181(3), 514–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.005
- Wood, L. D., Parsons, D. W., Jones, S., Lin, J., Sjöblom, T., Leary, R. J., Shen, D., Boca, S. M., Barber, T., Ptak, J., Silliman, N., Szabo, S., Dezso, Z., Ustyanksky, V., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Karchin, R., Wilson, P. A., Kaminker, J. S., ... Vogelstein, B. (2007). The Genomic Landscapes of Human Breast and Colorectal Cancers. *Science*, *318*(5853), 1108–1113. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1145720
- Wu, S., Powers, S., Zhu, W., & Hannun, Y. A. (2016). Substantial contribution of extrinsic risk factors to cancer development. *Nature*, 529(7584), Article 7584. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16166
- Wyatt, D. W., Feng, W., Conlin, M. P., Yousefzadeh, M. J., Roberts, S. A., Mieczkowski, P., Wood, R. D., Gupta, G. P., & Ramsden, D. A. (2016). Essential Roles for Polymerase θ-Mediated End Joining in the Repair of Chromosome Breaks. *Molecular Cell*, 63(4), 662–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.06.020
- Xing, Y., Li, Z., Chen, Y., Stock, J. B., Jeffrey, P. D., & Shi, Y. (2008). Structural Mechanism of Demethylation and Inactivation of Protein Phosphatase 2A. Cell, 133(1), 154–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.041
- Yamane, K., Kawabata, M., & Tsuruo, T. (1997). A DNA-topoisomerase-II-binding protein with eight repeating regions similar to DNA-repair enzymes and to a cell-cycle regulator. *European Journal* of Biochemistry, 250(3), 794–799. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.00794.x

- Yang, S. I., Lickteig, R. L., Estes, R., Rundell, K., Walter, G., & Mumby, M. C. (1991). Control of protein phosphatase 2A by simian virus 40 small-t antigen. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 11(4), 1988–1995. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.11.4.1988-1995.1991
- Yao, Y., & Dai, W. (2014). Genomic Instability and Cancer. Journal of Carcinogenesis & Mutagenesis, 5, 1000165. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-2518.1000165
- Yin, L., Duan, J.-J., Bian, X.-W., & Yu, S. (2020). Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. *Breast Cancer Research*, 22(1), 61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-020-01296-5
- Yoder, B. J., Wilkinson, E. J., & Massoll, N. A. (2007). Molecular and Morphologic Distinctions between Infiltrating Ductal and Lobular Carcinoma of the Breast. *The Breast Journal*, 13(2), 172– 179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-4741.2007.00393.x
- Yoo, H. Y., Kumagai, A., Shevchenko, A., Shevchenko, A., & Dunphy, W. G. (2007). Ataxiatelangiectasia mutated (ATM)-dependent activation of ATR occurs through phosphorylation of TopBP1 by ATM. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(24), 17501–17506. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M701770200
- Yoo, H. Y., Kumagai, A., Shevchenko, A., Shevchenko, A., & Dunphy, W. G. (2009). The Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 Complex Mediates Activation of TopBP1 by ATM. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 20(9), 2351–2360. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e08-12-1190
- Yuan, J., Adamski, R., & Chen, J. (2010). Focus on histone variant H2AX: To be or not to be. FEBS Letters, 584(17), 3717–3724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.05.021
- Yuan, S., Norgard, R. J., & Stanger, B. Z. (2019). Cellular Plasticity in Cancer. *Cancer Discovery*, 9(7), 837–851. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0015
- Zardavas, D., Irrthum, A., Swanton, C., & Piccart, M. (2015). Clinical management of breast cancer heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 12(7), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.73
- Zaykin, D. V. (2011). Optimally weighted Z-test is a powerful method for combining probabilities in meta-analysis. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 24(8), 1836–1841. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2011.02297.x
- Zhang, N., Wu, X., Yang, L., Xiao, F., Zhang, H., Zhou, A., Huang, Z., & Huang, S. (2012). FoxM1 Inhibition Sensitizes Resistant Glioblastoma Cells to Temozolomide by Downregulating the Expression of DNA-Repair Gene Rad51. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 18(21), 5961–5971. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0039
- Zhao, J., Tian, S., Guo, Q., Bao, K., Yu, G., Wang, X., Shen, X., Zhang, J., Chen, J., Yang, Y., Liu, L., Li, X., Hao, J., Yang, N., Liu, Z., Ai, D., Yang, J., Zhu, Y., Yao, Z., ... Shi, L. (2022). A PARylation-phosphorylation cascade promotes TOPBP1 loading and RPA-RAD51 exchange in homologous recombination. *Molecular Cell*, 82(14), 2571-2587.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2022.04.031
- Zheng, X.-F., Kalev, P., & Chowdhury, D. (2015). Emerging role of protein phosphatases changes the landscape of phospho-signaling in DNA damage response. DNA Repair, 32, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2015.04.014
- Zou, L., & Elledge, S. J. (2003). Sensing DNA Damage Through ATRIP Recognition of RPA-ssDNA Complexes. Science, 300(5625), 1542–1548. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1083430



TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU

ISBN 978-951-29-9211-9 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-9212-6 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (Print) ISSN 2343-3213 (Online)